
 
 
 
 
 
 

27 January 2004 
 
To: Chairman – Councillor Mrs JM Healey 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor JH Stewart 
 All Members of the Development and Conservation Control Committee  
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION 
CONTROL COMMITTEE, which will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER at South 
Cambridgeshire Hall on WEDNESDAY, 4 FEBRUARY 2004 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
GJ HARLOCK 
Finance and Resources Director 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Members should declare any interests immediately prior to the relevant item on the agenda.  
Should Members wish to declare an interest in an item discussed after they have left the 

meeting, and wish also that that declaration be recorded in the Minutes, they should make their 
declarations clear to the Committee.  (Members need only declare an interest in circumstances 

where there is an item on the agenda that may cause a conflict of interest.) 
 

 PAGES 
 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Apologies    
 
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting   1 - 8 
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held 

on 7th January 2004 as a correct record.  
 

   
 OPERATIONAL ITEMS   
 
3. Refuse Collection Service - Refuse Design Guide   9 - 16 
 
4. Planning Applications and Associated Matters    
 
4 (a) Index and Planning Applications  17 - 98 
  
4 (b) Appeals Against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action  99 - 106 
  
4 (c) Applications Over 13 Weeks Awaiting Decisions (incl. Week 42)  107 - 118 
  
4 (d) Planning Appeal Statistics  119 - 122 
  

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB3 6EA 

t: 08450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



4 (e) Performance Criteria  123 - 124 
  
4 (f) Graphical Data  125 - 136 
  
5. Cambourne Issues    
 
5 (a) Section 106 Legal Agreement - Facilities and Timing of Provision  137 - 140 
  
5 (b) Review of the Design and Environment Group (DEG)  141 - 144 
  
6. Tree Preservation Orders   145 - 148 
 To consider whether or not to confirm Orders in Girton, 

Bassingbourn and Willingham  
 

   
PLEASE NOTE 

 
Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and 
representation may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the 

decision making process. Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the 
consultation periods after taking into account all material representations made within the full 

consultation period. The final decisions may be delegated to the Planning Director. 



DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting held on Wednesday, 7 January 2004 at 10.00 a.m.. 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor Mrs JM Healey– Chairman 
  Councillor RGR Smith – Acting Vice-Chairman 

 
Councillors Dr DR Bard CC Barker 
 RE Barrett JD Batchelor 
 RF Bryant R Driver 
 G Elsbury R Hall 
 Mrs SA Hatton SGM Kindersley 
 Mrs JA Muncey Mrs CAED Murfitt 
 JA Nicholas CR Nightingale 
 Dr JPR Orme JA Quinlan 
 Mrs DP Roberts NJ Scarr 
 Mrs DSK Spink MBE RJ Turner 
 LJ Wilson AW Wyatt MBE 

 
Councillors RF Collinson, TJ Flanagan, Dr SA Harangozo, PL Stroude and Mrs LM Sutherland 
attended the meeting by invitation. 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors CJ Gravatt and JH Stewart. 

 
1. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
 The Committee authorised the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Minutes of the 

meeting held on 3rd December 2003 copies of which had been made available 
electronically.  

  
2. LIMITED LIABILITY (INFRASTRUCTURE) PARTNERSHIP 
  
 The Planning Policy Manager gave a PowerPoint presentation on the Infrastructure 

Partnership for the Cambridge Sub-Region. 
 
The presentation addressed the following issues: 
 
• Implementation challenges 
• Vision for the Cambridge Sub-Region 
• Housing completions 1991-2002 (actual against target) 
• Infrastructure costs 
• Interim Partnership arrangements 
• Need for a ‘delivery vehicle’ 
• Sub-regional approach 
• Growth Area Funding 
• SmartLIFE 
• Partnership Structure 
• Potential Board membership 
• Next steps 
 
The Planning Policy Manager explained that the Infrastructure Partnership had been 
established at the behest of central Government, but that it fell short of being a 
Development Corporation.  Its overriding purpose was to help local authorities in the 
Cambridge Sub-Region meet the challenges posed by the high level of development 
planned for the area up to the year 2016. 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

 
In reply to concern that the Partnership would result in South Cambridgeshire District 
Council losing some of its planning powers, the Planning Policy Manager assured the 
Committee that the Council would play a pivotal role in co-ordinating such activities as 
ensuring that infrastructure was targeted at those areas where it was most needed.  The 
Partnership would greatly assist the Council by enhancing the effectiveness of project 
planning, and by identifying, and sourcing, available funding.  The Leader of Council 
confirmed that South Cambridgeshire District Council would remain the local planning 
authority for South Cambridgeshire. 
 
In reply to concern that South Cambridgeshire District Council would be under-
represented on the Board (given the projected level of development in the District 
compared to some other local authority areas within the Sub-Region), the Leader of 
Council explained that local authority representation on the Board had been determined by 
central Government. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Planning Policy Manager for his presentation, and concluded 
by acknowledging that the Infrastructure Partnership would prove invaluable in helping to 
deliver the County Council’s Structure Plan efficiently and effectively.  

  
3. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
  
 The Committee RESOLVED that the following applications be determined as 

recommended in the report of the Planning Director, or otherwise as stated below, and 
that, in all cases, the Planning Director be given delegated authority to finalise details of 
Conditions and reasons for refusal consistent with such determinations. 
 
(1) S/2205/03/O - OAKINGTON 
Erection of dwelling and carports on land adjacent to, and to the rear of, 27 Water Lane for 
the Executors of L W Wilson 
APPROVED, as amended by drawing 001A date-stamped 4th December 2003, subject to 
the Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the Director of Development Services. 
 
(2) S/2233/03/F - SHUDY CAMPS 
Dwelling adjacent to Street Farmhouse, Main Street for Mr and Mrs Luckies 
DELEGATED APPROVAL/REFUSAL, subject to satisfactory amended plans being 
received showing revisions to the design and siting of the dwelling and addressing the 
issue of flood risk. 
 
(3) S/1895/03/O - COMBERTON 
Erection of six houses and four flats on land off Milner Road, for Mrs M Morgan 
DELEGATED APPROVAL, as amended by the tree survey and site layout plan date-
stamped 19th November 2003 and by the revised site plan, subject to the prior completion 
of a Section 106 Legal Agreement securing the provision of affordable housing and an 
education contribution, and to the Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the 
Director of Development Services.  Members requested officers to consider attaching an 
additional Condition regarding foul water drainage (should this be requested by Anglian 
Water) and to explore with Cambridgeshire County Council the feasibility of upgrading the 
footpath to the east of the site to a cycleway. 
(Mrs Dorothy Morison, Chairman of the Planning Committee of Comberton Parish Council, 
addressed the meeting.) 
 
(4) S/2181/03/F - COMBERTON 
Extension and boundary fence at 7 Barton Road, Comberton for Mr and Mrs Munns 
DELEGATED APPROVAL, in line with the amended recommendation contained in the 

Page 2



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

report prepared by the Director of Development Services, subject to the Conditions 
referred to therein and to consideration of an additional Condition relating to landscaping 
in view of the impact of the fence on Hines Lane. 
(Mrs Dorothy Morison, Chairman of the Planning Committee of Comberton Parish Council, 
addressed the meeting.) 
 
(5) S/2229/03/F - RAMPTON 
Siting of eight caravans for gypsy families (eight pitches) Primrose Meadow, OSP 9586, 
Cow Lane for H Price 
REFUSED, as recommended verbally by the Deputy Director of Development Services, 
because the application conflicted with Policies P1/2 and P5/4 of the Structure Plan, and 
Policy HG/29 of Local Plan No. 2.  The Deputy Director of Development Services reported 
that the Police had concluded that there was no evidence that the applicant and his family 
had been intimidated, and that there were no other law and order issues that needed to be 
addressed.  The local Head Teacher had expressed the view that there was no evidence 
that the applicant’s children had been bullied at school.  At its meeting on 23rd December 
2003, the Panel established by the Travellers Consultative Group had considered all the 
available information, and accepted these assertions.  The Committee expressed its 
gratitude to those officers who had been instrumental in dealing with the complex issues 
involved in this case. 
 
(6) S/0827/03/F - DUXFORD 
Erection of 12 dwellings following demolition of three dwellings (numbers 13, 15 and 23 
Hunts Road) – land at Hunts Road for Nene Housing Society 
APPROVAL, subject to no objections being received from the Council’s Trees and 
Landscape Officer, and to the prior completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement ensuring 
that the housing is only occupied by qualifying persons and secured in perpetuity for that 
purpose, to the Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the Director of 
Development Services, and to an additional Condition relating to surface water drainage. 
 
(7) S/2203/03/F - DUXFORD 
House at 9 Grange Road and land adjoining for T Mendham 
REFUSED for the reason set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 
RESOLVED to issue an Enforcement Notice requiring the number and position of dormer 
windows on the front elevation of the dwelling to accord with the scheme approved under 
Planning Reference S/2385/02/F with a one month compliance period. 
 
(8) S/2110/03/LB AND S/2111/03/F - GAMLINGAY 
Dismantling of existing front boundary wall and rebuilding with new coping, railings, 
matching front entrance gate and replacement of vehicular gates with framed, ledged and 
braced timber gates.  Charnock House, 30 Church Street, for Mr P Haith. 
DELEGATED APPROVAL, as amended by letter dated 14th November 2003 and the 
enclosed drawing, date-stamped 4th December 2003, subject to the applicant agreeing  
(a) to keep the finials simple 
(b) to use a style of bricks acceptable to the Local Planning Authority, but not new 

stock 
(c) to ensure that the gates and railings match each other in appearance and to the 

Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 

 
(9) S/2276/03/F - GAMLINGAY 
Extensions, 1 Honey Hill for Mr and Mrs Vanstone 
DELEGATED APPROVAL/REFUSAL, subject to the applicants agreeing to modifications 
required by the Local Planning Authority in respect of the form of the structure and to the 

Page 3



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

width and height of the roof and eaves. 
 
(10) S/1614/03/F - GREAT SHELFORD 
Erection of 13 dwellings and garages following demolition of existing buildings - Tunwells 
Close, Tunwells Lane for Hubert C Leach Ltd 
DELEGATED APPROVAL, as amended by drawings date stamped 14th November 2003 
and landscaping/tree protection plan date stamped 27th November 2003, subject to  
• the receipt of street scene elevations for Plot 10  
• amended plans to delete the wall at the rear of Plot 8  
• the Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the Director of Development 

Services, with Condition 10 being revised so as to include the words “…other 
than…” between the words “…period…” and “…between…” 

 
(11) S/1559/03/F - HISTON 
Erection of 57 dwellings (including 17 Affordable dwellings) on land off Chivers Way 
(Accessed Off Kay Hitch Way), for Taylor Woodrow Development Ltd 
REFUSED unanimously for the reasons outlined in the report dated 10th November 2003 
from Atkins Highways and Transportation 
(Mr Mike Mason, a member of Histon Parish Council, addressed the meeting.) 
 
(12) S/2180/03/F - IMPINGTON 
Extension at no. 4 Villa Road for Mr and Mrs A. Duncan 
REFUSED for the reasons set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 
 
(13) S/2231/03/F - LONGSTANTON 
Extension, 76 Rampton Drift for Mr and Mrs Tommaso 
REFUSED for the reason set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 
 
(14) S/1848/03/F - KINGSTON 
Erection of building for office and garage/store at Gamekeepers Cottage, Kingston Wood 
Manor for Mr and Mrs T Evans 
REFUSED for the reasons set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 
 
(15) S/2147/03/F - LITTLE EVERSDEN 
Conversion of silos into dwelling, silos on land at Church Farm for Thos Banks & Partners 
REFUSED for the reasons set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services. 
 
(16) S/2025/03/O - GRAVELEY 
Agricultural dwelling, Cottage Farm, Papworth Road for R Billings 
The Committee noted that this application had been WITHDRAWN. 
 
(17) S/2258/03/F - SAWSTON 
House and two garages on land to the rear of 50 and 52 London Road for N Facer 
APPROVAL, as amended by plans date stamped 18th December 2003 (not 1st and 12th 
December 2003 as stated in the report), subject to the Conditions referred to in the report 
prepared by the Director of Development Services. 
 
(18) S/2141/03/F - TEVERSHAM 
Erection of outbuilding providing swimming pool, changing rooms and ancillary facilities for 
private use, 2B Church Road, Teversham for Mr and Mrs A Willis 
REFUSED for the reasons set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 

Page 4



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

Services. 
(Councillor Mrs DP Roberts declared a personal interest in this item, and withdrew from 
the Council Chamber.) 
 
(19) S/2161/03/F - GUILDEN MORDEN 
Variation of Condition 2 of planning permission S/0994/02/F to retain the stables on a 
permanent basis, Cold Harbour Farm, for Ms H Flint 
APPROVAL, subject to the Conditions referred to in the report prepared by the Director of 
Development Services. 
 
(20) S/1215/03/F - LITTLE WILBRAHAM 
Erection of seven houses (including two Affordable units), Rectory Farm site, Rectory 
Farm Road for R and H Wale Ltd 
REFUSED, contrary to the recommendation contained in the report prepared by the 
Director of Development Services.  Members took the view that there was a need for 50% 
Affordable Housing (three units) on this site, that there should be one entrance only, that 
some redesign and/or siting of the units was necessary, and that the two clunch barns 
should be retained in order to achieve a satisfactory form of development. 
(Mr M Crisp, Chairman of Little Wilbraham Parish Council, addressed the meeting.  
Councillor RJ Turner declared a prejudicial Interest in this item, and withdrew from the 
Chamber.) 
 
(21) S/2241/03/F - WILLINGHAM 
Two dwellings (revised design), Plots 26 and 30, land to the west of High Street for Bovis 
Homes Ltd 
REFUSED for the reasons set out in the report prepared by the Director of Development 
Services.  

  
4. UPDATE ON APPEALS AGAINST PLANNING DECISIONS AND ENFORCEMENT 

ACTION 
  
 The Committee noted the following from the Planning Director's report. 

 
• Decisions notified by the Secretary of State 
• Summaries of recent decisions of interest 
 

In connection with 307 Huntingdon Road, Cambridge, the Deputy Director of 
Development Services informed Members that the Secretary of State’s decision to 
approve the application was now being challenged by a third party.  Some 
Members regretted that the Council had not sought itself to challenge the decision.  
The Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic Development observed that the 
overriding issue was not whether or not the purpose behind the application was in 
the national interest or not, but whether or not the laboratory was being proposed 
in the most suitable location. 

 
• Appeals received 
• Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled before the next meeting of the 

Committee on 4TH February 2004 
• Appeals withdrawn or postponed 
• Advance notification of future local inquiry and Informal Hearing dates (subject to 

postponement or cancellation)  
  
5. ENFORCEMENT ACTION PROGRESS REPORT 
  
 Mr David Brock, Solicitor with Messrs Mills and Reeve (Solicitors), summarised the steps 

Page 5



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

taken by his Firm, on behalf of the Council, between Christmas 2003 and 5th January 
2004 to issue and partially serve an injunction on certain named and unnamed persons on 
an unlawful Travellers encampment at Histon. 
 
Mr Brock confirmed that 
 
• the Injunction obtained at Histon was an interim measure, subject to a full Hearing 

in due course.  Those subject to the interim Injunction could apply for a Stay, or for 
discharge of it. 

• there was a hierarchy of land where Injunctions were appropriate.  It was 
necessary to balance the degree of environmental harm with the inconvenience 
caused to, and the status of, those in breach of planning law.  The qualitative 
nature of the land in question was just one of many factors that had to be taken 
into account. 

• the matter would remain with the High Court in London, and would not be 
transferred to the District Registry in Cambridge. 

• the Injunction had been issued, and was therefore in force.  It would take effect 
once it had been duly served on all those affected by it. 

 
The Committee NOTED an Index of current Enforcement Cases and a report, dated 7th 
January 2004, detailing progress being made with Enforcement Action.   A number of 
issues raised by Members were clarified by officers. 
 
On behalf of those present, the Chairman expressed her gratitude for the work undertaken 
by Mr Brock on behalf of South Cambridgeshire District Council, and for the involvement 
of Council officers, particularly over the Christmas and New Year break.  

  
6. PROPOSALS TO REFORM PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
  
 The Committee considered a report on the Consultation document entitled Contributing to 

Sustainable communities – a new approach to Planning Obligations: a consultation on 
proposals to reform Planning Obligations, published by the Office of the Deputy Prime 
Minister in November 2003. 
 
The Development Control Quality Manager highlighted the Officer comments contained in 
paragraphs 11 to 15 of the report prepared by the Director of Development Services, and 
summarised representations made to the ODPM by the Limited Liability (Infrastructure) 
Partnership. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the comments contained in paragraphs 11 to 15 inclusive of the 

report prepared by the Director of Development Services be 
endorsed and forwarded to the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, 
and that the ODPM be informed also that, as a member of the 
Limited Liability (Infrastructure) Partnership for Cambridgeshire, 
South Cambridgeshire District Council fully supported the 
representations made by that organisation.  

  
7. REFUSE COLLECTION SERVICE - REFUSE DESIGN GUIDE 
  
 The Committee received a draft document entitled South Cambridgeshire District Council: 

Planning Design Guide for the storage of solid waste in new developments. 
 
However, due to the complexities involved, and the late stage of the meeting at which this 
point of the agenda had been reached, Councillor SGM Kindersley proposed that 
consideration of the issues be deferred until the Committee meeting on 4th February 

Page 6



Development and Conservation Control Committee Wednesday, 7 January 2004 

2004. 
 
Councillor Kindersley also requested that parish councils be consulted about the Design 
Guide.  The Development Control Quality Manager pointed out that, in order to give parish 
councils sufficient time to consider, and respond to, the Design Guide, it would be 
necessary to defer consideration by the Development and Conservation Control 
Committee until its meeting on 3rd March.  This would enable officers properly to collate 
and report to Members comments received from parish councils.  Councillor CC Barker, 
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Health, stated that it was imperative that the issues be 
discussed at the earliest opportunity so that developers could be given guidance on the 
refuse factors they needed to take into account when building new dwellings.  He urged, 
therefore, deferral of no longer than one month.  It was agreed that individual Members of 
Council should decide for themselves whether or not to consult their local parish councils 
over the Design Guide. 
 
It was RESOLVED that consideration of the document entitled South Cambridgeshire 

District Council: Planning Design Guide for the storage of solid 
waste in new developments, together with the covering report from 
the Director of Development Services, be deferred until the meeting 
of Development and Conservation Control Committee to be held on 
4th February 2004.  

  
8. CAMBOURNE SECTION 106 LEGAL AGREEMENT - FACILITIES AND TIMING OF 

PROVISION 
  
 The Committee considered a report on the lack of provision of certain facilities required to 

be provided at Cambourne as a result of the Section 106 Agreement dated 20th April 
1994. 
 
Members noted that the Scrutiny Committee had agreed that the Council’s stance should 
be that no further permissions for market housing should be granted at Cambourne until 
the Community Centre, Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) and Burial ground had been 
provided. 
 
The New Village/Special Projects Officer (Cambourne) summarised comments received 
from the Project Director representing the developers of Cambourne on progress being 
made in providing those facilities that had not been provided to date. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the Council’s approach, outlined in the report from the Director 

of Development Services, be endorsed, and that a further progress 
report be presented to Members at the meeting of the Development 
and Conservation Control Committee to be held on 4th February 
2004.  

  
  

The Meeting ended at 6.03 p.m. 
 

 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
  

REPORT TO: Development and Conservation 
Control Committee 

4th February 2004 

   
AUTHOR/S: Development Services Director 

___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

REFUSE COLLECTION SERVICE – REFUSE DESIGN GUIDE 
  

Purpose 
 
1. To submit the draft “Refuse Design Guide” to members of this Committee for comments prior to 

approval and adoption.  The Refuse Design Guide has also been submitted to the Waste Management 
Advisory Group on 12th December for comments by the Chief Environmental Health Officer (see 
below). 

 
 Effect on Corporate Objectives 
 
2. Implementation of the proposed design guide should minimise the visual impact of wheeled bins and 

therefore contribute to environmental quality in the villages. 
 
3. The draft guide will assist the implementation of the integrated refuse and recycling service. 
  
 Background 
 
4. The new Wheeled Bin Refuse and Recycling Service commenced on Monday 8th September 2003.  The 

last village will have its first wheeled bin collection on Friday 5th December 2003. 
 
 Considerations 
 
5. It was considered that, as the new alternate weekly scheme was much more complex than the old 

weekly sack based collection system and to ensure that the layout of residential developments 
minimised the visual impact of wheeled bins, guidance regarding refuse collection and storage needed 
to be given to planners and developers of new housing developments. 

 
6. Many new developments will be at much higher densities than those already completed.  This brings its 

own pressures on space within such developments.  It is important, therefore, to safeguard the 
necessary space for refuse storage and collection. 

 
7. The Draft Design Guide is Appendix A of this report. 
 
8. The Draft Guide seeks to set out requirements in respect of: 

 
a) The Council’s Refuse Collection Method 
b) The Means of Storage of refuse awaiting collection 
c) The Siting and Design of refuse storage areas 
d) Access for refuse collection vehicles 

 
9. The draft guide has been prepared by the Chief Environmental Health Officer in close consultation 

with the Building Control Manager and Development Control Quality Manager. 
 
10. It is intended that site developers will be given this guide at the earliest stage in any development so 

that they can take the necessary actions to ensure that the guidance it gives can be incorporated at an 
early stage. 

  
Consultation 

 

Agenda Item 3Page 9



11. All the major housing developers and housing associations with interests in the Cambridge area were 
sent a copy of the draft guide and asked for their views.  Only one response was received which did not 
materially alter the draft.  Its contents have also been discussed with the portfolio holders for 
Environmental Health and Planning and Economic Development. 

 
12. The Waste Management Advisory Group has commended the draft guide with one adjustment to be 

made to bring to the attention of developers that collection points should be provided to minimise the 
need for bins to be put on footways. 
 
Financial, Staffing and Legal Implications 

 
13. The adoption of this guide and its issue to developers should safeguard the Council’s chosen method of 

refuse collection and ensure that the service operates at an optimum cost. 
 
14. There are no financial implications for the Developments Services Department. 
 
15. Staff will need to be aware of the requirements of the guide and involve officers of the Commercial 

Services Department in the consultation process on relevant applications. 
 
16. The legal implications and statutory requirements of the Building Regulations and Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 are incorporated in the draft guide. 
 
 Recommendations 
 
17. It is recommended that the Committee recommends to the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic 

Development: 
 
a) That the Refuse Design Guide is adopted by the Council; and 
 
b) That it is made available to any potential developer at the earliest possible stage in any 

development. 
 

 
Background Papers:  None 
 
 
Contact Officer: David Rush, Development Control Quality Manager 

Page 10



 

APPENDIX A 
 

South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Planning Design Guide for the Storage of Solid Waste in New Developments 
 
 
1 Introduction 
 
The purpose of this Guide is to ensure that all new developments, both domestic and 
commercial, incorporate sufficient space and arrangements for the storage and collection of the 
waste taking into account the refuse and recycling collection methods of the Council. 
 
The Guide should provide all developers, SCDC and all other interested parties concerned with 
the approval of designs for development with guidance for the provision of refuse storage 
arrangements.  
 
All new development must meet the requirements of the Building Regulations.  Part H6 of the 
Regulations (Solid Waste Storage) require: 
 
(1) Adequate means of storing solid waste shall be provided. 

 
(2) Adequate means of access should be provided –  
 

(a) For people in the building to the place of storage, and 
(b) From the place of storage to a collection point by the waste collection authority. 

 
Considerations regarding the storage of solid waste have tended to be overlooked in new 
development.  However, satisfactory provision for such storage should form part of good 
practice in the design of new developments.  It is important that this is not overlooked in the 
planning process. 
 
The Building Regulations require certain measures to be taken.  However, waste storage needs to 
be considered at the pre-planning stage and incorporated at an early stage to ensure design 
changes are not needed in the later stages of the planning process. 
 
The other main piece of legislation regarding refuse collection is the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.  This Act place various duties on local authorities –  
 
(1) Under Section 45 (Collection of Controlled Waste) local authorities have a general duty 

to collect household waste within their area without charge. 
 
(2) Under Section 46 (Receptacles for household waste) a local authority may require –  
 

(a) waste of certain types to be stored separately so that it can be recycled 

Page 11



 

(b) occupiers of dwellings to provide containers of a specified type for the storage of 
waste 

(c) additional containers to be provided for the separate storage of recyclable waste 
(d) locations where containers should be placed for emptying 

 
(3) Also under Section 45 local authorities have a duty to collect commercial waste where 

requested and may charge for this service. 
 
2 Refuse Collection Method 
 
The Council has adopted a wheeled bin refuse and recycling collection scheme for all existing 
domestic dwellings together with a box for dry recyclables.  Each domestic dwelling has – 
 
(a) One 240 litre green wheeled bin for organic waste (green garden, kitchen waste and 

cardboard) 
(b) One 240 litre black wheeled bin for residual waste (any waste that cannot be recycled, or 

for which a collection system is not provided) 
(c) One 55 litre green box for dry recyclables. As at April 2003 these are – 
 

(i) paper 
(ii) glass 
(iii) mixed cans 
(iv) textiles 

 
NOTE: It is likely that as more legislation comes into force that make recycling targets more 
stringent that other elements of the waste stream will also have to be collected separately.  
Householders will have to make provision to separate these elements for collection. 
 
The green and black wheeled bins are collected on an alternate weekly basis.  The green box is 
collected on the same day as the green wheeled bin. 
 
Some larger dwellings may have two black wheeled bins for their residual waste and all 
householders have the option to purchase an additional green wheeled bin. 
 
3 Domestic Developments 
 
This Guidance Note relates to all new domestic development and includes extensions to existing 
buildings in order to ensure that the arrangements for the storage and collection of refuse from 
such extended buildings are improved where possible. 
 
The proposals for such storage should be incorporated into the design stage of any development 
at the earliest opportunity and discussed with the Council’s Planning Officers at the pre-
application stage. 
 
A Capacity 
 
(1) Individual dwellings  

Page 12



 

 
Space shall be provided for two 240 litre wheeled bins and one 55 litre box.  An area of 1.2 
metres square (1.5 square metres) should be sufficient to provide storage for these containers and 
provide space for access by the householder. 
 
(2) Low Rise Developments 
 
In low rise domestic developments (up to 4 floors) any dwelling should have, or have access to, a 
location where one or more moveable, individual or communal waste container can be stored. 
 
The number of communal containers, usually 1100 litre wheeled bins, which will be required 
needs to be assessed taking into account several factors.  Each dwelling should have a capacity in 
accordance with the following table –  
 
Size of dwelling (all 
habitable rooms) 

Capacity for 
residual waste 

(litres) 

Capacity for 
green waste 

(dwellings with 
gardens) 
(litres) 

Capacity for 
green waste 
(dwellings 

without gardens) 
(litres) 

Capacity for 
dry 

recyclables 
(litres) 

Single room units 175 100 30 25 
Two room units 200 110 40 40 
Three room units 240 130 50 55 
Four room units 300 160 60 70 
Five or more room units 350 200 70 85 
 
The capacities shown in the table are based on alternate weekly collections and are for low rise 
communal dwellings only. 
 
Each dwelling where communal bins are provided for green and residual waste shall also have 
space provided for the storage of one box for dry recyclables. 
 
B Siting and Design 
 
(1) General 
 
Any storage area for containers shall be sited so that the distance householders are required to 
carry refuse to the storage area does not exceed 30 metres (excluding any vertical distances). 
 
External storage areas should be away from windows and ventilators and preferably be in a 
shaded place.  Such areas should not interfere with pedestrian or vehicular access to buildings. 
 
Where an enclosed area or storage room is provided sufficient additional space should be 
provided around the containers for moving in and out and for filling and cleaning.  Enclosures 
should be at least 2m high and be permanently ventilated at the top and bottom and have a paved 
impervious floor with no step to the paved surface giving access to the waste collection point or 
the refuse collection vehicle.  
 

Page 13



 

 
(2) Individual Dwellings 
 
The storage area for containers up to 240 litres should be within 30 metres of the waste 
collection point (normally the edge of the curtilage of the property nearest the point of access by 
a refuse collection vehicle, or at the end of a shared drive) and accessible across a paved 
impervious surface at least 1.0 metres in width. The Council may specify the waste collection 
point for each dwelling, or group of dwellings.  Such waste collection points should be as close 
as possible to the nearest place the refuse collection vehicle (26 tonne) can gain access and 
should not exceed 20 metres. 
 
Storage areas for wheeled bins should be sited so that they can be taken to the waste collection 
point without having to be taken through a building, unless it is a porch, garage or carport or 
other covered open space.  There should be no more than 4 steps of a maximum of 150 mm 
between the storage area and the waste collection point.  There should be no steps between the 
waste collection point and the refuse collection vehicle (except one normal kerb).  Any slope 
along which a wheeled bin has to be manoeuvred should not exceed 1:12.  This slope may be 
exceeded over short distances. 
 
The storage areas for containers up to 240 litres should be sited, wherever possible, in the rear 
garden.  If this is not possible, for example in terraced properties with no access from the rear 
garden to the waste collection point then a suitable storage area at the front of the property will 
need to be provided.  Since such areas will usually be publicly accessible, an enclosure or 
shelter, or other suitable screen should be provided, this need not necessarily be roofed. In cases 
of terraced houses abutting the street, the enclosure should either be incorporated into the design 
of the house or vehicular access should be available to enclosures at the rear of the house. 
 
(3) Communal Storage Areas 
 
The storage area for containers up to 1100 litres should be within 10 metres of the nearest place 
the refuse collection vehicle can gain access.  Any path between the storage area and the refuse 
collection vehicle should consist of a paved impervious surface at least 1.5 metre in width. 
 
There should be no steps between the storage areas for containers up to 1100 litres and the refuse 
collection vehicle. 
 
(4) Future Refuse and Recycling Collections 
 
This Guide contains advice regarding refuse collection arrangements with regard to storage, 
distances, siting, access etc.  
 
Should any development be carried out that does not take account of the advice provided all 
future refuse collection will be by means of wheeled bins.  This may mean householders may 
have to carry refuse or move bins in excess of the maximum distances shown in the Guide. 
 

Page 14



 

C Access for Refuse Collection Vehicles  
 
Careful consideration needs to be given to how the refuse collection vehicles can gain access to 
empty wheeled bins.   
 
In general all adopted roads will have been designed with access for large vehicles, including 
refuse collection vehicles.   
 
There are, however, aspects of modern developments which can cause difficulties with 
collections from certain dwellings. 
 
There will be an increasing trend for denser development necessitating collections being made in 
communal bins.  These are usually sited to the rear of blocks of flats to which access is gained 
between other dwellings or under arches etc. Where individual or communal enclosures or 
shelters are required these should be directly accessible to refuse collection vehicles  
 
The turnings into these areas should be designed with the large refuse collection vehicles in 
mind, and should follow adoptable standards.   These areas can also be difficult for a large 
vehicle to manoeuvre in, made more difficult by vehicle parking. 
 
All such areas, including private drives where applicable should be constructed to withstand a 26 
tonne gross vehicle weight and axle weights of 12 tonnes.  They should be a minimum of 4 
metres in width.  All service inspection covers should also be of the type to withstand the wheel 
loading of 26 tonne vehicles.  
 
Designs should be such that a refuse collection vehicle should not have to reverse more than 25 
metres.  Designs should also incorporate turning areas for large vehicles in private areas if 
necessary.  These areas should not form part of any parking allowance. 
 
4 Commercial Developments 
 
It is impossible to determine in advance what storage requirements are appropriate for 
commercial developments as the end use of buildings is often unknown and is likely to change 
over time. 
 
Considerations regarding access, headroom should be assessed at an early stage and form an 
integral part of any design.  In any case the distance from any refuse storage area should be no 
more than 10 metres from an accessible point for the refuse collection vehicle with no steps or 
gradients steeper than 1:12. 
 
 
For more information please see: 
 
BS 5906 - Code of practice for storage and on-site treatment of solid waste from buildings. 

Page 15



 

 
5 Consultations 
 
Applicants for planning permission are strongly advised to consult the Council’s Commercial 
Services Department before submitting a planning application to ensure that the proposed 
development accords with this Guidance Note. When a planning application, which involves 
development served from a proposed new access road, whether that is to be private or adopted, is 
received, the Local Planning Authority will consult with the Council’s Commercial Services 
Department. 
 
6 Notes 
 
Drafts of this Guide were circulated to all Developers with interests in the Cambridge area.  A 
favourable response welcomed the advice in the Guide. 
 
7 Contacts 
 
South Cambridgeshire District Council Main Switchboard: 01223 443000 

Page 16



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AND CONSERVATION CONTROL COMMITTEE  
4th FEBRUARY 2004 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND ASSOCIATED MATTERS 

 
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

 
INDEX 

 
Item Parish App. No. Page 
 
 
1 CAMBOURNE S/6212/03/F 1  
2 CAMBOURNE S/6223/03/RM 3  
3 CAMBOURNE S/6225/03/RM 5  
4 CAMBOURNE S/6226/03/RM 7  
5 CAMBOURNE S/6227/03/RM 9  
 
6 CAMBOURNE  S/6228/03/RM   12 
7 BOURN S/2458/03/F 13  
8 CAXTON S/2329/03/F 17  
9 CROXTON  S/2529/03/F  19 
10 CASTLE CAMPS  S/2170/03/F   22  
 
11 COMBERTON  S/2202/03/F   25  
12 COMBERTON  S/2273/03/F   27  
13 COTTENHAM  S/2512/03/F   29  
14 DUXFORD S/1409/03/O & S/1410/03/O 31  
15 FOWLMERE S/2523/03/F 37  
 
16 FULBOURN S/0011/04/F 39  
17 FULBOURN S/2561/03/F 40  
18 GAMLINGAY S/0141/01/O 43  
19 GIRTON S/2344/03/F 49  
20 GREAT SHELFORD S/2325/03/F 50  
 
21 GREAT SHELFORD S/2474/03/F 54  
22 HARSTON S/2617/03/LB & S/2618/03/F 57  
23 HISTON S/1731/03/F 62  
24 HISTON S/2486/03/F  64  
25 LITTLE SHELFORD S/2058/03/F 66  
 
26 HORNINGSEA S/2247/03/F 68  
27 THRIPLOW S/2460/03/F 71  
28 WILLINGHAM S/2302/02/O 74  
29 WEST WRATTING S/2121/03/F 77  

 
 
 
 
1. S/6212/03/F - CAMBOURNE 

SHOPS, OFFICES AND FLATS, BUILDING W2, HIGH STREET, CAMBOURNE, FOR 
BOVIS HOMES 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 

Agenda Item 4aPage 17



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The site, which comprises 0.36 hectares (0.89 acres), is located on the High Street, adjacent to the 
market square to the east of Morrison’s supermarket, and south of the main town centre car park.  
 
The application, received on 11th August 2003, proposes a three storey building that will comprise 6 
retail units, with offices and 15 flats above and a basement car park. The building will be serviced form 
the rear, via the town centre car park.  
 
The 15 flats proposed will be a mixture of one and two bedroom units.  This residential element 
comprises a density of 42 dwellings per hectare. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
This site is allocated in the masterplan and on the briefing plan as an area for mixed use retail, offices 
and residential.  
 
 
POLICY  
 
Local Plan 2 (as modified) Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 require development at Cambourne to accord 
with the Masterplan, Design Guide, and the themes embraced by Government guidance relating to the 
creation of sustainable residential communities.  
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Caxton Parish Council recommends approval. 
 
Bourn Parish Council has not commented. 
 
The Cambourne Management Liaison Committee (MLC) – a forerunner of the future Parish Council 
recommends refusal, due to non-compliance with the s106 trigger points relating to the provision of 
community facilities. 
 
The Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE), recommends that this 
application is not approved, as in its opinion it does not reflect the aims and aspirations of the Design 
Guide.  
 
The Environment Agency has no adverse comments to make. 
 
English Nature has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has commented that he would like to see some bird boxes erected within the 
proposal site. 
 
The Council’s Community Services Department has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has recommended landscaping conditions. 
 
The County Archaeologist has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Council’s Commercial Director has commented that there are no problems with the site with 
relation to access for bin collections. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has recommended planning conditions restricting hours of 
construction. 
 
The Local Highways Authority has recommended standard planning conditions. 
 

Page 18



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) comments that there should be some lighting, and a 
barrier to the car parking area. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS. 
 
The scheme is generally in accordance with the Design Brief for the site, with a proposal that includes 
retail, offices and residential elements. The proposal faces onto the market square and the High Street. 
There is a subtle change in scale, varying from 3 storey to 3 ½ storey. Changes in the style of the 
elevational treatment provide variety, with the aim that the building will look like a series of different 
buildings even though it will in fact have been built as one. The building will be constructed of cream 
brick with a slate roof. 
 
The comments of the PALO can be addressed by planning condition. 
 
Members will be aware of the Council’s stance not to issue decision notices for market housing 
schemes until some progress has been made on the provision of overdue community facilities. 
However, whilst this application does include an element of market housing, it also includes much 
needed shop units. Thus as an exception to the Council’s stance, it is recommended that this permission 
is issued. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated powers to approve, subject to conditions including those relating to details of the elevation 
facing the market square, materials (particularly windows), hard surfacing details, clarifying the future 
ownership of the open space in front of the retail units, a scheme for public art (in accordance with the 
Design Guide), hours of construction and details of location and extent of the building compound. 
 
 
 
  

Page 19



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
2. S/6223/03/RM - CAMBOURNE 

71 DWELLINGS AT GC31 FOR CIRCLE 33 HOUSING TRUST LTD 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site, which comprises 1.26 hectares (3.11 acres), is located in the settlement centre, north of the 
supermarket and town centre car park, and east of the hotel currently under construction.  
 
The application, received on 28th November 2003, proposes 71 affordable dwellings at a density of 56 
dwellings per hectare. The scheme includes flats and townhouses, reflecting its more urban location at 
the centre of Cambourne where higher densities are expected.  
 
The scheme provides 18 x 1 bed flats, 12 x 2 bed flats, 15 x 2 bed town houses, and 26 x 3 bed town 
houses. 9 of the 1 bed flats are for shared equity ownership, the rest are to be rented. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
This site is allocated in the masterplan as an area for housing identified as GC31. In the original 
masterplan, this area was allocated a notional 47 units. 
 
Cambourne has planning permission for 3000 houses + 10% reserve. Within the development, under 
the terms of the s106 agreement, the developers are required to provide 37 acres of free, serviced land 
allocated for affordable housing in tranches throughout the site, with the total number of dwellings on 
that land not exceeding 650.   
 
During the course of the development of Cambourne, it has emerged that the number of affordable 
housing units allocated in the masterplan on that 37 acres only numbered 516, a shortfall of 134 units.  
 
The number of units on this site has increased from the notional 47 to 71, which helps address the 
shortfall in overall number of affordable units.   
 
The detailed residential proposal was considered by the Cambourne Design and Environment Group 
(DEG) meeting on 23rd October 2003, and was generally accepted by all parties, with further work 
being required on some matters of detail including parking and footpath links. 
 
 
POLICY  
 
Local Plan 2 (as modified) Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 require development at Cambourne to accord 
with the Masterplan, Design Guide, and the themes embraced by Government guidance relating to the 
creation of sustainable residential communities.  
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Caxton Parish Council has made no comments. 
 
Bourn Parish Council makes no recommendation. 
 
The Cambourne Management Liaison Committee (MLC) – a forerunner of the future Parish Council 
recommends refusal. Its principal complaint is that this scheme is for more housing than the masterplan 
allows. 
 
The Environment Agency has no adverse comments to make. 
 
English Nature has no adverse comments to make. 
 

Page 20



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has commented that he would like to see ecological enhancement within the 
proposal site. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has commented that he would like to see planning 
conditions restricting the hours of work. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has made some comments regarding practicalities over some of the 
proposed tree planting. 
 
The County Archaeologist has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Local Highways Authority has not yet responded formally, but in informal pre-application 
meetings, indicated no problems with the general aims of the proposal. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer has several comments to make about the large parking courts 
and the permeability within the site. 
 
The Council’s Consultant Architect welcomes the application. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS. 
 
The scheme accords with the principles set out in the Design Brief for the site, which asks for a high 
density ‘urban’ site, with terraced town houses and flats, and with buildings fronting both Back Lane, 
New Hall Lane and the greenway to the north. The scheme follows a form that has been used on other 
sites nearby, such as the affordable units on CR01, the sheltered scheme on CR02 and flats and houses 
on Broad Street.   
 
With regard to the issue of numbers, there has been a significant increase from the ‘notional’ allocation 
in the original masterplan, however it is important that schemes are design led. Nevertheless, I am 
mindful of the increase in numbers raised by the MLC, but have explained under ‘Planning History’ 
that this will actually assist with making up the overall shortfall. 
 
The impact of these ‘additional’ numbers of affordable units on the overall total number of units is 
being closely monitored. The issue is likely to be brought to the fore and addressed later this year, 
through the Local Development Framework when the Council will revisit the issue, as required by the 
Inspector’s Report for Local Plan No. 2; and the appeal into the Cambourne Consortium’s proposals to 
increase development at Cambourne.     
 
In relation to the comments of the Police Architectural Liaison Officer, I consider that the parking 
spaces are effectively supervised in most locations. Concerns over excessive permeability can 
hopefully be addressed through the use of gates and adjustments to the routes of certain footpaths. 
  
There are still some outstanding issues to address with the applicant, and amended plans will be 
required adjusting some footpaths within the scheme, and to make some changes to ensure additional 
overlooking to the parking areas. 
 
As this is a scheme comprising entirely affordable housing, the decision notice will be issued once the 
matters detailed in this report and the s106 have been resolved. It will not be affected by this council’s 
stance relating to the consortium’s non-compliance with the s106 trigger points.    
 
 

Page 21



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated powers to approve, subject to: i) the prior signing of the s106 agreement, and ii) amended 
plans to address the issues raised in the report and planning conditions relating to materials and 
boundary treatment. 
 
 
3. S/6225/03/RM - CAMBOURNE 

35 DWELLINGS AT GC16 FOR CIRCLE 33 HOUSING TRUST LTD 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site, which comprises 1.01 hectares (2.5 acres), is located on the eastern side of Great Cambourne, 
close to the proposed future golf course.  
 
The application, received on 5th December 2003, proposes 35 affordable dwellings at a density of 35 
dwellings per hectare. These have been designed to provide a variety of styles and types, ranging from 
bungalows to 1 ½ and 2 storey houses and 2 storey flats.  
 
The houses provided would be 6 x 1 bed flats, 4 x 2 bed bungalows, 13 x 2 bed houses, 11 x 3 bed 
houses and 1 x 4 bed house. Most of the houses are for rent, but 8 are for shared equity ownership. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
This site is allocated in the masterplan as an area for housing identified as GC16. In the original 
masterplan, this area was allocated a notional 27 units. 
 
Cambourne has planning permission for 3000 houses + 10% reserve. Within the development, under 
the terms of the s106 agreement, the developers are required to provide 37 acres of free, serviced land 
allocated for affordable housing in tranches throughout the site, with the total number of dwellings on 
that land not exceeding 650.   
 
During the course of the development of Cambourne, it has emerged that the number of affordable 
housing units allocated in the masterplan on that 37 acres only numbered 516, a shortfall of 134 units.  
 
The number of units on this site has increased from the notional 27 to 35 which helps address the 
shortfall in overall number of affordable units.   
 
The detailed residential proposal was considered by the Cambourne Design and Environment Group 
(DEG) meeting on 23rd October 2003, and was generally accepted by all parties, with further work 
being required on some matters of detail including open space and footpath links. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Local Plan 2 (as modified) Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 require development at Cambourne to accord 
with the Masterplan, Design Guide, and the themes embraced by Government guidance relating to the 
creation of sustainable residential communities.  
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Caxton Parish Council comments are awaited. 
 
Bourn Parish Council’s comments are awaited. 
 

Page 22



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The Cambourne Management Liaison Committee (MLC) – a forerunner of the future Parish Council 
recommends refusal. The principal complaint is that this scheme is for more housing than the 
masterplan allows.  
 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service ask that adequate provision is made for fire hydrants. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer has several comments to make. His principal concerns include 
the supervision of the parking court in front of plot 19-23, and the requirement for lighting on all 
parking areas, paths and through routes. 
 
The County Archaeologist has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Local Highway Authority has recommended standard planning conditions, and also states that the 
application needs to be amended to include a link to the existing street network. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has no objection subject to landscape conditions, and particularly 
comments that there is no landscaping detail to the open space yet. 
 
The Environment Agency has no adverse comments to make. 
 
English Nature has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has commented that he would like to see some bird and bat boxes within the 
proposal site. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS. 
 
The scheme is generally in accordance with the Design Brief for the site, with an area of high density in 
the northern part, and lower density overlooking the golf course, with a large area of open space within 
the site. Houses face out onto the greenway and out onto the site allocated for the future golf course. 
There is a change in scale from 2 storey terraces and flats in the high density area to single and 1 ½ 
storey houses and bungalows in semi detached forms in the lower density area.  
 
With regard to the issue of numbers, there has been a significant increase from the ‘notional’ allocation 
in the original masterplan, however it is important that schemes are design led. Nevertheless, I am 
mindful of the increase in numbers raised by the MLC, but have explained under ‘Planning History’ 
that this will actually assist with making up the overall shortfall. 
 
The impact of these ‘additional’ numbers of affordable units on the overall total number of units is 
being closely monitored. The issue is likely to be brought to the fore and addressed later this year, 
through the Local Development Framework when the Council will revisit the issue, as required by the 
Inspector’s Report for Local Plan No. 2; and the appeal into the Cambourne Consortium’s proposals to 
increase development at Cambourne.         
 
In relation to the comments of the Police Architectural Liaison Officer, the parking spaces are 
effectively supervised, and the lighting issues can be addressed by planning condition. 
  
There are still some minor outstanding issues to address with the applicant, and amended plans will still 
need to be made, to provide a better relationship between plots 26 and 27 and the neighbouring site 
GC13, and also to make some small adjustments between blocks H and I. Adjustments are also needed 
to some footpaths within the scheme. 
 

Page 23



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
As this is a scheme comprising entirely affordable housing, the decision notice will be issued once the 
matters detailed in this report and the S106 have been resolved. It will not be affected by this council’s 
stance relating to the consortium’s non-compliance with the S106 trigger points.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated powers to approve, subject to: i) the prior signing of the s106 agreement, and ii) amended 
plans that addresses the relationship of plots 26 and 27 better with the neighbouring site GC13, small 
changes to the position of blocks H and I, changes to the site boundary to show an indicative highway 
connection, a rationalisation of the number of footpaths within the site, and planning conditions relating 
to materials, boundary treatment, lighting and comments of Council’s Ecologist. 
 
 
 
4. S/6226/03/RM - CAMBOURNE 

29 DWELLINGS AT GC21 FOR CIRCLE 33 HOUSING TRUST LTD 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site, which comprises 0.8 hectares (2 acres), is located in the southern part of Great Cambourne, in 
phase 5 of the development.  
 
The application, received on 5th December 2003, proposes 29 affordable dwellings at a density of 36 
dwellings per hectare. These have been designed to provide a variety of styles and types, including flats 
and houses.  
 
The houses provided would be 6 x 1 bed flats, 10 x 2 bed houses and 13 x 3 bed houses. Most of the 
houses are for rent, but 9 are for shared equity ownership. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
This site is allocated in the masterplan as an area for housing identified as GC21. In the original 
masterplan, this area was allocated a notional 20 units.  
 
Cambourne has planning permission for 3000 houses + 10% reserve. Within the development, under 
the terms of the s106 agreement, the developers are required to provide 37 acres of free, serviced land 
allocated for affordable housing in tranches throughout the site, with the total number of dwellings on 
that land not exceeding 650.   
 
During the course of the development of Cambourne, it has emerged that the number of affordable 
housing units allocated in the masterplan on that 37 acres only numbered 516, a shortfall of 134 units.  
 
The number of units on this site has increased from the notional 20 to 29 which helps address the 
shortfall in overall number of affordable units.   
 
The detailed residential proposal was considered by the Cambourne Design and Environment Group 
(DEG) meeting on 23rd October 2003, and was generally accepted by all parties. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Local Plan 2 (as modified) Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 require development at Cambourne to accord 
with the masterplan, Design Guide, and the themes embraced by Government guidance relating to the 
creation of sustainable residential communities.  
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 

Page 24



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
Caxton Parish Council’s comments are awaited. 
 
Bourn Parish Council’s comments are awaited. 
 
The Cambourne Management Liaison Committee (MLC) – a forerunner of the future Parish Council 
recommends refusal. Its principle complaint is that this scheme is for more housing than the masterplan 
allows.  
 
The Environment Agency has made no comment. 
 
English Nature has made no comment. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has commented that he would like to see some bird and bat boxes within the 
proposal site. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has no objection subject to landscape conditions. 
 
The County Archaeologist has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Local Highways Authority has recommended standard planning conditions, and also states that the 
application needs to be amended to include a link to the existing street network. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer(PALO) has concern over the large parking courts within this 
application.  
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS. 
 
The scheme is generally in accordance with the Design Brief for the site, with a small area of high 
density (block A), the rest of the site being medium density, and with houses facing over the 
greenways, pedestrian links out onto the greenways, and houses with sustainable features on the south 
western greenway. The houses are a mixture of 1 ½ and 2 storey dwellings.  
 
With regard to the issue of numbers, there has been a significant increase from the ‘notional’ allocation 
in the original masterplan, however it is important that schemes are design led. Nevertheless, I am 
mindful of the increase in numbers raised by the MLC, but have explained under ‘Planning History’ 
that this will actually assist with making up the overall shortfall. 
 
The impact of these ‘additional’ numbers of affordable units on the overall total number of units is 
being closely monitored. The issue is likely to be brought to the fore and addressed later this year, 
through the Local Development Framework when the Council will revisit the issue, as required by the 
Inspector’s Report for Local Plan No. 2; and the appeal into the Cambourne Consortium’s proposals to 
increase development at Cambourne.         
 
In relation to the comments of the PALO, I believe that with some minor changes to some of the plots, 
such as blocks E and G, more effective supervision can be achieved. 
  
There are still some minor outstanding issues to address with the applicant, including addressing the 
concerns of the PALO, and reducing the scale of blocks C and D, and as such, amended plans will be 
sought. 
 
As this is a scheme comprising entirely affordable housing, the decision notice will be issued once the 
matters detailed in this report and the S106 have been resolved. It will not be affected by this council’s 
stance relating to the consortium’s non-compliance with the S106 trigger points.   

Page 25



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated powers to approve, subject to: i) the prior signing of the s106 agreement, and ii) amended 
plans to address the issues raised in the report, and planning conditions relating to materials, boundary 
treatment, landscaping, lighting and comments of Council’s Ecologist. 
 
 
 
5. S/6227/03/RM - CAMBOURNE 

30 DWELLINGS AT GC22 FOR GRANTA HOUSING SOCIETY 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site, which comprises 0.9 hectares (2.2 acres), is located in the southern part of Great Cambourne, 
in phase 5 of the development.  
 
The application, received on 5th December 2003, proposes 30 affordable dwellings at a density of 33 
dwellings per hectare.  These have been designed to provide a variety of styles and types, ranging from 
bungalows to 1 ½ and 2 storey houses and 2 storey flats.  
 
The houses provided would be 4 x 1 bed flats, 4 x 2 bed bungalows, 17 x 2 bed houses and 5 x 3 bed 
houses.  Most of the houses are for rent, but 6 are for shared equity ownership. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
This site is allocated in the masterplan as an area for housing identified as GC22. In the original 
masterplan, this area was allocated a notional 26 units.  
 
Cambourne has planning permission for 3000 houses + 10% reserve. Within the development, under 
the terms of the s106 agreement, the developers are required to provide 37 acres of free, serviced land 
allocated for affordable housing in tranches throughout the site, with the total number of dwellings on 
that land not exceeding 650.   
 
During the course of the development of Cambourne, it has emerged that the number of affordable 
housing units allocated in the masterplan on that 37 acres only numbered 516, a shortfall of 134 units.  
 
The number of units on this site has increased from the notional 26 to 30 which helps address the 
shortfall in overall number of affordable units.   
 
The detailed residential proposal was considered by the Cambourne Design and Environment Group 
(DEG) meeting on 23rd October 2003, and was generally accepted by all parties. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Local Plan 2 (as modified) Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 require development at Cambourne to accord 
with the Masterplan, Design Guide, and the themes embraced by Government guidance relating to the 
creation of sustainable residential communities.  
 
 

Page 26



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Caxton Parish Council comments are awaited. 
 
Bourn Parish Council’s comments are awaited. 
 
The Cambourne Management Liaison Committee (MLC) – a forerunner of the future Parish Council 
recommends refusal. Its principal complaint is that this scheme is for more housing than the masterplan 
allows.  It also makes comments about overlooking from two unnecessary balconies on block I (plots 
27-30) and the lack of a turning head at the end of the road next to the access to the allotments.  
 
The Environment Agency has made no adverse comments to make. 
 
English Nature has made no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has commented that he would like to see some bird and bat boxes within the 
proposal site. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has no objection subject to landscape conditions. 
 
The County Archaeologist has no adverse comments to make. 
 
The Local Highways Authority has recommended standard planning conditions, and also states that the 
application needs to be amended to include a link to the existing street network. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer comments include suggesting that where the parking areas 
abut the neighbouring site, then a buffer zone of planting should be provided and that the parking areas 
should be lit. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Several neighbours have made representations. Their addresses are highlighted on the committee plan, 
and their general concerns can be précised as follows: 
 
a) Housing density – the masterplan indicated 26 units, and now the application has 30 units  
b) The unnecessary footpath link between plot 30 and existing property at 3 Granary Way, a 

concern of the resident at no. 3 Granary Way  
c) Waterlogging – the gardens at the foot of all the existing houses abutting this site have been 

waterlogged, and the developers of these houses have had to do remedial work. This 
development should not exacerbate this problem. 

d) Roof pitches – they are too steep 
e) Balconies – these result in overlooking of rear gardens, concerns of residents of nos. 3 and 22 

Granary Way  
f) Access to site – construction traffic should not access through the existing housing areas 
g) Trees and landscaping – all existing trees should be protected and extra boundary landscaping 

should be added 
h) Turning head – there needs to be a turning head adjacent to the allotment access 
i) Proximity – there are concerns that the gables of plots 1 and 30 are too close to nos. 22, 1 and 

3 Granary Way, respectively, and will result in overshadowing.  
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS. 
 
The scheme is in accordance with the Design Brief for the site, which suggests a general area of 
medium density. Many of the houses face an attractive green space in the centre of the site, and some 
others are designed in a courtyard. There is a variety in scale from 2 storey terraces and flats to single 
and 1 ½ storey houses and bungalows in both terraced and semi detached forms.  

Page 27



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The scheme allows for access through to the proposed allotments, and also accesses through to the 
neighbouring allocated housing site GC18.  
 
With regard to the issue of numbers, there has been a significant increase from the ‘notional’ allocation 
in the original masterplan, however it is important that schemes are design led.  Nevertheless, I am 
mindful of the increase in numbers raised by the MLC, but have explained under ‘Planning History’ 
that this will actually assist with making up the overall shortfall. 
 
The impact of these ‘additional’ numbers of affordable units on the overall total number of units is 
being closely monitored.  The issue is likely to be brought to the fore and addressed later this year, 
through the Local Development Framework when the Council will revisit the issue, as required by the 
Inspector’s Report for Local Plan No. 2; and the appeal into the Cambourne Consortium’s proposals to 
increase development at Cambourne.         
 
In relation to the comments of the Police Architectural Liaison Officer, areas of planting and lighting 
can be addressed by planning conditions. 
 
The concerns of the residents can be addressed as follows: 
 
a) Housing density – this issue has been addressed in my response to the MLC’s comments 

detailed above. 
b) I will ask the applicant to remove the footpath link next to plot 30, which appears to be 

unnecessary. 
c) Waterlogging – the problem with the gardens on the neighbouring site cannot be solved by 

this developer.  Satisfactory drainage of the site will be required, however. 
d) Roof pitches – they are generally the same pitch as the houses on the neighbouring existing 

site.  Steeper roof pitches reflect the local context and as such are considered appropriate. 
e) Balconies – I will request that these are removed. 
f) Construction access to site – this can be dealt with by planning condition. It is intended that 

the works access will not be through the existing housing areas. 
g) Trees and landscaping – this will be dealt with by planning condition 
h) Turning head – the Local Highways Authority has also made this point and the scheme will 

need to be amended to incorporate it. 
i) Proximity – the gable to plot 30 is more than 17 metres from 3 Granary Way, and the gable of 

plot 1 (a bungalow) is 15 metres from the rear of 22 Granary Way.  Given the distances 
involved, and mindful of the orientation, I do not consider the proposal will appear unduly 
overbearing. 

 
As this is a scheme comprising entirely affordable housing, the decision notice will be issued once the 
matters detailed in this report and the S106 have been resolved.  It will not be affected by this council’s 
stance relating to the consortium’s non-compliance with the S106 trigger points.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated powers to approve, subject to: i) the prior signing of the s106 agreement, and ii) amended 
plans to address the issues raised in the report, and the addition of planning conditions relating to 
construction access, materials, boundary treatment, landscaping and lighting. 
 
 
  

Page 28



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
6. S/6228/03/RM - CAMBOURNE 

MULTI-USE GAMES AREA, ACCESS AND CAR PARK AT SPORTS AREA, BACK 
LANE, CAMBOURNE, IN THE PARISH OF BOURN 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site comprises part of the sports area allocated in the Cambourne Masterplan, to the north of the 
central “village” of Great Cambourne.  The proposed Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) provides for a 
fenced area, half tarmac and half Astroturf, with floodlights.  Access and parking area also proposed, 
the car park located as part of the main sports centre car park, rather than a temporary location.  The 
corner of the car park would contain temporary toilet and changing facilities, pending the construction 
of the permanent sports centre due at 2000 houses occupied. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Outline planning permission for the whole of Cambourne was granted in 1994, subject to a S106 
Agreement that included this requirement for a “0.5 acres or thereabouts, a multipurpose floodlit area 
upon which the Developers shall construct by the Completion of the 1000th dwelling, two tennis courts 
with hard surface finish and as to the balance (apart from circulation areas) a synthetic grassed area.” 
 
The MUGA was proposed as part of the main sports area application in 2002, but that application 
included the sports centre with ice-rink, which the developers had been, and continue to be advised, is a 
controversial application and the MUGA should therefore be proposed separately to avoid delay.  It is 
hoped that that application will be reported to next month’s meeting.  A separate application was 
submitted last year, but contained insufficient information, and the applicant appealed non-
determination before amended plans could be negotiated.  The inquiry into that appeal is due to be 
heard in March.  Meanwhile, negotiations over the specification of the MUGA have continued, 
resulting in this application.  It is anticipated that the applicants will withdraw their appeal if this 
application is approved. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policies Cambourne 1 and 2 of the Local Plan No.2 (as proposed to the adopted December 2003) 
require the development of Cambourne to take place in accordance with the Masterplan and Design 
Guide. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
The comments of Parish Councils and Management Liaison Committee will be reported verbally. 
 
The County Council’s Highways Officer recommends a condition requiring cycle parking provision. 
 
The Trees and Landscapes Officer has no objection subject to the drainage works not restricting 
planting. 
 
The consultation period expires on 5th February, hence the request for delegated powers in the 
recommendation. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Any comments will be reported verbally.  The consultation period for responses to neighbour 
notifications expires on 12th February, hence the request for delegated powers in the recommendation. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 

Page 29



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
The MUGA is a requirement of the Cambourne Section 106 Agreement, and should have been 
provided at 1000 houses occupied.  Its delay has caused the Council to take the stance not to allow any 
more market housing until this, the burial ground and the community centre have been provided.  The 
applicant has now provided a scheme which is sufficiently detailed to be approved, subject to 
conditions regarding the exact specification of elements such as the Astroturf and the lighting.  The 
area exceeds that required under the S106, and complies with what is required.   
 
It is not considered that cycle parking should be required at this stage, as cycles will be provided for in 
the larger sports scheme including the sports centre.  In the meantime there is sufficient space around 
the MUGA for cycles to be parked informally. 
 
As work needs to start on this facility as soon as possible, and because of the successful pre-application 
discussions, this application is reported to you now in order to avoid any further delay. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Delegated powers are sought to APPROVE the application once the period for comments has expired, 
subject to conditions addressing the following points: 
 
1. Details of lighting design and method of operation to be submitted for approval. 
 
2. Details of temporary toilet / changing facility to be submitted for approval, and provided prior to 

first use. 
 
3. Construction to be in accordance with approved drawings and agent’s letter dated 9th December 

2003. 
 
4. Parking to be provided prior to first use. 
 
5. (Any other conditions required as a result of consultations.) 
 
 
7. S/2458/03/F - BOURN 

EXTENSION TO 16 CHURCH STREET, FOR MR AND MRS I JONES 
 
Members will visit this site on Monday 2nd February 2004 
 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site consists of a modern bungalow with integral garage situated on the western side of Church 
Street near the southern head of the cul-de-sac, within the Bourn Conservation Area.  The bungalow is 
situated in an elevated position approximately 1.5m above the surrounding road levels, and is setback 
approximately 7.5 metres from the front property boundary.  Surrounding the site is a 19th century semi-
detached single storey cottage to the north, row of late 18th century listed thatched cottages, St Mary’s 
Church (listed building) to the south-east and open land to the west.   
 
The full application received on the 3rd December 2003 proposes the erection of a single storey front 
extension to the dwelling measuring 6.1m in width and 3.6m in length.  The extension will have a 
hipped roof with a ridge height of 4.5m, in addition to a minimum setback of 0.7m to the side property 
boundary with No. 14 Church Street.  The application plans show that the existing integral garage is to 
be converted to additional accommodation.  It is noted that planning permission is not required for the 
conversion of the garage. 
 
HISTORY 

Page 30



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
There are no previous extensions to the dwelling.  Outline planning permission was given in 1981 (Ref: 
S/0192/81/O) for the erection of a bungalow on this site. The initial planning application for a 
bungalow with garage on the site was refused in the same year (Ref: S/1188/81/F), with a later 
application for a bungalow with garage approved in 1982 (Ref: S/0030/82/F). 
 
 
POLICY 
 
The site is within the village framework as defined in the 1993 and 2003 (as amended) Local Plans.  It 
is also within a conservation area. 
 
Policy P1/2 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 states that development will 
be restricted where there could be damage, destruction or loss of areas that should be retained for their 
biodiversity, historic, archaeological, architecture and recreational value. 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 requires a high standard of 
design and sustainability for all new developments. 
 
Policy P7/6 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 specifies that Local Planning 
Authorities will protect and enhance the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
Policy C33 of the 1993 Local Plan and Policy EN44 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as amended 2002 
and 2003) requires new development to preserve or enhance the character of a conservation area.   
 
Policy C34 of the 1993 Local Plan and Policy EN49 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as amended 2002 
and 2003) specifies that the District Council will seek to retain the character, materials, features and 
details of unlisted buildings or structures which contribute to the character of a conservation area. 
 
Policy HG17 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 and 2003) states that 
extensions and alterations to a dwelling will only be permitted where the design and use of materials 
are in keeping with the local characteristics and would not seriously harm the amenities of neighbours 
through undue loss of privacy, or be unduly overbearing. 
 
Policy EN41 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 and 2003) states that the 
District Council will refuse applications for development within the curtilage or setting of a listed 
building which: would dominate the listed building or its curtilage in scale, form, massing and 
appearance; damage the setting, well-being and attractiveness of a listed building; would harm the 
visual relationship between the building and its formal or natural landscape surroundings; or would 
damage archaeological remains of importance unless some exceptional, overriding need can be 
demonstrated.  This policy reiterates the contents of Policy C24 of the 1993 Local Plan. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Bourn Parish Council – Recommendation of Approval.  However, the Council has also provided the 
following statement: 
 
“The Parish Council has a mixed reaction to this application.  The main concern is to the visual impact 
that would be created for users in Church Street to and from the Church in the Conservation Area.  
Impact on No. 14 Church Street, which immediately neighbours the site, is limited, given the lack of 
windows on its wall facing the site.  It is suggested the height of the proposed extension is reduced to 
that of the existing garage, and that an appropriate hedge is required across the front of No. 16.” 
 

Page 31



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Conservation Manager – No objection.  He adds the proposal has “no significant impact on the 
Conservation Area.  The property does form part of the approach to the Church.  I suggest that 
boundary tree/hedge planting is required to follow the adjacent hedgeline and soften the otherwise stark 
elevation to the street which forms the approach to the Church.  This will effectively channel views to 
the Church and lessen the impact of the extension.” 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Objections have been received from the occupiers of the adjacent dwelling, No. 14 Church Street and 
the dwelling opposite, No. 23 Church Street on the following grounds:- 
 
1. Overshadowing and visual intrusion/loss of privacy to No. 14 Church Street; 
 
2. Concern regarding the proximity of the extension to No. 14 Church Street and its extremely 

intrusive appearance; 
 
3. Loss of morning light to No. 14 Church Street; 
 
4. Loss of view from windows in No. 14 Church Street; 
 
5. Adverse impact on the Bourn Conservation Area; 
 
6. Adverse impact on the setting of listed buildings – Nos 23, 25 and 27 Church Street and the 

Church; 
 
7. Increased visual prominence of dwelling when viewed from Nos 23 and 25 Church Street; 
 
8. The proposed extension is similar in design to the initial proposal for a dwelling and garage on 

this plot which was refused in 1981 (Ref: S/1188/81/F); 
 
9. The current owners have recently removed the hedge along the front property boundary of the 

site, as a result there is no screening of the dwelling from the road; 
 
10. Existing materials stated on application plan are incorrect; and 
 
11. The layout plan does not illustrate the conservatory on the site. 
 
A letter has also been received from the Churchwarden of St Mary’s Church which states that although 
they have no objection to the extension to the dwelling, they object to the removal of the frontage 
hedge on this property and the erection of bollards on the public highway verge. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS BY APPLICANT 
 
The applicant has stated in a letter that they have always intended to plant along the front metal fencing 
adjacent the front property boundary of the site, after works to the site have been completed. 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
The key issues in this case are the impact of the proposal on the Bourn Conservation Area and the 
setting of the nearby listed buildings, in addition to impacts on the residential amenities of 
neighbouring properties. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
Impact on Conservation Area and Listed Buildings 
 

Page 32



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Providing that landscaping conditions are attached to any planning consent, which would require the 
establishment of trees/hedge along the front property boundary, the proposal would not have a 
significant impact on the Conservation Area.   
 
It is considered that the proposed extension would not significantly increase the visual prominence of 
the dwelling within the Conservation Area as a result of its setback of 4m from the front property 
boundary and 9m from Church Road, its setback behind the front elevation of the adjacent cottage, its 
lower ridge height than the existing dwelling (5.0 metres) and the similar design of the extension to the 
existing dwelling.   
 
The proposed extension is setback approximately 13.5m from the row of thatched cottages on the 
opposite side of Church Street and 43m from St. Mary’s Church.  The proposal is not considered to 
harm the setting of these listed buildings.  It is noted that the Church is situated on elevated land, above 
the floor level of No. 16 Church Street.    
 
Impact on the Amenity of Adjacent Properties  
 
I am of the opinion that the proposal would not seriously harm the residential amenities of adjacent 
properties.  The extension would be setback approximately 0.8m from the side property boundary with 
No. 14 Church Street, and approximately 3.2m from the dwelling itself.  The proposal would not lead 
to an undue loss of light to the two windows along the south elevation of No. 14, given their position to 
the rear of the dwelling.  Nor would the proposal significant increase the degree of overshadowing over 
this property or be unduly overbearing in terms of its mass.  The proposal would also not obscure light 
into the roof light along the southern elevation of No. 14.  The ridge height of the extension would be 
0.3m higher than the existing ridge of the garage, but would remain 0.5m below the ridge height of the 
main section of the dwelling.  The eaves height of the extension, is the same as the existing garage at 
2.6m.   
 
Whilst the proposal involves a new north-facing window, given the approximately 1.8m high close-
boarded fence along the property boundary with No. 14 and the use of this window to provide light to a 
bathroom, this would not result in an undue loss of privacy to No. 14 Church Street.  The proposed 
window along the front elevation of the dwelling, would also not result in an undue loss of privacy.  
 
The proposal is setback 13.5m from the row of two-storey thatched cottages (Nos. 23, 25 and 27 
Church Street) on the opposite side of Church Street, and will not seriously harm their light, privacy or 
outlook. 
 
Other 
It is acknowledged that the proposal will alter the views over the subject site, when viewed from 
adjacent dwellings.  However, this is not a relevant planning consideration and does not represent 
grounds for refusal.   
 
Although the proposal will involve the loss of space in which to park vehicles, sufficient room will 
remain on the site for the parking of at least two vehicles. 
 
I am also of the view that this proposal is not comparable to a previous design for a bungalow with 
garage on the site, refused in 1981. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval 
 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. A Standard Condition – RCA 
 
2. SC5a – Materials to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority – to ensure that 

the development is not incongruous within the Bourn Conservation Area 
 

Page 33



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
3. SC51 – Landscaping – Standard reason 
 
4. SC52 – Implementation of Landscaping – Standard reason 
 
 
8. S/2329/03/F - CAXTON 

EXTENSION AT GRANGE FARM, BOURN ROAD FOR V. CHAPMAN 
 
Members will visit the site on Monday 2nd February. 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The application relates to an existing farm dwelling located in the countryside to the north of Bourn 
Road. The dwelling is sited adjacent to farm buildings. It is single-storey in height and is not readily 
visible from Bourn Road. The combined floor area of the original bungalow and linked garage amounts 
to 193 sq.m. Since it was originally built the dwelling has been extended in single-storey fashion by the 
addition of three bedrooms, a bathroom and a dressing room. The floor area of this extension is 
106sq.m. which represents an enlargement of 55%.  
 
The application received 14th November 2003 proposes to erect a pitched roof over the existing flat-
roofed linked garage/utility room/entrance lobby, and to form an en-suite bedroom within the roof void 
that would be created. The proposal would result in an additional 48.7sq.m. floor area, which would 
represent a further 25%  to the floor area of the original bungalow and garage.  
 
The submitted design shows the ridge height of the extension to be 800mm above that of the existing 
bungalow. The height to eaves level is shown to be 4.1m, compared with that of the existing bungalow 
of 2.5m. A lean-to canopy is proposed onto the front elevation of the extended garage, with an eaves 
level matching that of the bungalow. The upper-storey rooms are to be provided with skylights within 
the roof slope. The proposed external materials are to match the existing.  
 
The application is not accompanied by any supporting letter to set out a justification for the extra 
accommodation. The case officer was advised by the applicant when visiting the site that first floor 
rooms were being provided in order to take advantage of the roof void that would be created by the 
extension, and that there was no essential need for the additional accommodation. Since submitting the 
application, the bungalow has been extended by the addition of a conservatory on the southern 
elevation. The applicant has been advised of the need for planning permission for this extension. He 
has indicated that he will arrange for submission of an appropriate planning application shortly.  
 
To the south of the site, fronting Bourn Road, there are two detached houses, Nos 73 Highfield House 
and 75 Lenton House, which are also in the countryside and have been extended in the past. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permissions in outline and detail for the erection of a four-bedroomed bungalow, garage/store 
on this site were granted in 1972. A condition was attached to the detailed consent to limit occupation 
to an agricultural employee and dependants of such only. Planning permission for a single-storey 
extension was granted in 1979.  
 
To the north of the site, outline planning permission for the erection of a further agricultural dwelling to 
serve the needs of the farm was granted in 2001.  A reserved matter application has been submitted and 
is currently being considered. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
The site lies in the countryside beyond the village framework.  
 

Page 34



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
In the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (proposed to be adopted December 2003) the following policy 
is relevant: 
 
Policy HG18: This refers to extensions to dwellings in the countryside and states that these will be 
permitted where: 
 
1. The proposed development would not create a separate dwelling or be capable of separation 

from the existing dwelling; 
 
2. The extension does not exceed the height of the existing dwelling; 
 
3. The extension does not lead to a 50% increase or more in volume or gross internal floor area of 

the original dwelling; 
 
4. The proposed extension is in scale and character with the existing dwelling and would not 

materially change the impact of the dwelling on its surroundings; 
 
5. The proposed extension has regard to the criteria in Policies HG16 and HG17 of the plan. 
 
The supporting text to this policy emphasises the importance of assessing carefully the impact of the 
proposal on the appearance of the countryside, and to take into account the need to preserve a stock of 
smaller and medium sized dwellings in these areas.  However it is recognised that there may be 
circumstances that justify a departure from criteria 2) and 3).  
 
Paragraph 4:72 of the supporting text states: 
 
“Large extensions to dwellings which are the subject of an agricultural condition are less likely to be 
acceptable unless it can be demonstrated that the resultant accommodation can be supported by the 
viability of the holding and that its value would not be such as to be out of reach of workers employed 
in agriculture.” 
 
Policies HG16 and HG17:  these policies reiterate the need for new development to be of a high quality 
in design and appearance. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Caxton Parish Council recommends that the application be approved. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received. 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The bungalow that was originally built upon this site was modest in scale. It was added to substantially 
in 1979, increasing the floor area by 55%. The current proposal, if approved, would represent an 
increase of floorspace over the original by 80%, which does not conform with criterion 3) of Policy 
HG18. The area of new floorspace is even greater if the recent unauthorised conservatory extension is 
taken into account. The design of the extension is not in keeping with the existing bungalow, as it 
shows a ridge height and a height to eaves level greater than existing, contrary to criterion 2). At the 
time of compiling this report no material considerations have been presented by the applicant to 
warrant setting aside these concerns. 
 
In my opinion it is even more important to control the incremental growth beyond policy limits of 
agricultural dwellings in order to maintain a stock of affordable dwellings in the agricultural market. 
 
The local Member, Councillor Mrs Spink, has requested that Members conduct a site visit. 
 

Page 35



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal 
 
1. The proposed development, by virtue of the additional floorspace created and taken into account 

the floorpace added by previous extensions to the original dwelling, and the agricultural 
occupancy condition, would result in an unacceptable scale of development in the countryside 
contrary to Policy HG18 criterion 3) of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (proposed to be 
adopted December 2003). 

 
2. In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the design of the proposed extension, by virtue of 

its raised ridge height and height to eaves level, is not in sympathy with the existing bungalow 
and is contrary to Policy HG18 criterion 2) of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (proposed to 
be adopted December 2003). 

 
 
 
 9. S/2529/03/F - CROXTON 

TEMPORARY PORTABLE BUILDING FOR STORAGE OF FURNITURE 
(RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION), LAND AT WYKEHAM HOUSE, HIGH 
STREET, CROXTON FOR MR AND MRS G GREEN 

 
Members will visit this site on Monday 2nd February 2004. 
 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site consists of a pair of two-storey buff brick and slate buildings, which are occupied as a single 
dwelling (Wykeham House).  The dwelling is situated at the north-eastern end of High Street, near the 
intersection with the A428.  Along the northern and western property boundaries of the site are several 
tall trees, which partially screen the site.  The site adjoins a Park and Garden of Special Interest to the 
east (Croxton Park).   
 
The full application received on 17th December 2003 seeks the retention of a blue portakabin used for 
the storage of furniture, which is situated 17m to the front of the dwelling.  The portkabin is setback 
approximately 7.5m from the front property boundary and measures 3.05m in width, 9.75m in length 
with a flat roof 2.5m high.  
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission was retrospectively given for the temporary portable building, for the storage of 
furniture (Ref: S/0898/03/F) in June 2003.  Condition 1 of this planning approval required the portable 
building to be removed and the land restored to its former condition before the 31st October 2003. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
The portakabin is situated within the village framework of Croxton as defined in the 1993 and 2003 (as 
amended) Local Plans.  It is also within a conservation area. 
 

Page 36



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Planning Policy Guidance Notes No. 1 – General Policy and Principles states that the “personal 
circumstances of an occupier, personal hardship…may be material to the consideration of a planning 
application.  In such circumstances, a permission may be made subject to a condition that it is personal 
to the applicant.  Such arguments will seldom outweigh the more general planning considerations...” 
 
Policy P1/2 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 states that 
development will be restricted where there could be damage, destruction or loss of areas that 
should be retained for their biodiversity, historic, archaeological, architecture and recreational 
value. 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 requires a high 
standard of design and sustainability for all new developments. 
 
Policy P7/6 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 specifies that Local 
Planning Authorities will protect and enhance the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built 
environment. 
 
Policy C33 of the 1993 Local Plan and Policy EN44 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as amended 
2002 and 2003) require new development to preserve or enhance the character of a conservation 
area.   
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Croxton Parish Council – recommendation of refusal.  The Parish Council has added that:  
 
“We represent the residents of Croxton High Street who want this porta-cabin removed as soon as 
possible.   
 
Firstly we were advised that this would be removed by 31st October, then advised mid-January and now 
a new application has been made.  We feel that this pattern will just keep continuing and that it should 
be ended now.  In Mr Green’s letter, he states he is considering a building a shed for storage.  His 
considering could take a long time, then if he decided to build, who knows how long that will take!!! 
 
We live in a pretty conservation area, where residents care for their properties and gardens, a blue 
porta-cabin does not fit into this category. 
 
While we have had sympathy for the situation the Green family have been in, it is time now to stop 
extending planning permission on the portacabin, and remove it.  Please.” 
 
Conservation Manager – No objection 
 
English Heritage – No comment 
 
Councillor Daphne Spink – Recommendation of refusal.  She has verbally added that the portakabin is 
an ‘eyesore’ and that the applicant appears to have had enough time to repair the dwelling following 
flooding, at least to the point that furniture can now be stored in the dwelling. She is concerned that the 
portakabin is being used for the storage of furniture whilst non-essential repairs/changes are made to 
the dwelling. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Objections have been received from the occupiers of 11, 23 Downs Barn and The Dower House, High 
Street, Croxton on the following grounds: 
 
1. The portable building has an adverse impact on the Croxton Conservation Area and detracts 

from the streetscene of High Street; 
 

Page 37



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
2. The portable building is an ‘eyesore’ and situated in a very prominent position, at the entrance to 

Croxton High Street; 
 
3. The portable building has been on the site for more than one year, which is sufficient time for 

the applicant to have resolved his storage problem following a flood; 
 
4. The applicant is taking an excessively long period of time to repair the dwelling and appears to 

be in no hurry to complete repairs work; 
 
5. It is suspected that the applicant has no intention of removing the portacabin and intends to use 

this as a permanent structure; 
 
6. No time period is stated in the application for the removal of portacabin; 
 
7. Concern that if planning permission is given, that a further application for the retention of this 

portacabin will be made; 
 
8. The granting of planning permission for this structure, is inconsistent with Council’s policies 

relating to development in conservation areas; and 
 
9. The granting of planning permission for this structure would be contrary to the rights of local 

residents, who have gone to considerable effort to maintain the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and to design extensions/alterations to dwellings which maintain and 
preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

 
 
REPRESENTATIONS BY APPLICANT 
 
The applicant has provided the following information in support of his application: 
 
1. In January 2003 the dwelling was flooded by overflow water from the A428 drainage ditch 

adjacent to the property. 
 
2. The family is not yet in a position to replace any of the furniture in the house and continue to 

need the portacabin for the storage of furniture. 
 
3. The builders appointed by the insurance company required that the ground floor be cleared of all 

furniture and carpets so that dehumidifiers could be used for drying out. 
 
4. The portable building was hired in order to clear the house of furniture within the required time 

scale. 
 
5. A schedule of restoration work to the dwelling was agreed by the insurance company in April 

2003. 
 
6. Work has commenced on the dwelling, with work over the summer period concentrating on the 

replacement of suspended timber floors in the kitchen and study. 
 
7. Furniture cannot be replaced in the above two rooms until the carpet has been fitted and the floor 

tiles laid.  These floor coverings have been on order for several weeks. 
 
8. Another six ground floor rooms continue to require significant repair works.  The cores of the 

wall are still damp from the flood and dehumidifiers are being used for drying out.  The time 
period for the repairs to these rooms is expected to be less than the time taken on the more 
extensive repairs to the kitchen and study. 

 
9. It is not practical for the family to store furniture currently held in the portacabin, in the kitchen 

and study after the completion of repair works to these rooms.  The study is needed by the eldest 
son who is in his GSCE year. 

 

Page 38



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
10. The applicant has no intention to retain the portacabin longer than necessary.   
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
I am of the view that the proposed portakabin does not preserve or enhance the special character of the 
Croxton Conservation Area or is compatible with the local character of the built environment.  Its 
retention would therefore be contrary to policies P1/2, P1/3 and 7/6 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Structure Plan 2003, Policy C33 of the Adopted Local Plan 1993 and Policy EN44 of 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1999 Deposit (as proposed to be adopted December 2003). 
 
Nevertheless, it is considered that there are personal and extenuating circumstances in this case which 
warrant a further period of temporary consent for the portakabin, to allow for its retention whilst repairs 
are completed to the flood damaged property.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve 
 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The portable building hereby permitted shall be removed and land restored to its former 

condition on or before 31st December 2004 or within 14 days of the date the works to repair the 
flood damage to the house is completed, whichever is the sooner. 

 (Reason – The permitted building would not normally be granted in the absence of the personal 
circumstances in this particular case). 

 
 
10. S/2170/03/F - CASTLE CAMPS 

CHANGE OF USE OF POST OFFICE/SHOP TO DWELLING AT THE POST OFFICE, 
HIGH STREET FOR MR & MRS LOTT 

 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The application relates to a single storey roughcast render and interlocking tile shop and post office 
attached to a two-storey dwelling of the same materials and in the same ownership which, in turn, is 
attached to a thatched cottage (Handpost Cottage).  There is a gravelled parking area for three cars plus 
a prefabricated garage and access to Handpost Cottage to the side/north.  
 
This full application, received on the 20th October 2003, proposes a change of use of the post 
office/shop to a one-bedroom dwelling.  Part of the existing garden area to the rear of the building 
would be allocated to the proposed dwelling.  The existing prefabricated garage would be demolished 
and the parking area would be enlarged to accommodate space for 6 cars.  No external alterations to the 
building are proposed. 
 
A letter submitted as part of the application states that: the level of support from the local community 
(10% of residents) is less than a survey had indicated (50%) and is not enough to sustain the business; 
the premises has been marketed for a 3 month period with no interest; and the village is close to the 
services and facilities in Haverhill. 
 
 

Page 39



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
HISTORY 
 
None. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 Policy P3/4 states that Local Planning 
Authorities will support the vitality of rural communities by encouraging the retention of village 
shopping facilities. 
 
Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policies SH8 & CS12 state that 
planning permission will be refused for proposals which involve the loss of a retail unit, post office or 
village service where such loss would cause a significant reduction in the level of community, retail 
and/or service provision in the locality. 
 
The site is within the village framework of Castle Camps, which is defined as a Group Village in the 
Adopted 1993 Local Plan and in Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003).  
Adopted Local Plan Policy H18 and Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) 
Policy SE6 state that residential development within the village will normally be restricted to groups of 
not more than 8 dwellings, which may involve the conversion of a non-residential building where this 
would not result in a loss of local employment, provided that the development is sympathetic to the 
character and amenities of the locality. 
 
Adopted 1993 Local Plan Policy C33 states that the District Council will require new development in a 
Conservation Area to preserve or enhance its character in the size, form, position, scale and design of 
dwellings, in the choice of materials, in the retention of existing site features of interest and in external 
works, including boundary treatments.  Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) 
Policy EN44 also states that the District Council will refuse schemes which do not fit comfortably into 
their context.  Structure Plan Policy P7/6 requires Local Planning Authorities to protect and enhance 
the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Castle Camps Parish Council recommends refusal and states: “Castle Camps Planning Committee is 
extremely opposed to this change of use.  The following sentence summarises the main argument for 
refusal:  The post office area is a self contained unit which contains all the features required to run a 
post office – and it should be retained if possible for the benefit of the village – especially after all the 
grant aid used to set it up initially. 
 
“Several of the councillors disagree strongly with the arguments used in the accompanying letter from 
Carter Jonas for change of use dated 2 October 2003, and would draw different conclusions.  For 
example all the arguments in the third paragraph of the letter apply to Horseheath Post Office and yet it 
has managed to survive.  In fact the Postmaster of Horseheath may well be interested in taking over 
Castle Camps Post Office provided the building remains, with all its security and post office facilities, 
and the rent is reasonable.   
 
“Two of the Councillors query whether the application is incomplete.  The residence of Handpost 
Cottage has been divided into three dwellings without planning permission. 
 
“The parking area is inappropriate for this congested part of the High Street.” 
 
The Conservation Manager raises no objection. 
 
The Trees & Landscape Officer raises no objection but states that the extended car parking area should 
be consolidated gravel surface in order to accommodate the adjacent mature trees. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS  

Page 40



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
The occupiers of two properties (Handpost Cottage and No. 12 Claydon Close) object to the proposed 
change of use on the following grounds: the post office is needed; affect on neighbouring properties 
resulting from the extension of the parking area (in terms of outlook, noise and pollution); the extended 
parking area would be alien in respect of the surrounding area; and the proposal does not accord with 
national or local plan policies, including Local Plan Policy SH8. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The shop/post office is the only retail unit in the village.  Its change of use would result in the loss of an 
important village service and a significant reduction in the level of retail/service provision in the 
locality to the detriment of the sustainability and vitality of this Group village.  There is a farm shop at 
Hill Farm, but it only stocks limited lines.  In any case, it is outside the village and there is no footway 
linking the shop and the village.  The submitted marketing details (for a three month period only, 
finishing more than 4½ months before the application was submitted) do not demonstrate to my 
satisfaction that the service is not economically viable.  It is interesting that the property is described as 
a “flourishing post office/village shop” in the sales particulars.  The proposal would also result in the 
loss of employment in the village.   
 
Neighbour impact and parking provision would be acceptable.  Adequate amenity space would be 
provided for the existing and proposed dwellings. 
 
I understand that discussions are continuing to find an alternative site within the village for the post 
office, including the possibility of a post office within the village hall.  However, at present there is no 
certainty as to if and where such a site might be found. 
 
The sub-division of the attached dwelling (referred to by the Parish Council) is being investigated 
separately by the enforcement team. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal (as amended by marketing details and drawing no. 23430/4 date stamped 11.12.03) 
 
The proposal would result in the loss of an important village service and a significant reduction in the 
level of retail/service provision in the locality, to the detriment of the sustainability and vitality of this 
`Group village’ (as defined in the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted 
(December 2003)).  The submitted marketing details (for a three month period only, finishing more 
than 4½ months before the application was submitted) do not demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority that the service is not economically viable.  The proposal would also result in 
the loss of employment in the village.   
 
The proposal is therefore contrary to: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 Policy 
P3/4 which states that Local Planning Authorities will support the vitality of rural communities by 
encouraging the retention of village shopping facilities; South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as 
Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policies SH8 & CS12 which state that planning permission 
will be refused for proposals which involve the loss of a retail unit, post office or village service where 
such loss would cause a significant reduction in the level of community, retail and/or service provision 
in the locality; and Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 Policy H18 and Local Plan No. 2 - 
as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy SE6 which state that residential development 
within the village may involve the conversion of a non-residential building, but only where this would 
not result in a loss of local employment. 
 
 
 

Page 41



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
11. S/2202/03/F - COMBERTON 

HOUSE, LAND ADJ. VINE HOUSE, 26 WEST STREET FOR MR AND MRS FUNGE 
 
Members will visit the site on Monday 2nd February 
 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
This 18m x 48m site comprises the side garden to the east of Vine House, a detached Victorian villa set 
back from the road behind a low brick wall. Vehicular access is on the west side of the house.  There is 
a tall brick built outbuilding at the rear of the Vine House that forms part of the west boundary of the 
application site.  The properties to either side of Vine House, both listed buildings, are set forward, at 
the edge of the footway.  The buildings to the east are situated along the boundary of the site and have 
windows that look out across the site. There is a high wall to the rear of this row of buildings, forming 
the rest of the east boundary.  There are Ash trees at the rear of the site, a large Yew tree plus Holly 
trees at the front and a number of specimen trees in the middle of the garden. 
 
This full application proposes the construction of a two storey four-bedroom house, set well back in the 
site behind the specimen trees.   The application includes the creation of a new vehicular access. 
 
The density equates to 12 dwellings per hectare. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
None relevant to this application. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy SE6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) – allows residential development of up to 8 dwellings on appropriate sites in Group Villages, 
such as Comberton. 
 
Policy EN41 – Development within the curtilage or setting of a Listed Building should not dominate 
the LB or damage its setting. 
 
Policy EN44 – Development in Conservation Areas will be expected to preserve or enhance the special 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
Policy EN6 seeks the retention of trees wherever possible.  
 
These policies reflect Policy P7/6 of the approved Structure Plan 2003 which requires Local Planning 
Authorities to protect and enhance the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Comberton Parish Council recommends approval and comments: 
 
• “A lot of careful thought and design has gone into this application. 
• This application will not have a detrimental effect on the neighbouring properties. 
• The retention of trees is a pleasing bonus 
• This is totally in keeping with the conservation area and appears to be a good use of the 

available plot, while still retaining a good sized garden.” 
 

Page 42



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The Conservation Manager recommends refusal. Although the proposed dwelling is considered to be a 
fine example of modern vernacular and consideration has been given to safeguarding the trees and 
residential amenities of the adjacent Listed Building, little value seems to have been afforded to the 
setting of Vine House or the importance of the site in its undeveloped state.  On balance he considers 
that the advantages forwarded by the applicant are outweighed by the detrimental effect the proposal 
would have on the Conservation Area and setting of the adjacent Listed Building. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer has no objection to the location of the footprint of the house but has 
some concerns regarding the impact of the new access on the Yew tree on the frontage.  The 
construction of the wall will result in root severance and should be omitted and the driveway should 
preferably be moved 2m to the east. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
One letter has been received from the occupier of No. 38 West Street in support of the application. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
Infill development is acceptable in principle provided the site in its present form is not considered 
essential to the character of the area, and subject to there being no adverse impact on neighbour 
amenity.  In addition in this instance a fundamental consideration is the impact of any development on 
the setting of the adjacent Listed Building and on the appearance and character of the Conservation 
Area. 
 
The design of the house is not considered inappropriate to this area and I am satisfied that neighbour 
amenity would not be unduly affected.  The main issue is whether the site should be developed at all. 
 
The site in its present form makes a pleasant open contribution to the otherwise quite closely developed 
street scene, providing views across the site to the Listed Building.   In setting the house well back in 
the site it retains some of that open form.  Nevertheless the scale of the building and its proximity to 
Vine House will make it appear cramped, will adversely affect the setting of Vine House and by so 
doing also affect the setting of the adjacent Listed Building and the appearance and character of the 
Conservation Area.  Refusal is therefore recommended. 
 
As submitted the proposed access would have a detrimental affect on the yew tree at the front of the 
site, a very significant tree in the street scene.  I am expecting an amendment to the application to 
address this issue, but if not received this would be an additional reason of refusal. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refuse for the following reason(s). 
 
1. The proposed development, by reason of the scale of the dwelling and its proximity to Vine 

House, would appear cramped and adversely affect the visual setting of Vine House and by so 
doing adversely affect the setting of the adjacent Listed Building, 14-16 West Street, and the 
appearance and character of the Conservation Area.  As such it would be contrary to Policies 
SE6, EN41 and EN44 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003) and Policy P7/6 of the Approved Structure Plan 2003. 

 
2. The proposed access and new walls at the front of the site would, by reason of their proximity to 

the adjacent Yew tree, cause root damage to the tree to the detriment of its longer term viability.  
The loss of this tree would detract from the appearance of the area and would be contrary to the 
aims of Policy SE6 and EN6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003). 

 
 
 

Page 43



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
12. S/2273/03/F - COMBERTON 

ERECTION OF HOUSE FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUNGALOW 
AND GARAGE 
(2) S/2272/03/CAC 
TOTAL DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUNGALOW AND GARAGE 
4 HINES LANE FOR C B AND P A WALKER 

 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
Members will visit the site on the 2nd February 2004. 
 
 
SITE AND APPLICATIONS 
 
4 Hines Lane is a 1960’s rendered bungalow and garage on a 0.0594 hectare (0.15 acre) on the eastern 
side of the lane set behind a low deciduous hedge. 
 
To the south is a Grade 2 Listed former farmhouse in a large landscaped garden, which fronts onto 
Barton Road.  To the north is a large 2 storey house with an attached garage closest to the site 
boundary.  The housing on the Western side of Hines Lane is of more recent origins and characterised 
by single and 2 storey houses. 
 
The applications, received on the 3rd November 2003, and in the case of application (1) amended on the 
15th January 2004 propose the demolition of the existing bungalow and its replacement with a 2 storey 
4 bedroom dwelling with a detached double garage; The dwelling is “L” shaped, and is sited in a 
similar position to the existing bungalow, albeit with a larger footprint and a small projecting front 
porch.  The garage is sited deeper into the site, the vehicular access remaining unchanged.  The 
dwelling has an 8m ridge height and would be rendered with a pantiled roof. 
 
The density equates to 17 dwellings per hectare. 
 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire Structure Plan 2003 require sustainable design in built development.  
Development should respond to the local character of the built environment. 
 
Policy P7/6 requires Local Planning Authorities to protect and enhance the quality and distinctiveness 
of the historic built environment. 
 
Policy EN44 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No 2 (as Proposed to be Adopted – December 
2003) requires development in Conservation Areas to preserve or enhance its special character and 
appearance.  A similar policy is found in the current 1993 Local Plan. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no relevant planning history. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS (pre-amendment) 
 
Comberton Parish Council objects to the demolition of the bungalow which is within the Conservation 
Area and its replacement is unacceptable by virtue of its design, scale and massing and would have a 
detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the rural lane leading to the recreation ground. 
 

Page 44



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The proposal would have an unbalancing effect on the area, all the other dwellings built within the last 
100 years are single storey and the design is not in anyway in sympathy with the surrounding 
properties.  The plan is inaccurate showing a building (garage) that no longer exists.  The render to the 
front of the building is strangely not carried through to the back. 
 
A verbal report will be made of the latest comments concerning the amended plans. 
 
The Conservation Manager has no objection to the demolition of the bungalow.  The proposed scheme 
for its replacement, in its amended form, reflects the form, building line and materials of the adjacent 
property and no objection is raised to an “L” shape plan.  The separation of the proposed garage from 
the house is a considerable improvement in reducing the bulk of the proposal.   
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer has no objections. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS (pre-amendment) 
 
2 letters of objection have been received; from 2 Hines Lane, which adjoins the site to the south and 29 
Hines Lane. 
 
The owners of 2 Hines Lane are concerned about loss of privacy.  Their rear garden is totally private 
and not overlooked, and has been like this for several hundred years.  Their garden and patio will be 
directly overlooked by the upstairs window proposed and there will be overlooking into the rear 
windows of their house.  The property is a Grade II listed building and should be protected.  Hines 
Lane is rural and only bungalows have been built in the last 100 years.  The plans show a garage on 
their property which no longer exists. 
 
The owners of 29 Hines Lanes consider the demolition of the bungalow as an outrageous waste of 
perfectly good bungalow.  It does not have the appearance of a “40 year old” pre-fab as described by 
the applicants.  It is in good condition, neat and unassuming and sits well in Hines Lane.  Its demolition 
will also be a waste of resources and is against the spirit of environmental conservation that its location 
in the conservation area should uphold.  The 4-bedroom house proposed is also too big for the site, 
leaving insufficient green space around it and a small garden.  This leads to a loss of plants and 
wildlife.  Finally, they object on social grounds – a small home that might be affordable to young 
couples.  The Parish Plan records 71% of local residents desiring new house building to be starter 
homes. 
 
A verbal report will be made of any further comments on the amended plans. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The existing bungalow is of no intrinsic visual or architectural interest and the Conservation Manager 
raises no objections to its removal. 
 
The main issue is whether the replacement 2 storey house proposed would preserve or enhance the 
Conservation Area.  In its amended form, with the garage detached and the whole property rendered 
above a brick plinth, it is considered that a 2 storey dwelling of this pleasing design can be 
accommodated on the plot and will enhance the Conservation Area.  This opinion is informed by the 
existing 2 storey dwellings of similar scale on each side of the plot and the separation from the Listed 
Building (2 Hines Lane) to the south.  The southern plot boundary is about 24m from the rear elevation 
of the listed building and there is some natural screening between the two properties. 
 
The concerns expressed by the owners of 2 Hines Lane relating to overlooking from a first floor 
window have been addressed in the latest amended plans – the window has been deleted. 
 
As a replacement dwelling, within a Conservation area and next to a Listed Building, there are sound 
reasons for accepting a density below 30 dwellings per hectare. 
 
 

Page 45



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
(1) S/2273/03/F Approval, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Standard Condition ‘A’  RCA 
2. No development shall commence until details of the following have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
i) Details of render and colour 
ii) Detail of the roofing materials 
iii) Details of the brick for the plinth and external chimney stack and garage. 
iv) Details of the treatment of the external joinery (ie doors and windows.) 
 
The work shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
(Reason – To ensure the development is in keeping with the character of the Conservation 
Area.) 

 
3. The front boundary hedge shall be retained and protected with appropriate fencing during 

the course of construction. 
(Reason – To ensure the retention of the hedge which will help assimilate the 
development.) 

 
(2) S/2272/03/CAC Approval, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A Standard Condition RCA 
 

2. The demolition, hereby permitted, shall not be undertaken before a contract for the 
carrying out of the works of redevelopment of the site has been made and planning 
permission has been granted for the redevelopment for which the contract provides. 
(Reason – To ensure that redevelopment closely follows the demolition hereby 
permitted.) 

 
 
13. S/2512/03/F - COTTENHAM 

ERECTION OF EXTENSION TO FORM GARAGE AT 10 KINGFISHER WAY FOR 
S HARRIS 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
No 10 Kingfisher Way is a two-storey, end of terrace property with an access drive located to the side 
of the dwelling.   
 
The application received on 16th December 2003, proposes a single storey side extension that will form 
a garage measures 2.65 metres in width and 6.5 metres in length.  The structure is to have a lean to roof 
which will measure 2.2 metres in height where adjacent to the site boundary.  The proposed extension 
will infill the gap between No 10 and 12 Kingfisher Way at ground floor level, but set back some 3.9 
metres from the front of the house. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission was refused in 2002 for the erection of an extension to the side of the property to 
form a garage with a study above with front and rear facing windows at first floor level.  This 
application, ref S/2042/02/F, was refused due to the overlooking potential of the first floor rear facing 
window and the loss of the off-street car parking provision. 
 
This application was amended in 2003 with the rear facing window that served the study being 
removed and a car port being created beneath rather than a garage.  This application, reference 
S/0111/03/F was approved. 

Page 46



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 requires new development to 
respond to the local character of the built environment.   
 
Policy HG17 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) states that extensions and alterations to a dwelling will only be permitted where the design and 
use of materials are in keeping with the local characteristics and would not seriously harm the 
amenities of the neighbours through undue loss of light, privacy or be unduly overbearing. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Cottenham Parish Council recommends refusal as the proposed will alter the street scene to the 
detriment of neighbouring properties whilst there is insufficient space for maintenance access to either 
the new structure or the neighbouring property (No12). 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbour consultation period does not expire until the 2nd February 2004.  At the time of writing 
this report no comments had been received. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issues to be considered in respects to this application are the impact of the extension on the 
residential amenities of the neighbouring property No 12 Kingfisher Way, the character and appearance 
of the dwelling and the provision of sufficient off-street car parking spaces. 
 
Whilst No 12 Kingfisher Way has no flank elevation windows, rear-facing windows are present in a 
small single storey extension located to the rear of this property.  Despite the proposed structure 
extending 2.4 metres beyond this rear extension, it is considered that due to the limited height and 
hipped roof design of the garage the rear facing windows will not be adversely affected by the 
proposal.  As the garage is single storey, the height, mass and potential overshadowing affect of the 
proposed is considerably less than that of the one and half storey extension granted permission in 2003 
reference S/0111/03/F.   
 
The erection of a garage to the side of property will partly infill the undeveloped space at ground floor 
level currently provided between No 10 and 12 Kingfisher Way.  As the structure is single storey it is 
not considered that the enclosure of this gap at ground floor level would be to the detriment of the 
character and appearance of the street scene.  Again reference should be made to the increased height 
and bulk of the previously approved extension (reference S/0111/03/F) when considering this issue.  It 
is also set back so that views of it from the street will be extremely limited.  
 
Whilst the garage measures 2.6 metres in width, it is considered that this is sufficient to enable the 
structure to be used as a garage.  As the extension is to be located on the driveway it is however 
considered necessary to ensure that the use of the garage is maintained for the parking of vehicles.  
This can be conditioned as part of a planning approval. 
 
The issue of maintenance raised by the Parish Council is not a material consideration.  
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposed extension complies with the requirements of Policy 
HG17 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003). 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval 
 

Page 47



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 

1. Standard Condition ‘A’ – five year implementation (RCA) 
 
2. SC19 – matching materials (RC19) 

 
3. SC44 – Use of garage. 

Reason – In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 

14. S/1409/03/O & S/1410/03/O - DUXFORD 
S/1409/03/O - RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT (AFFORDABLE HOUSING) ON LAND 
OFF LACEY’S WAY FOR MR J HILBERY & CAMBRIDGE HOUSING SOCIETY 
S/1410/03/O - ERECTION OF 4 DWELLINGS AND GARAGES FOLLOWING 
DEMOLITION OF COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS ON LAND OFF MOORFIELD ROAD 
FOR MR J HILBERY 

 
 
Members will visit the sites on Monday 2nd February 2004. 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
This site extends to 0.18 hectares/0.44 acres approximately and forms part of a meadow/field bounded 
by gappy hedges and tree planting.  Fields extend to the north and west.  Development accessed from 
Moorfield Road is located to the east.  Lacey’s Way to the south is a mix of two-storey and single 
storey dwellings, formerly Council-owned but now a mix of Council and privately owned.  No.60 is a 
detached bungalow with a blank gable facing the site.  No.62 is a two-storey house with an attached 
single garage on the side parallel to the road. 
 
This outline application, received on the 26th June 2003 and amended by plan date stamped the 28th 
October 2003, proposes the erection of affordable housing on the site.  The number of dwellings to be 
erected is not specified.  Means of access would be from a realigned Lacey’s Way, but all matters are 
reserved for subsequent approval.  An indicative layout plan submitted depicts three pairs of semi-
detached dwellings. 
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 
 
The site extends to 0.36 hectares/0.9 acres (including the access) and is occupied by storage and office 
buildings associated with the turf farm business currently run from the site.  A public footpath runs 
east-west to the north of the site with fields to the north beyond.  A field extends to the south and west.  
Residential properties which share the existing access to the site from Moorfield Road are located to 
the east.  The site is bounded by close boarded fencing on the east, south and west sides.  A chain 
linked fence and planting marks the northern boundary. 
 
This outline application, also received on the 26th June 2003, proposes the erection of 4 dwellings and 
garages following the demolition of the existing commercial buildings on the site.  Means of access 
would be from Moorfield Road, but all matters are reserved for subsequent approval.  The proposed 
density equates to 11 dwellings per hectare.  An indicative layout plan submitted depicts four detached 
dwellings with garages plus a new garage to serve the mobile home to the south of the site as the 
garaging currently attached to the office building would be lost.   
 
 

Page 48



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
RECENT HISTORY 
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
An outline application for residential development on a larger site than the application site was 
withdrawn prior to determination (S/0596/89/O). 
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 
 
Planning permission was granted in 2000 to use the existing buildings for B1 and/or B8 use 
(S/1830/00/F). 
 
Outline permission to replace the mobile home adjacent to the site with a bungalow was refused under 
reference S/0100/95/O partly because the site included land outside the village framework. 
 
Outline planning permission for residential development on the site and the adjacent field was refused 
partly because most of the site was outside the village framework (S/2276/89/O).  A previous 
application for residential development on this land was withdrawn (S/0595/89/O). 
 
Permission for a materials store for the turfing business was refused in 1986 (S/0644/86/F).  A 
subsequent application for materials and equipment store was approved under reference S/1379/86/F. 
 
Permission for a mobile home was granted under reference S/1092/81/F and S/0057/85/F. 
 
Planning permission for the erection of garages and workshop for repair of horticultural machinery was 
granted in 1977 under reference S/1192/77/F.  
 
Permission was granted in 1977 for demolition of existing office/garage and erection of office/machine 
store (S/1660/76/F). 
 
 
POLICY 
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
The site is within the countryside as defined in the Adopted Local Plan 1993 and South Cambridgeshire 
Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003), but adjoining the village framework.   
 
Structure Plan 2003 Policy P1/2 states that development will be restricted in the countryside unless the 
proposals can be demonstrated to be essential in a particular rural location. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy H23 states that within or adjoining villages planning permission may 
be granted for housing contrary to policies of the Local Plan where: it would secure the provision of 
low-cost housing to meet identified local needs; the scale, size and mix meet the identified need; and 
the development would not damage village character or the surrounding countryside.  South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy HG11 states 
that planning permission may be granted for housing contrary to other Policies of the Local Plan where 
it would secure 100% affordable housing; the development meets identified local need; the size, design, 
mix and tenure meet the identified need; the development is of a scale appropriate to the size and 
character of the village; the site is well-related to the village; and the development does not damage 
village character or the surrounding countryside. 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy CS13 
states that where planning permission is granted for residential development of 4 or more dwellings, 
financial contributions will be sought towards the provision of additional permanent or temporary 
accommodation in those cases where the new development would cause the planning capacity of 
permanent buildings at the local primary and secondary schools to be exceeded during the 5 years 
following the date of the application. 
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 

Page 49



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
The site is within the village framework of Duxford, which is a Group Village as defined in the 
Adopted 1993 Local Plan and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted 
(December 2003). 
 
Adopted Local Plan Policy H18 states that the redevelopment of an existing built site for residential 
purposes will normally be limited to groups and infilling where this would not result in a loss of local 
employment and provided that the site does not form an essential part of village character, and 
development is sympathetic to the character and amenities of the locality. 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy SE6 
states that residential development and redevelopment up to a maximum scheme size of 8 dwellings 
will be permitted within the village frameworks of Group Villages provided that the retention of the 
site in its present form is not essential to the character of the village, the development would be 
sensitive to the character of the village and the amenities of neighbours, and the village has the 
necessary infrastructure capacity; and development would not conflict with another policy of the plan, 
particularly policy EM9.  The Policy also states that development may exceptionally consist of up to 15 
dwellings if this would make the best use of a brownfield site and all developments should provide an 
appropriate mix of dwelling sizes, type and affordability. 
 
Adopted Local Plan Policy E9 and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003) Policy EM9 state that, other than uses that are causing a nuisance by virtue 
of noise, smell, or traffic generation, the conversion, change of use or redevelopment of employment 
sites within villages for residential use will – not normally be permitted (Adopted Plan) / be resisted 
(Local Plan 2). Policy EM9 continues by stating …unless it can be demonstrated that the site is 
inappropriate for any employment use to continue having regard to market demand. 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy HG9 
states that the District Council will negotiate to secure up to 50% of the total number of dwellings 
reasonably capable of being constructed on each site in villages of less than 3000 population, which 
includes Duxford, to be affordable dependant upon the level of clearly identified local need, although 
higher or lower percentages may be agreed in the light of factors such as proximity to local services; 
access to public transport; the particular costs associated with the development; and whether or not the 
provision of affordable housing would prejudice other planning objectives warranting greater priority 
in the particular case.  
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy CS13 is 
relevant – see above (S/1409/03/O). 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
Duxford Parish Council recommends approval. 
 
The Council’s Acting Research & Development Officer in Housing supports the proposal. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer recommends conditions relating to the times during the 
construction period when power operated machinery shall not be operated and the need to agree a 
construction method statement if driven pile foundations are to be used are attached to any approval.  
He also recommends an informative relating to bonfires and burning of waste is attached to any 
approval. 
 
The Local Highway Authority raises no objections. 
 
County Archaeology recommends a condition requiring the commissioning and undertaking of a 
programme of investigation is attached to any approval. 
 

Page 50



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The Environment Agency recommends a condition relating to surface water drainage is attached to any 
approval. 
 
Anglian Water has no objections in principle but recommends that details of surface and foul water 
drainage are agreed and Cambridge Water Company is consulted on the application. 
 
Cambridge Water Company states that it has no comments. 
 
Cambs Fire & Rescue Service confirms that additional water supplies for firefighting are not required. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer commented on the amended illustrative scheme stating that 
the proposed layout would appear to allow for open frontages which will assist with natural 
surveillance, the car parking is largely in curtilage and would benefit from windows/doors in the side 
elevations, there may be some problems of ‘ownership’ of the three parking spaces, but in general the 
layout is one which Secured by Design principles might be accommodated in any subsequent 
application.  
 
The Chief Financial Officer at the County Council was consulted but no comments were received. 
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 
 
Duxford Parish Council recommends approval “in principle subject to the following condition:-  That 
the access onto Moorfield Road is acceptable to the Highways Authority.” 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer recommends conditions relating to the times during the 
construction period when power operated machinery shall not be operated and the need to agree a 
construction method statement if driven pile foundations are to be used.  He also requested additional 
information with regards to the history of the site in order to determine if there is a likelihood of 
contamination of the land from the previous use. 
 
The Local Highway Authority has indicated that the junction of the access road with Moorfield Road 
has restricted visibility to the north and the daily traffic movements of any residential development of 
the land must not exceed that which is currently associated with the existing use.  It also confirms that 
this would equate to a maximum of four residential units. 
 
The Environment Agency recommends a surface water drainage condition is attached to any approval 
and makes advisory comments. 
 
County Archaeology recommends a condition requiring the commissioning and undertaking of a 
programme of investigation is attached to any approval. 
 
Anglian Water and the Chief Financial Officer at the County Council were consulted but no comments 
were received. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
The occupiers of Nos. 60, 62 and 66 Lacey’s Way object to the amended site area on the following 
grounds: 
 
• Lacey’s Way and the proposed road are not suitable as the access to serve the proposed 

development and the additional traffic that would be generated; 
 
• More work than indicated on the submitted plans, including improvements to the junction of 

Lacey’s Way and St John’s Road, would be required; 
 
• The 3 and 4 bedroom houses shown on the indicative plans would not fall into the ‘affordable 

housing’ category; 

Page 51



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
• The re-siting of the car parking spaces in Lacey’s Way would require residents of the 

bungalows, most of whom are confined to wheelchairs or walk with the aid of a stick, to cross a 
road; 

 
• Insufficient car parking is indicated for the proposed dwellings; 
 
• The site is outside the village framework and the proposal is therefore contrary to policy; 
 
• A integrated scheme with that on Hunts Road would be considerably better; 
 
• Proposal would be out of keeping with the character of this part of the estate; 
 
• Noise and nuisance to existing residents.   
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 
 
None. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
These two applications are linked insofar as the applicant is seeking to erect four market houses on the 
Moorfield Road site (rather than two market house and two affordable units as Local Plan Policy would 
normally require) by providing land off Lacey’s Way for affordable units that he says would not 
otherwise come forward.  I am satisfied that the Lacey’s Way site could provide 6 units.  The net effect 
of adding the Lacey’s Way scheme to the proposal is therefore that there would be two more market 
dwellings but four more affordable units than would be provided by developing the Moorfield Road 
site alone.  Whilst this is an unusual situation, in this instance, I consider that there are clear planning 
gains to be made from departing from the normal practice of requiring up to 50% of the dwellings on 
the Moorfield Road site to be affordable.  It will however be important to tie the development of the 
Moorfield Road site to the provision/delivery of the Lacey’s Way site by Legal Agreement. 
 
The Moorfield Road site is currently in commercial use and Local Plan policies would normally resist 
the loss of employment unless the use was causing a nuisance by virtue of noise, smell, or traffic 
generation or it could be demonstrated that the site is inappropriate for any employment use to continue 
having regard to market demand.  In this regard, the agent states that: the existing business is moving to 
Huntingdon; the current use involves the storage of vehicles and equipment and, apart from the office 
which is manned by the applicant, there is little work undertaken on the site; there has been a lack of 
interest in response to the marketing exercise in relation to the 2000 B1(business)/B8 (storage and 
distribution) permission; and, whilst the nature of the applicant’s activity has not created problems, a 
different employment activity has the potential to cause nuisance and disturbance and such concerns 
have been expressed by neighbours in the past.  Having carefully considered these points, and 
conscious that there has been a recent over supply of B1 permissions/buildings in the District, I 
consider that the loss of employment is not reason to refuse the Moorfield Road application. 
 
The Parish Council initially expressed some concern about the suitability of Lacey’s Way to serve the 
affordable units.  Following discussions and an assessment of other possible points of access, including 
the Moorfield Road access and Greenacres, the Parish Council now recommends approval of both 
applications.  In my opinion, having regard to the comments of the Local Highway Authority, the 
proposed accesses to both sites would be acceptable.  I also consider that detailed schemes could be 
prepared that would not unduly affect the amenity of neighbours and would provide for adequate 
private amenity space, parking provision and appropriate boundary treatments/landscaping.  Given its 
size, I would normally expect the Moorfield Road to provide for more than 4 dwellings.  However, in 
view of the Local Highway Authority’s concerns in relation to visibility to the north at the junction of 
the access road with Moorfield Road, four dwellings would be appropriate in this instance. 
 
In view of the above, I am satisfied that 4 market dwellings on the Moorfield Road site (which is within 
the village framework) and affordable housing on the Lacey’s Way site (which is outside but adjacent 
to the village framework and well-related to village) would be acceptable in principle.  

Page 52



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
An Affordable Housing Panel is to be arranged prior to the Committee meeting.  The outcome will be 
reported verbally. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
S/1409/03/O Lacey’s Way 
 
Subject to no objections being raised by the Affordable Housing Panel and the prior signing of a Legal 
Agreement to ensure that all the housing is ‘affordable’ and secured in perpetuity for that purpose: 
 
Approval 
 
1. Standard outline condition 1 a, b, c (and car parking for existing and proposed residents) & d – 

RC1; 
 
2. Standard outline time condition B – RCB; 
 
3. Standard condition 52 ‘Implementation of landscaping’ – RC52; 
 
4. Standard condition 60 ‘Boundary treatments’ – RC60; 
 
5. Standard condition 5f ‘Materials to be used for hard surfaces areas’ – RC To ensure the 

satisfactory appearance of the development; 
  
6. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the provision and implementation of 

surface and foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works/scheme shall be constructed and completed in accordance with 
the approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be specified in the approved scheme – 
RC To ensure satisfactory methods of surface water drainage (to prevent the increased risk of 
flooding) and foul water drainage; 

 
7. Standard condition 66 ‘Archaeological evaluation’ – RC66; 
 
8. Standard condition 26 ‘Times when power operated machinery shall not be operated during the 

construction period’ (0800, 0800, 1800, 1300) – RC26 
 
Informatives: 
 
During construction, there  shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site except with the prior 
permission of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in accordance with best practice and existing 
waste management legislation. 
 
Should driven pile foundations be proposed, before development commences, a statement of the 
method for construction of these foundations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer; development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved method statement. 
 
 
S/1410/03/O Moorfield Road 
 
Subject to no objections being raised by the Chief Environmental Health Officer in terms of possible 
contamination of the land, no objections being raised by the Affordable Housing Panel in relation to 
application S/1409/03/O and the prior signing of a Legal Agreement to tie the development of this site 
to the provision/delivery of the Lacey’s Way site: 
Approval 
 
1. Standard outline condition 1 a, b, c & d – RC1; 
 

Page 53



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
2. Standard outline time condition B – RCB; 
 
3. Standard condition 52 ‘Implementation of landscaping’ – RC52; 
 
4. Standard condition 60 ‘Boundary treatments’ – RC60; 
 
5. Standard condition 5f ‘Materials to be used for hard surfaces areas’ – RC To ensure the 

satisfactory appearance of the development; 
 
6. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the provision and implementation of 

surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The works/scheme shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the 
approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be specified in the approved scheme – RC 
To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage to prevent the increased risk of 
flooding; 

 
7. Standard condition 66 ‘Archaeological evaluation’ – RC66; 
 
8. Standard condition 26 ‘Times when power operated machinery shall not be operated during the 

construction period’ (0800, 0800, 1800, 1300) – RC26; 
 
9. Any condition(s) recommended by the Chief Environmental Health Officer in relation to 

possible contamination of the land. 
 
Informatives: 
 
During construction, there  shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site except with the prior 
permission of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in accordance with best practice and existing 
waste management legislation. 
 
Should driven pile foundations be proposed, before development commences, a statement of the 
method for construction of these foundations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer; development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved method statement. 
 
 
15. S/2523/03/F - FOWLMERE 

REPLACEMENT DWELLING, NORTH GROVE, FOR M WEZTL 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
North Grove, Long Lane, Fowlmere is a detached bungalow to the north of the main village.  It is 
prominently located outside the village framework and is the first property on the west side of Long 
Lane heading north.  Opposite the site are a detached bungalow and a house.  To the north of the site 
are the grounds of Lower Farm, a Grade II Listed Building to the rear of which are two residential 
dwellings formed by barn conversions.  There is existing planting on the northern boundary. 
 
This full application, registered on 17th December 2003, proposes the demolition of the existing 
bungalow and the erection of a 5-bedroom detached house with a main ridge height of 8 metres in a 
similar position to the existing building.  The ridge height of the existing bungalow is less than 5 
metres. 
 
 

Page 54



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy H28 of the Approved South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 states that the replacement of an 
existing dwelling in the countryside will not normally be permitted where it is derelict and incapable of 
being re-inhabited without carrying out works requiring planning permission or is no longer in 
existence. 
 
Policy H30 of the 1993 Local Plan states that where a replacement dwelling is permitted it will be on 
the basis that it is in scale and character with the dwelling it is intended to replace and would not 
materially change the impact of the site on the surrounding countryside. 
 
Policy HG21 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) states that proposals for the replacement of a dwelling in the countryside will be permitted where 
the proposed dwelling is in scale and character with the dwelling it is intended to replace and, the 
proposed replacement dwelling would not materially increase the impact of the site on the surrounding 
countryside.  The text to that policy advises that there should be a maximum increase in volume of 
15%. 
 
There is no equivalent policy to Policy H28 Local Plan No2. 
 
Policy P7/6 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 seeks to protect and enhance 
the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
Policy C24 of the Approved South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 states that when considering 
applications near to a listed buildings the District Council will take into account the effect on its setting. 
 
Policy EN41 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) seeks to resist applications that, amongst other criteria, would dominate the listed building or its 
curtilage buildings in scale, form, massing or appearance; would damage the setting, well-being or 
attractiveness of a listed buildings. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Fowlmere Parish Council recommends approval.  “The Committee is happy in principle but would like 
to stipulate that the brickwork and roof should both be of a light colour – definitely not red.  An 
alternative suggested outside finish would be for the walls to be rendered in keeping with existing 
properties in the area.  They have concerns with regard to drainage and believe that a proper 
purification system should be installed and not just a septic tank.  This is due to a history of flooding in 
the area.” 
 
The comments of the Conservation Manager and Chief Environmental Health Officer will be reported 
verbally. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
One letter has been received from the occupiers of Rose End, Long Lane, one of the converted barns to 
the west of the site registering the following concerns: 
 
a) A two-storey building will overlook the property much more than the existing one-storey 

dwelling – a single storey building would be preferred. 
 
b) If the application is approved it is requested that the mature birch trees on the north side of the 

property are preserved in order to retain a level of privacy. 
 
c) The existing bungalow contains asbestos.  It is requested that there is a requirement for this to be 

removed by a specialist contractor to avoid asbestos dust contaminating the surrounding land as 
a result of a careless demolition. 

PLANNING COMMENTS 

Page 55



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
The existing bungalow is modest in scale (approximately 147sq metres footprint) although prominently 
located, particularly when approaching from the south.  The proposed replacement two-storey 
dwelling, (approximately 273 sq metre gross external floorspace), the main ridge height of which is 
approximately 3 metres higher than the existing bungalow, is not in scale and character with that 
dwelling and would materially increase the impact of the site on the surrounding countryside.  As a 
result the proposal materially conflict with the aims of the Local Plan. 
 
The comments of the Conservation Manager in respect of the impact of the replacement dwelling on 
the setting of the adjacent Listed Building, and those of the Chief Environmental Health Officer will be 
reported. 
 
Any overlooking of the property to the north west could be resolved.  It is not considered to be a 
determining factor in this case. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refuse for the following reason: 
 
The proposed demolition of the existing bungalow and replacement by a two-storey dwelling is 
unacceptable in that the replacement dwelling is not in scale or character with the dwelling it is 
intended to replace and as a result would materially increase the impact of the site on the surrounding 
countryside contrary to the aims of Policy H30 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 and 
Policy HG21 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003). 
 
 
16. S/0011/04/F - FULBOURN 

ERECTION OF CAR PORT EXTENSION TO GARAGE, 31 CHERRY ORCHARD 
FOR MR WILKINSON 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
This two-storey property is located on a corner of Cherry Orchard and has a detached double garage 
located at the end of an enclosed garden. 
 
The application, received on 6th January 2004, proposes a carport to be located to the front of the 
garage.  It will measure 2.6 metres in length and 5.3 metres in width.  The carport will be constructed 
from stained softwood and translucent plastic sheeting. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission was granted in 1989 and 2002 for extensions to the dwelling reference 
S/2641/89/F and S/1237/02/F respectively. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 states that a high standard of 
design and sustainability should be adopted for all new forms of development. 
 
Policy HG17 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 and 2003) sets out 
criteria against which extensions to dwellings within the Village Framework should be assessed. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 

Page 56



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Fulbourn Parish Council raised an objection to the proposed development as the car port is not in 
keeping with the estate nor are the materials proposed. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The consultation period for this application does not expire until the 3rd February 2004.  At the time of 
writing this report no comments had been received. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issue to consider in respect of this application is the impact of the proposed development on 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  Given the size and location of the proposed 
carport, it is considered that this structure will have no adverse impact on the residential amenities of 
nearby properties. 
 
The carport is modest in size and given the location of the garage it is considered that the proposed will 
have a negligible impact on the character and appearance of Cherry Orchard.   While the plastic 
covering does not have any architectural merit, it is not considered that the two supporting post and 
translucent sheeting will significantly alter the appearance of the garage. 
 
The applicant’s daughter is severely disabled and has provided some supporting information justifying 
the need for this covered area in front of the garage.  It is stated that the driveway is not conducive to 
safe wheelchair transfers into a car particularly in wet weather.  Whilst personal circumstances cannot 
be considered as a material consideration to this application, given the extent of the development, it is 
not considered that a refusal of permission can be justified. 
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposed carport complies with the requirements of Policy 
HG17 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003). 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval 
 
1. Standard Condition ‘A’ – five year implementation (RCA) 
 
  
17. S/2561/03/F - FULBOURN 

ERECTION OF AN EXTENSION AND OUTBUILDING, HIND LODERS HOUSE 
FOR MR AND MRS MASON 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
Hind Loders House is a two-storey property located at the eastern end of Stonebridge Lane.  The 
property is set well back from the lane and is located adjacent the open countryside outside of the 
Village Framework of Fulbourn. 
 
The application, received on 19th December 2003, proposes a two-storey side extension west of the 
main dwelling.  It measures 7.2 metres in width and 9.3 metres in depth.  The structure extends out to 
the front of the property providing a dining room, utility room and carport at ground floor level while 
two additional bedrooms and a bathroom are proposed at first floor level.  This extension involves the 
demolition of the existing single garage and partial demolition of the outbuilding located to the rear of 
the site. 
 
The application also proposes an out building to be located to the front of the dwelling.  It measures a 
total of 15.9 metres in length and at its widest will measure 6.3 metres, and with a height of 5.0m.  The 
structure is ‘T’ shaped and will provide a carport, garage and barn. 

Page 57



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission was granted in 1962 for a front entrance porch, reference C/800/62 and in 1981 
for a rear conservatory, reference S/1598/81/F.  An application was refused and the appeal later 
dismissed in 1986 for the erection of a listed cottage, reference S/0409/86/O.  Planning permission was 
also granted in 1988 for the erection of games room reference S/1692/88/F however it would not 
appear that this permission was implemented.  
 
 
POLICY 
 
The site is located within the Green Belt. 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 states that a high standard of 
design and sustainability should be adopted for all new forms of development.  Policy P9/2a precludes 
new development in the Green Belt unless required for agriculture, forestry, outdoor sport, cemeteries 
or other uses appropriate to a rural area. 
 
Policy H31 of the Adopted Local Plan 1993 and Policy HG18 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
No.2 – as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) sets out criteria against which extensions to 
dwellings in the countryside should be assessed. 
 
Policy GB2 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 and 2003) states that 
there is a strong presumption against inappropriate forms of development within the Green Belt.  
Where considered appropriate the policy states that new development including extensions to dwellings 
must be located and designed so as not to adversely affect the rural nature or openness of the Green 
Belt. 
 
Planning Policy Guidance 2, “Green Belts”, states that the extension of existing dwellings is not 
inappropriate in green belts provided that it does not result in disproportionate additions over and above 
the size of the original building. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Fulbourn Parish Council recommends approval 
 
The Conservation Manager comments will be reported verbally to the Committee 
 
Trees and Landscape Officer’s comments: 
 
“The extension to the dwelling will result in the loss of a poor quality willow – no objection. 
 
The outbuilding will however result in loss of young ash of mediocre quality but also compromise the 
hedgerow/trees on the eastern boundary consisting mainly of Holly, Acers and Wild Privet.  I would 
object to the proposal on the basis of this loss.” 

 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The consultation period for this application does not expire until the 27th January 2004.  At the time of 
writing the report no comments had been received. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issues to consider in relation to this application are the impact of the development on the 
Green Belt and open countryside, the impact of the extension and outbuilding on the surrounding 

Page 58



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
properties and the design and appearance of the proposed in relation to the character and appearance of 
the dwelling. 
 
While the dwelling is located within close proximity of the site boundary, the proposed extension and 
outbuilding will have no impact on nearby properties.  The extension is located more than 20 metres 
away from the nearest neighbouring property to the west, No 16 Stonebridge Lane, while the 
outbuilding is located more than 45 metres away.  There are no overlooking windows in the west 
elevation. 
 
In terms of the impact of the proposal on the Green Belt and open countryside, the dwelling has been 
extended in the past.  The modest sized porch and conservatory however have little impact on the 
surrounding area.  The proposed extension will extend the property right up to the west boundary of the 
site.  While the extension continues the ridgeline of the dwelling, it is considered that the proposal is 
overly large and in terms of the floor area that would be created is inappropriate given the sites 
inclusion within the Green Belt and open countryside.   
 
In addition to the porch and conservatory previously added, the proposed extension would represent a 
71% increase in the floor area of the original property.  Such an increase is considered out of scale in 
respect to the floor area of the original dwelling.  Whilst the extension would require the demolition of 
a single detached garage and the partial demolition of the outhouse, the physical mass of the proposal is 
significantly greater. 
 
While the proposed extension continues the ridgeline of main dwelling, the proposed extension fails to 
respect the simplistic appearance of the dwelling.  The first floor projections create a cluttered 
appearance on the front of the house. 
 
This application also seeks consent for a large outbuilding alongside the east boundary.  Given the 
scale of this structure and its location, the outbuilding will visually appear like an extension to the 
dwelling and will contribute to the more built up appearance of the site.  While it may be argued that 
this structure is an outbuilding, the garaging and barn measures 4.9 metres in height, just 1 metre less 
than the thatched wing of the dwelling located directly to the rear.  The footprint of the proposed 
outbuilding is also of a similar size to that of the original dwelling, (pre extensions) – 83.2 m2 
compared to 98m2.  It is therefore considered that the outbuilding fails to respect the scale and character 
of the dwelling and would represent a further intrusion within the Green Belt  
 
While planning permission was granted and has since lapsed for a replacement outbuilding to the rear 
of the dwelling, (S/1692/88/F), this structure was both smaller and better related to the dwelling and 
was granted consent prior to the adoption of current Green Belt policies.  This is therefore not material 
to the consideration of this application. 
 
There are a number of tall mature trees located within the site.  It is stated on the plans that the Ash tree 
located in front of the garage is to be retained.  The Trees and Landscape Officer states that the 
proposed outbuildings would result in the loss of this tree and also compromise the hedgerow/trees 
located along the eastern boundary of the site, objections to which were raised. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal 
 
1. The proposed extension by virtue of its scale and mass is regarded as an inappropriate form of 

development in the Green Belt that would adversely affect the openness and rural nature of the 
Green Belt and surrounding open countryside.    

Page 59



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 

The proposed extension has a floor area of approximately 122sqm, which, in addition to the floor 
area of the previously built extensions would represent a 71% increase in the floor area of the 
original dwelling.  Such an increase is considered out of scale to the detriment of the openness of 
the Green Belt. 

 
The proposed outbuilding that will measure a total of 15.9 metres in length and 6.4 metres in width 
will further increase the built up appearance of the site, significantly increasing the intrusive nature 
of the proposal.  While outbuildings should be designed so as to appear subsidiary to the main 
dwelling the footprint of the proposed outbuilding, (83.2 m2) is just 14.8 m2 less the footprint of 
the original house, (98m2). 
 
The proposed extension and outbuilding are therefore contrary to Policy P9/2a of the Approved 
Structure Plan 2003, Policy H31 of the Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 and 
Policies GB2 and HG18 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 – as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003). 
 

2. The proposed extension fails to respect the simplistic appearance of the dwelling while the 
proposed first floor projections create an over complicated and cluttered appearance which is 
considered detrimental to the character and appearance of the dwelling. 
 
The proposed extension is therefore contrary to Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Structure Plan 2003, Policy H31 of the Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
1993 and Policy HG18 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 – as Proposed to be Adopted 
(December 2003). 
 

3. The proposed outbuilding would result in the loss of a young Ash Tree and compromise the 
hedgerow/trees located along the eastern boundary of the site consisting mainly of Holly, Acer and 
Wild Privet, to the detriment of the character and appearance of the site. 

 
 The proposed outbuilding is therefore contrary to Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Structure Plan 2003. 
 
 

18. S/0141/01/O - GAMLINGAY 
TWO DWELLINGS, LAND REAR OF 32 MILL STREET (OFF SCHOOL CLOSE) 
FOR EXECUTORS OF MR S CROSS 

 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The approximate 0.244 hectare site, which contains a number of trees and run-down outbuildings, lies 
to the west of Mill Street, to the rear of No. 32. The Conservation Area boundary approximately bisects 
it, running north-south. It sits at a slightly higher level than surrounding land. 
 
The Outline application, received on 23rd January 2001 proposed the erection of 4 detached houses with 
matters of siting, design, means of access and landscaping to be reserved. 
 
A number of amendments have been received designed to demonstrate that 4 houses could be 
accommodated on the site. However during the consideration of these the applicant passed away and 
the matter has been unresolved for some time. The executors of the deceased have amended the 
application to 2 dwellings with matters of siting, design, means of access and landscaping to be 
reserved. The indicative layout plan shows 2 houses that are essentially outside of the Conservation 
Area boundary. 
 
 

Page 60



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
HISTORY 
 
Outline permission was granted in July 1985 for two dwellings on a site that includes the site for 
dwelling no. 1, on the indicative layout plan, and the dwelling immediately to the west (later erected 
under Full planning permission). 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Gamlingay is identified as a Limited Rural Growth Settlement in the Adopted Local Plan and South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) where housing groups 
and infilling will normally be permitted where suitable sites exist. It has a population in excess of 3000. 
 
Policy P5/5 of the Approved Structure Plan 2003 presumes in favour of small scale housing 
developments in villages. 
 
Policy HG9 of the Local Plan No. 2 sets out the Affordable Housing policies. It requires a proportion of 
affordable housing in residential developments of more than 10 dwellings on land within the 
framework of any village of more than 3000 population. 
 
Policies H24 of the 1993 Local Plan and HG15 of the Local Plan No. 2 state that residential 
developments will be required to contain a mix of units providing accommodation in a range of types, 
sizes and affordability, making the best use of the site and promoting a sense of community which 
reflects local needs. The design and layout of schemes should be informed by the wider character and 
context of the local landscape and townscape. Schemes should also achieve high quality design and 
distinctiveness. The supporting text to the latter policy states that, in line with the guidance set out 
within Planning Policy Guidance Note No.3 (Housing) and within the Structure Plan, new residential 
development should be constructed at a density of 30-50/hectare in order to make best use of land. 
 
Policy EN44 of the Local Plan No. 2 states, in part, that “Proposals will be expected to preserve or 
enhance the special character and appearance of Conservation Areas especially in terms of their scale, 
massing, roof materials and wall materials. The District Council will refuse permission for schemes 
which do not specify traditional local materials and details and which do not fit comfortably into their 
context.” 
 
This reflects Policy P7/6 of the Approved Structure Plan 2003 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Current Scheme 
Gamlingay Parish Council has recommended approval. It states: “Approved – On the understanding 
that due to the rise of the land and amenity of the neighbours, any buildings should be Bungalows” 
 
Trees and Landscape Officer states: “This application provides for the retention of more trees on the 
site and is preferable to previous schemes.” 
 
Conservation Manager states: 
 

“Background 
The application was originally for 4 No. dwellings, with part of the site within the 
Conservation Area, although the majority of the site lies outside the Conservation Area. 
 
The application has subsequently been revised down to 2 No. dwellings and the site area 
reduced, such that it no longer overlaps the Conservation Area. The application is for outline 
only, and while a detailed site plan has been submitted, all matters have been reserved for 
subsequent approval. 
 

Page 61



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 

Recommendation 
The Conservation Manager has no objection in principle to the development of 2 dwellings on 
this site, but due to the site’s location immediately adjacent to the Conservation Area, the 
Conservation Section would wish to be consulted on the detailed design when approval of 
reserved matters is sought.” 

 
Original Scheme for 4 dwellings 
Gamlingay Parish Council had recommended approval. 
 
Cambridgeshire County Archaeology Officer notes that the site lies in an area of high archaeological 
potential in the historic village of Gamlingay. He considers that the sited should be subject to a 
programme of archaeological investigation and recommends that this work should be commissioned 
and undertaken at the expense of the developer. 
 
Conservation Manager states: “The site is quite well screened from Mill Street and is a natural 
continuation of School Close so there is no objection to the principle of development on the site. 
 
Conservation Manager further comments highlight the historical nature of the site as a farmyard to No. 
32 and, whilst not objecting to development per se, feels that the open and informal appearance of the 
site needs to be retained and the historical and aesthetical strong links between the outbuildings, the 
garden land and the farm house, No. 32, should be reflected in any detailed scheme. 
 
Anglian Water has no objection but requests conditions to adequately address the treatment of foul and 
surface water drainage. 
 
Trees and Landscape Officer stated that there are a number of mature and smaller trees on the site, 
many of which would inevitably be lost but in general would be unreasonable to expect their retention. 
The only tree of concern was a semi-mature cedar which it was stated does add significantly to the 
amenity value of the site. 
 
Chief Environmental Health Officer has no objections subject to conditions to protect the occupiers of 
nearby dwellings from unacceptable noise and disturbance during the period of construction of the 
dwellings. 
 
Two alternative layouts for 4 dwellings 
Trees and Landscape Officer states: “TPO has been served on the Cedar, Walnut and Group of 3 (in the 
south west corner)”. Further detailed comments were made in relation to the detail of the layouts. 
 
Conservation Manager comments on the detailed layout for these schemes and suggests a number of 
modifications. 
 
Formal amended layout for 4 dwellings. 
Gamlingay Parish Council recommends refusal and states: 
 

“1. The Parish Council does not regard this as an amended application because it is so 
different from the original which we approved. We understood that the ‘amendment’ has been 
requested by the Conservation Officer to resemble a farmyard. However this area was part of 
an orchard and was never a farm. 
 
2. The original application angled the new buildings so that they did not overlook existing 
properties. This ‘amendment’ shows buildings right up to the boundaries and will impact 
unacceptably on surrounding properties. 
 
3. We are also concerned about the height differential and the visual impact this will have 
from Mill Street (Conservation Area).” 

 
Trees and Landscape Officer states: “The layout compromises the Horse Chestnut tree (plot 1) and the 
Cedar (plot 3). Can the footprint be adjusted to accommodate them? 
 
Conservation Manager recommends approval subject to conditions regarding materials. 

Page 62



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
Further Formal Amended layout for 4 dwellings (to address trees issues) 
Gamlingay Parish Council recommends refusal. It states: “It was agreed that the design dated 23.1.01 
was more appropriate for this site as the houses were not pressed against the boundary fences of other 
properties and it was more sympathetic to the adjacent Conservation Area. The tree with a Preservation 
Order could be protected by resiting properties numbered 3 and 4.” 
 
Trees and Landscape Officer states: “In relation to the comments concerning the young Horse 
Chestnut, I would make the point than an objection could have been lodged at the time the TPO was 
being served. The TPO on the trees was served following discussion with the Local Member.  If the 
Horse Chestnut is to be removed, it should be replaced with a tree in the nearby vicinity of species and 
stock to be agreed. If this is thought to be an option there should be consultation locally.” 
 
Conservation Manager comments that the principle layout is acceptable but detailed design matters, in 
order to achieve a rural, informal appearance and a modest scale, still need to be considered. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Current Scheme 
One letter of objection had been received from the occupiers of 50 Fairfield raising concerns that the 
existing ‘out of control’ leylandii trees will not be removed as part of the development. If they are not 
they should be maintained by future occupiers of the dwellings. 
 
Original Scheme for 4 dwellings 
12 letters of objection have been received. The main points raised are: 
 
Noise and disturbance during construction. 
 
Noise and disturbance from additional traffic and households. 
 
Dwellings erected too close to boundary fences would affect amenity – blocking light, extra noise, 
overlooking from higher buildings. 
 
Conservation Area – retention of street scene. 
 
Loss of habitat – frogs, toads, squirrels, birds, snakes, hedgehogs, bats, butterflies, moths and owls. 
 
Increase danger from additional traffic – particularly to nearby schools. 
 
Drainage problems 
 
Maintenance of conifer hedge 
 
The village doesn’t need any more houses. 
 
The undeveloped garden land provides a visual barrier between the older Mill Street buildings and the 
modern properties in School Close. 
 
It should be a condition of approval that pedestrian access is provided to link this end of School Close 
directly to Mill Street. This would then provide a virtually continuous footpath linking School Close 
and the Fairfield estate across the Village to Stocks Lane, an added benefit would be a safer access 
across to the Middle School on Hatley Road. 
 
Specific to occupiers of The Three Horseshoes, 36 Mill Street 
Reduce ability to maintain the fabric of the old walls, either by the uncontrolled raising of the level of 
earth above the damp proof course, or by the loss of ventilation to the rear of the building. 
 
Specific to occupiers of 35 School Close 
Loss of conifers. 

Page 63



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
Formal Amended layout for 4 dwellings. 
5 letters of objection had been received 
 
The occupiers of ‘The Three Horseshoes’ would like to see the oak tree that is adjacent their property 
removed, as it is a threat to foundations. 
 
Other points raised reiterate those made on the original proposal. 
 
Further Formal Amended layout for 4 dwellings (to address trees issues) 
5 letters of objection had been received  
 
Bungalows that blend in the old and new would be better. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
Site area 
The site area has not changed (despite the comments of the Parish Council). The indicative layout has 
shown the dwellings outside the Conservation Area but this is only one possible arrangement within the 
wider site. However in my view this siting, outside of the Conservation Area, will retain land as a 
buffer between the new and old dwellings. 
 
Affordable housing/Density/Best use of land 
Policy HG9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) does not require affordable housing for this development as the number of dwellings is less than 
10. 
 
The density of this development (8 dwellings per hectare) is below the standard set out in the 
Development Plan however this site sits partly in the Conservation Area and I do not think it 
appropriate here to apply a higher density which would reduce the available open space, potentially 
threaten protected trees and be out of character with the surroundings. Two dwellings could allow 
sufficient open land to help form a buffer between old and new dwellings. 
 
Conservation Area 
The application is in Outline only. The Conservation Manager is satisfied that two dwellings could be 
accommodated on site and is happy that details can be considered as part of a Reserved Matter 
submission. 
 
Neighbouring amenity 
The submitted indicative layout plan shows that two dwellings could be sited so as not to appear 
overbearing to occupiers of neighbouring properties. There would appear to be sufficient scope within 
this relatively large site to consider details and siting that would not result in an overbearing impact and 
to provide sufficient distances and orientation to overcome any potential overlooking problems or loss 
of light.  
 
Access 
Although this matter is to be determined at the Reserved Matters stage it is clear that the intention is to 
use the access from School Close. I consider this a logical extension of an existing access road which in 
my view can accommodate a further two dwellings without adversely affecting either highway safety 
or the general amenity of the area. 
 

Page 64



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Levels 
The site levels do vary and in places the ground level is above that of existing surrounding properties. 
The application does not indicate heights and these would be a matter for a Reserved Matters 
application. In my view dwellings should not be excessively high and I am suggesting that an 
informative on the decision notice will give any prospective developer the knowledge that in granting 
consent for dwellings the height, bulk and design are issues that will need careful consideration at the 
Reserved Matters stage. 
 
TPO 
The indicative layout will affect less trees. Those protected will be able to be retained now that the 
application has been revised from 4 dwellings to 2. 
 
Bungalows/Houses 
Despite the views of the Parish Council I do not consider it would be justified to require the dwellings 
to be single storey. It would appear that there is scope within this site to erect houses that, if 
appropriately designed, would not adversely impact on the amenity of occupiers of adjacent properties. 
It will be for any future applicant to demonstrate that two storey dwellings will work both in terms of 
their impact on occupiers of neighbouring properties and the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 
 
In the light of the Conservation Managers comments and the fact that most of the surrounding buildings 
are two storey I do not consider that two storey dwelling would necessarily be out of character with 
their surroundings. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, all matters are to be reserved. The site is clearly large enough to 
accommodate two bungalows and these could be negotiated if details showing the siting of two houses 
cannot overcome neighbouring amenity issues. This could be clarified as an informative on the 
decision notice.  
 
Street scene 
The dwellings may be visible from Mill Street and the Conservation Area but much will depend on the 
design, height and bulk.  These matters will be considered as part of the Reserved Matters submission. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval 
Standard Outline Conditions and conditions requiring a programme of archaeological investigation 
commissioned and undertaken at the expense of the developer, submission of foul and surface water 
drainage schemes and to limit the times of use of power operated machinery to protect neighbouring 
amenity during construction. 
 
Informative: 
This permission is not restricted to bungalows by means of a condition. However the site lies partly 
within the Conservation Area and forms a buffer between old and new dwellings. In not restricting the 
development to bungalows there is no implied approval for large detached two storey dwellings. An 
application for Reserved Matters will have to demonstrate designs, heights and scales that are 
appropriate to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and an acceptable impact on 
neighbouring amenity. 
 
 

Page 65



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
19. S/2344/03/F - GIRTON 

EXTENSION, THE BUNGALOW, CAMBRIDGE ROAD, FOR R KENNEDY AND K 
MEABY 
 

 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The Bungalow (134 sq metres gross external floor area) is a new, L-shaped, shallow roofed dwelling 
situated within a well-screened site of some 0.35ha.  The site is adjacent the Recreation Ground and 
outside the village framework, within the Cambridge Green Belt. 
 
This full application, received 18th November 2003, proposes two extensions, ridge and eaves height 
matching the existing building, one to provide an additional bedroom (18 sq metres) and one for a 
study (20 sq metres) (both gross external areas). 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
S/0630/02 – Planning permission granted for a bungalow following demolition of an existing 
bungalow.  Condition 2 of that permission removed permitted development rights for development 
within the curtilage of that dwelling, including extensions.  The reason - to ensure that additions or 
extensions that would otherwise require planning permission do not overdevelop the site with 
consequent harm to the rural character of this part of the Cambridge Green Belt. 
 
Three earlier applications for a replacement dwelling were refused due to the inappropriate scale of the 
proposed dwelling.  
 
 
POLICY 
 
Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 2 “Green Belts”, states that “provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building, the extension or alteration 
of dwellings is not inappropriate in Green Belts.” 
 
Policy GB2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as proposed to be adopted (December 
2003) resists proposals for inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  Extensions to dwellings are 
considered inappropriate unless the criteria in Policy HG18 are met and the overall impact of any 
extension does not result in the dwelling having a materially greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt. 
 
Policy HG18 permits extensions to dwellings in the countryside where: 
 
1. The proposed development would not create a separate dwelling or be capable of separation 

from the existing dwelling; 
 
2. The extension does not exceed the height of the original dwelling; 
 
3. The extension does not lead to a 50% increase or more in volume or gross internal floor area of 

the original dwelling; 
 
4. The proposed extension is in scale and character with the existing dwelling and would not 

materially change the impact of the dwelling on its surroundings; 
 
5. The proposed extension has regard to the criteria in Policies HG16 and HG17. 
 
 

Page 66



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Girton Parish Council recommends refusal.  “Although the Parish Council had no previous objections 
to construction on this site, members are concerned that a building no more than 25% greater than the 
original footprint was approved and these proposed extensions would exceed this limit.” 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
This bungalow is a new dwelling, and therefore comprises the “original dwelling” in the context of 
Policy HG18 and PPG2. 
 
The proposed extensions are in scale and character with and do not exceed the height of the original 
dwelling.  They would result in an increase of less than 30% gross floor area and would not have a 
materially greater impact on the surroundings than the existing building.  I consider the proposal 
complies with the requirements of Policy HG18 and in doing so also complies with Policy GB2 and 
with the reason for condition 2 of the original planning permission.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve. 
 
Standard Condition ‘A’ – Time limitation 
 
 
20. S/2325/03/F - GREAT SHELFORD 

DWELLING 1 WOOLLARDS LANE FOR MR & MRS RANKINE 
 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
This 0.13 hectares (0.3 acres) approximately site forms part of the garden of No. 1 Woollards Lane, a 
two-storey boarded and slate roof house.  It is currently occupied by a tennis court, a boarded and slate 
roof garage and sheds.  The site is bounded by Freestones Corner to the north, Woollards Lane to the 
west, No. 1A Spinney Drive (a two-storey dwelling) to the southwest and No. 1 Woollards Lane to the 
southeast.  There is an important line of trees, mainly within the site, along the site’s northern 
boundary.  
  
This full application, received on the 14th November 2003, proposes the erection of a 28.5m long, 6.6m 
high 4-bedroom ‘arts and craft design’ house with attached double garage.  It would be faced with 
bricks and would have a slate roof.  The existing access would be used to serve the proposed dwelling.  
A new access onto Woodlands Road would be created to serve the existing dwelling.  The density 
equates to 8 dwellings per hectare. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission for a two-storey dwelling on the site was approved under reference S/0144/98/F 
and renewed in November 2003 under reference S/1919/03/F. 
 

Page 67



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Permission for a 31m long, 6.6m high dwelling of similar design to that now proposed was refused in 
August 2003 (reference S/1453/03/F) for the following reasons: 
 
“1.  By virtue of the size and length of the dwelling in relation to the plot, the proposal would 

result in overdevelopment of the site with consequent harm to the character and appearance 
of Freestones Corner and the Conservation Area, particularly as the footprint of the dwelling 
would compromise the two sycamores on the site and one on the adjacent land together with 
smaller trees on the boundary to Freestones Corner. 

 
The proposal is therefore contrary to: Approved Structure Plan Policy SP12/11 which aims to 
protect the character of a conservation area; Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
Policy H15 which requires housing development on unallocated land in the village to be 
sympathetic to the character and amenities of the locality; South Cambridgeshire Local Plan: 
Deposit 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 & 2003) Policy SE3 which requires 
development within the village to be sensitive to the character of the village; Adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan Policy C33 which requires new development in a conservation 
area to preserve or enhance its character in the size and position of buildings; and South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan: Deposit 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 & 2003) Policy 
EN44 which requires new development in a conservation area to preserve or enhance its 
special character and appearance and states that the District Council will refuse permission 
for schemes which do not fit comfortably into their context. 

 
2. The proposal would result in a serious degree of overlooking between the proposed dwelling, 

and the proposed dormer window to ‘Bed 2’ in particular, and No. 1a Spinney Drive. 
 

The proposal is therefore contrary to Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Policy H15 
which requires housing development on unallocated land in the village to be sympathetic to 
the amenities of the locality; and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan: Deposit 1999 (as 
proposed to be modified 2002 & 2003) Policy SE3 which requires development within the 
village to be sensitive to the amenity of neighbours.” 

 
 
POLICY 
 
Structure Plan 2003 Policy P1/3 requires a high standard of design for all new development which 
responds to the local character of the built environment. 
 
The site is within the village framework of Great Shelford, which is defined as a Rural Growth 
Settlement in the Adopted Local Plan and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003). 
 
Adopted Local Plan Policy H15 states that housing development on unallocated land in Rural Growth 
Settlements will normally be limited to groups and infilling provided that the site does not form an 
essential part of village character, and development is sympathetic to the character and amenities of the 
locality. 
 
Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy SE3 states that residential 
development will be permitted on unallocated land within village frameworks of Rural Growth 
settlements provided that (a) the retention of the site in its present form is not essential to the character 
of the village; (b) the development would be sensitive to the character of the village, local features of 
landscape or ecological importance, and the amenities of neighbours; (c) the village has the necessary 
infrastructure capacity; and (d) residential development would not conflict with another policy of the 
plan.  It also states that development should provide an appropriate mix of dwellings in terms of size, 
type and affordability and should achieve a minimum density of 30 dph unless there are strong design 
grounds for not doing so. 
 

Page 68



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Adopted Local Plan Policy C33 states that the District Council will require new development in a 
Conservation Area to preserve or enhance its character in the size, form, position, scale and design of 
dwellings, in the choice of materials, in the retention of existing site features of interest and in external 
works, including boundary treatments.  Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) 
Policy EN44 also states that the District Council will refuse schemes which do not fit comfortably into 
their context.  Structure Plan Policy P7/6 requires Local Planning Authorities to protect and enhance 
the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy C4 and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003) Policy EN6 state that the District Council will require trees to be retained 
wherever possible in proposals for new built development. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Great Shelford Parish Council recommends refusal stating “This site and the associated trees have been 
identified in the draft Village Design Statement as being important in creating an entrance to the 
village.  This dwelling is preferred to S/1453/03/F in that the floor area has been reduced, it is sited 
further away from the trees and there is no overlooking of 1A Spinney Drive.  However, we feel that 
the length and mass of the roof facing Freestone’s Corner is overpowering and will dominate and 
detract from the character and appearance of this important part of the conservation area.  We would 
prefer to see the design amended and to be reassured that the dwelling is sited sufficiently away from 
the trees to avoid compromising them in the future.” 
 
The Conservation Manager raises no objections stating that the elevations are fine and, as far as they 
will be visible, will compliment the adjacent open space and the Conservation Area. 
 
The Trees & Landscape Officer confirms that the position of the dwelling in relation to the adjacent 
trees would be acceptable and recommends a condition is attached to any approval requiring tree 
protection during the construction period. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer recommends conditions relating to the times during the 
construction period when power operated machinery shall not be operated and details of any driven pile 
foundations are attached to any approval.   
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
The occupier of No.1A Spinney Drive is very concerned about the adverse impact on the village and on 
her property.  In summary, she makes the following comments: 
 
• The footprint of this dwelling is nearly four times larger than the approved dwelling, the 

proposed garage is 1.8 times larger than the approved scheme and the garage as now proposed is 
only 0.6m from her boundary compared to 4.5m with the approved scheme; 

 
• The proposal would create an adverse visual effect from the main road; 
 
• The proximity of the proposed garage to her property would not allow the owners to maintain 

the boundary fence, hedge or the garage; 
 
• The garage would only be 4.87m from her house, which is insufficient; 
 
• The garage (which is 3.6m high, 7.4m long and, at 45m2) is excessive even for a double garage 

and would seriously impact on the view from her garden and the ground floor of her house; 
 
• The positioning of the garage is inappropriate and should be moved to the Woollards Lane side 

of the plot.  Failing this, it should be moved at least 2m from the boundary, the eaves height 
reduced to no more than 2.4m and it should have a pitched roof at an angle no steeper than that 
of the bungalow; 

 

Page 69



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
• Concerns for privacy and security.  The applicant should erect (before building commences) and 

maintain a 1.8m high close boarded fence along the length of the boundary; and 
 
• A condition should be attached to any approval stating that the applicant shall not grow a screen 

of trees along the boundary to a height greater than 3 metres as anything higher than this would 
restrict light to her house. 

 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The principle of erecting a dwelling on the site has been established by the granting of planning 
permissions S/0144/98/F and S/1919/03/F.  In my opinion, the scheme now proposed has also 
overcome the reasons for refusal in relation to the previous proposal (S/1453/03/F) by reducing the 
length of the dwelling by 2.5 metres, omitting those previously proposed first floor windows serving 
habitable rooms that would have faced No. 1A Spinney Drive and, perhaps most importantly, by 
moving the dwelling further away from the north boundary and thereby ensuring the long-term 
retention of the trees along this boundary.  When glimpsed through the trees from Freestones Corner, 
the dwelling would help frame this important area of open space.  I consider that the design and visual 
impact of the dwelling would be acceptable.   
 
The proposal would have an impact on the amenity of the occupiers of No. 1A Spinney Drive and, in 
particular, the proposed garage would affect the outlook from one of No. 1A’s kitchen windows.  
However, subject to the receipt of an amended plan to show a reduction in the height of the garage 
from 3.6m to 3m, I consider that the occupiers of No. 1A would not be unduly affected.  The agent has 
indicated that an amended plan to show this will be submitted prior to the Committee meeting. 
 
With regard to Local Plan No. 2 Policy SE3, I consider that there are strong design and conservation 
grounds for not achieving a density of 30 dwellings per hectare on this site. 
Positive  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Subject to the receipt of a satisfactory amended plan to show a reduction in the height of the garage: 
 
Approval 
 
1. Standard time condition A – RCA; 
 
2. Standard condition 5a `Details of external materials’ – RC To ensure the satisfactory appearance 

of the development; 
 
3. Before development commences, details of the access to serve No. 1 Woollards Lane shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; the approved access shall 
be available for use before the hereby approved dwelling is first occupied – RC To ensure that 
satisfactory access is provided for the existing dwelling; 

 
4. Standard condition 51 ‘Agreement of landscaping scheme’ – RC51; 
 
5. Standard condition 52 ‘Implementation of landscaping scheme’ – RC52 
 
6. Standard condition 56 ‘ Protection of trees during construction’ – RC56 
 
7. Standard condition 60 ‘Boundary treatments’ – RC60; 
 
8. Standard condition 26 ‘Times when power operated machinery shall not be operated during the 

construction period’ (0800, 0800, 1800, 1300) – RC26; 
 
 
Informatives: 
 

Page 70



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
1. The applicant is advised to contact this Council’s Trees & Landscape Officer at an early stage 

to discuss the precise position and construction details of the new access onto Woodlands 
Road. 

 
2. During construction, there  shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site except with the 

prior permission of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in accordance with best 
practice and existing waste management legislation. 

 
3. Should driven pile foundations be proposed, before development commences, a statement of 

the method for construction of these foundations shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer; development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved method statement. 

 
 
21. S/2474/03/F - GREAT SHELFORD 

HOUSE ON LAND ADJACENT TO 1 STONEHILL ROAD FOR DR & MRS ONUORAH 
 
 
Members will visit this site on Monday 2nd February. 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
This 23m x 18m approximately (0.04 hectare/0.1 acre) site forms part of the rear gardens of Nos. 101 
and 103 Cambridge Road.  It rises up away from Cambridge Road/to the southwest.  Semi-detached 
dwellings in Stonehill Road bound the site to the southwest.  Semi-detached properties in Cambridge 
Road bound the site to the northeast and southeast.  Stonehill Road is situated to the northwest with 
detached dwellings on the opposite side of the road beyond.  The site’s Stonehill Road frontage is 
currently marked by a 1.3m high approximately hedge.  There is a narrow first floor window and two 
ground floor windows (serving a pantry and kitchen) in the side elevation of No. 1 Stonehill Road. 
 
This full application, received on the 5th December 2003, proposes the erection of a 12.6m x 6m x 5m 
to eaves/8.5m to ridge 5-bedroom detached house with accommodation over three floors, including a 
second floor in the roofspace.  A 5.5m x 5.5m x 4m high detached double garage is also proposed to 
the side/rear.  The dwelling would front, and would be accessed from, Stonehill Road.  The density 
equates to 25 dwellings to the hectare.  
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Full planning permission was granted for an 8.5m x 9m x 8.6m high two-storey dwelling with an 
attached double garage with bedroom above (5 bedrooms in total) on a 15m x 26m deep site (part of 
the rear gardens of 99, 101 and 103 Cambridge Road – a larger site than the application site) in 2001 
(S/1689/01/F).  The front of the dwelling would be in line with the front of 1 Stonehill Road. 
 
A full application for the erection of a 13.2 x 10.2 x 6.8m high 1½ storey dwelling with its garden to 
the side on the application site was refused in June 2003 (S/0826/03/F) on the grounds that, by reason 
of its scale, design and layout, and its proximity to houses in Cambridge Road, it would result in a 
cramped form of development with minimal garden area, a lack of privacy for future occupiers of the 
dwelling and would adversely affect the outlook and enjoyment of the rear gardens of neighbouring 
properties.  The front of the dwelling would have been in line with the front of 1 Stonehill Road. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Structure Plan 2003 Policy P1/3 requires a high standard of design for all new development which 
responds to the local character of the built environment. 
 

Page 71



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The site is within the village framework of Great Shelford, which is defined as a Rural Growth 
Settlement in the Adopted Local Plan and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003). 
 
Adopted Local Plan Policy H15 states that housing development on unallocated land in Rural Growth 
settlements will normally be limited to groups and infilling provided that the site does not form an 
essential part of village character, and development is sympathetic to the character and amenities of the 
locality. 
 
Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy SE3 states that residential 
development will be permitted on unallocated land within village frameworks of Rural Growth 
settlements provided that (a) the retention of the site in its present form is not essential to the character 
of the village; (b) the development would be sensitive to the character of the village, local features of 
landscape or ecological importance, and the amenities of neighbours; (c) the village has the necessary 
infrastructure capacity; and (d) residential development would not conflict with another policy of the 
plan.  It also states that development should provide an appropriate mix of dwellings in terms of size, 
type and affordability and should achieve a minimum density of 30 dph unless there are strong design 
grounds for not doing so. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Great Shelford Parish Council recommends refusal and states “We repeat our previous comments – this 
building is nearly 2 metres higher than the previous application which was refused and we consider the 
reason for refusal applies to this application as well.  Stonehill Road has a very clear building line and 
this would project forward of this line and would be obtrusive to the street scene.  Recommend 
refusal.” 
 
The Council’s Lands Officer states that the property and garden at 103 Cambridge Road (of which the 
proposed plot forms part) is still in SCDC ownership.  She also states that there has been an application 
by the current occupiers of 103 under Right to Buy but that this application is likely to be withdrawn in 
April. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer recommends conditions relating to the times during the 
construction period when power operated machinery shall not be operated and the need to agree a 
construction method statement if driven pile foundations are to be used are attached to any approval.  
He also recommends an informative relating to bonfires and burning of waste is attached to any 
approval. 
   
 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
Objections have been received from the occupiers of 99 Cambridge Road and 8 and 10 Stonehill Road 
on the following grounds: 
 

• The dwelling would be overbearing and would cut out light to 99 Cambridge Road; 
 

• Overlooking of 8 and 10 Stonehill Road; 
 

• The dwelling would be too far forward and would be out of keeping with the existing 
buildings on Stonehill Road; 

 
• Minimal off-street parking is proposed; and 

 
• The dwelling would be too large for the plot. 

 

Page 72



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The occupiers of 10 Stonehill Road also state that should permission by granted, conditions should be 
attached to require the front of the house to be in line with 1 Stonehill Road, the second floor windows 
should be on the rear so that they overlook the back garden of the development and not properties 
opposite and restrictions are placed on hours of work and noise. 
   
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
There is an extant planning permission for an 8.5m high, 5 bedroom, two-storey detached house within 
the rear gardens of Nos. 99, 101 & 103 Cambridge Road – a large part of the application site plus part 
of the rear garden of No.99 (S/1689/01/F).  Planning permission for a 6.8m high, 1½ storey dwelling on 
the application site was subsequently refused (S/2474/03/F).  In my opinion, the narrow span of the 
proposed dwelling, together with its forward position on the site (and thereby the provision of a 7-9 m 
deep rear garden), overcomes the reasons for refusal in relation to S/2474/03/F. 
 
The forward position would increase the impact of the dwelling in the street scene.  However, whilst 
the position of the proposed dwelling relative to the road would be different to the position of adjacent 
dwellings in Stonehill Road to the southwest (which are in a line set further back from the road), I do 
not consider that the proposed dwelling would unduly harm the character and appearance of the area.  
The design of the dwelling, whilst also different to those in the locality, would be acceptable, as would 
its scale and height. 
 
Only high level first floor en-suite bathroom windows, and no second floor windows, are proposed in 
the rear elevation of the dwelling in order to protect the privacy of the gardens to the rear.  I do not 
consider that overlooking towards the houses and front gardens of the houses on the opposite side of 
Stonehill Road is reason for refusal.  The forward position of the dwelling currently proposed would 
result in an improved outlook from the kitchen window on the side of No.1 Stonehill Road when 
compared to the approved dwelling.  
 
Adequate parking provision would be made.  
 
At the time of compiling this report, the requisite notice had not been served on the District Council as 
owner of part of the site.  Delegated powers of approval are therefore recommended. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated approval 
 
1. Standard time condition A – RCA; 
 
2. Standard condition 5a, e & f ‘Materials and finished floor levels’ – RC To ensure the 

satisfactory appearance of the development; 
 
3. Standard condition 60 ‘Boundary treatments’ – RC60; 
 
4. Standard condition 51 ‘Agreement of landscaping scheme’ – RC51; 
 
5. Standard condition 52 ‘Implementation of landscaping scheme’ – RC52; 
 
6. No first or second floor windows, other than those shown upon the hereby approved plans, 

shall be inserted in the walls or roof of the side or rear elevations of the dwelling – RC To 
protect the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties; 

 
7. Standard condition 26 ‘Times when power operated machinery shall not be operated during 

the construction period’ (0800, 0800, 1800, 1300) – RC26; 
 

Page 73



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Informatives: 
 
1. During construction, there  shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site except with the 

prior permission of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in accordance with best 
practice and existing waste management legislation. 

 
2. Should driven pile foundations be proposed, before development commences, a statement of 

the method for construction of these foundations shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer; development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved method statement. 

 
 

22. S/2617/03/LB & S/2618/03/F - HARSTON 
S/2617/03/LB – ALTERATIONS - DISMANTLING OF SECTION OF FRONT 
BOUNDARY WALL TO FORM NEW ACCESS AND CONSTRUCTION OF NEW 
ENTRANCE PIERS 
S/2618/03/F - VEHICULAR ACCESS AND ENTRANCE PIERS 
ADJACENT TO PARK HOUSE, 87 HIGH STREET FOR CITY + COUNTRY 
RESIDENTIAL LTD 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
These applications relate to the brick (with brick lattice detail) front boundary wall to High Street 
(A10) of a Grade II listed house, Park House.  Park House is a substantial detached villa dating from 
the mid C.19th.  There is an extant planning permission for a dwelling to the south of Park House with 
vehicular access via the existing access to the site.  A belt of trees is situated within the site behind the 
wall.  
 
The listed building application (S/2617/03/LB), received on the 23rd December 2003, proposes the 
demolition of part of the existing brick wall to create a 5 metre wide vehicular access and the erection 
of entrance piers either side of the access.  As the walls were in existence before 1 July 1948 and define 
the historic boundary of Park House they are covered by the listing control. 
 
The planning application (S/2618/03/F), also received on the 23rd December 2003, proposes to create a 
new 5 metres wide vehicular access onto High Street (A10) and erect new entrance piers either side of 
the access.  A 22m (approximately) long section of the footpath along High Street would be realigned 
to provide improved visibility of pedestrians from vehicles exiting the access and vice versa.  The 
proposed new access and gravel drive would connect with the existing drive to the north which 
currently serves the Park House and Home Farm sites.  The new access would serve Park House and 
the approved new dwelling to the south of Park House.  The existing access would be retained to serve 
the Coach house dwelling unit and the three dwellings approved in a conversion and new build scheme 
on the adjacent site of Home Farm with a further unit still the subject of an application.  A Highway 
Design Statement was submitted as part of the application. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Park House and the former stables were listed in October 2002.  Many of the following applications 
therefore pre-date these listings. 
 
Within the Park House and Home Farm sites there have been a large number of recent 
applications: 
 
S/1832/93/F: Part use of livery stable as riding school at Park House Livery – Approved 
 
S/1312/00/F: Change of use of Park House to offices – Withdrawn 
 
S/0886/01/F: House, garage and pool house at Park House – Approved 
 

Page 74



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
S/0070/02/F: Conversion of barns to 2 dwellings and 2 studios and the erection of a new dwelling and 
garages at Home Farm – Withdrawn 
 
S/0193/02/LB: Alterations and conversion of 2 barns to dwellings, one barn to 2 studio/offices and 
demolition of remaining barns at Home Farm (Park House Stables) – Withdrawn 
 
S/0436/02/F: Residential development (2 new dwellings and access) at Park House – Refused, Appeal 
dismissed 
 
S/0546/02/LB & S/0547/02/F: Conversion of barns to dwellings and 2 studios and the erection of a new 
dwelling and garage at Home Farm – Appeal dismissed 
 
S/2325/02/LB & S/02326/02/F: Alterations to Walls, New Boundary Walls and Gates at Park House – 
Refused 
 
S/2446/02/LB: Internal alterations to Park House – Approved 
 
S/0039/03/F: Conversion of barns to 2 dwellings, garages and outbuildings and erection of one new 
dwelling at Home Farm – Approved 
 
S/0320/03/LB: Alterations & conversion of 2 barns to single dwellings, construction of 2 (1.8 metre) 
walls attached to Barn 2, conversion of 1 barn to 2 studio / offices & demolition of remaining barns and 
outbuildings at Home Farm – Approved 
 
S/0375/03/LB: Alterations including extension to kitchen at Park House – Approved 
 
S/0756/03/LB & S/0757/03/F: Boundary wall at Park House – Approved 
 
S/1178/03/LB: Alterations - Removal of section of wall for access to proposed 3 car garage attached to 
existing garden boundary wall at Park House – Approved 
 
S/1189/03/F: Triple garage at Park House - Approved 
 
S/1521/03/LB & S/1522/03/F: Extension and conversion of former stables into dwelling at Park House 
– Approved 
 
S/1916/03/LB & S/1917/03/F: Conversion and extension of cart lodge into dwelling at Home Farm – 
Current 
 
S/1915/03/F & S/2050/03/LB: Vehicular access, walls and gates - Withdrawn 
 
Planning application S/0436/02/F for residential development (2 new dwellings and access) at Park 
House included a new access similar to the one now proposed.  The difference between the two 
schemes is that application S/0436/02/F included a splayed access with railings either side of the 
access, whereas this application proposes an access flush with the frontage wall. 
 
Application S/0436/02/F was refused partly on the ground that: 
 
“The proposed subdivision of the grounds, and the formation of a new vehicular access with the 
consequent loss of 18 metres of the historic front boundary wall would diminish the scale and character 
of the parkland setting of the house.” 
 
The subsequent appeal was dismissed.  The decision letter, dated 1st October 2003, is attached as an 
Appendix.  In dismissing the appeal, the Inspector notably states: “Although in need of restoration and 
management, I consider that the parkland contributes to the character of the village, and provides an 
attractive setting for the front of the Listed Building. The construction of the drive would in my view be 
detrimental to that setting, and would harm the visual relationship of the listed building and its 
surroundings.”  

Page 75



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
He also states that: “The proposed alteration to the frontage wall, and the construction of gates and 
railings to form the entrance to the site, would not in my view be an appropriate or sympathetic form of 
alteration to that part of the listed building”.  
  
In conclusion, he states that “the houses themselves, the construction of a new driveway across the 
parkland, and the formation of the proposed entrance to the site would harm the listed building and its 
setting.”  
  
 
POLICY 
 
The site is within the village framework of Harston as defined in the Adopted Local Plan 1993 and 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003). 
 
Policy P7/6 of the Structure Plan 2003 requires Local Planning Authorities to protect and enhance the 
quality and distinctiveness of the historic built environment. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy C21 states that District Council will refuse consent for the alteration, 
internally or externally, of a listed building if the proposals are considered to be detrimental to the 
character or setting of that building. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy C24 states that, in considering whether to grant planning permission 
near to a listed building, the District Council will take into account the effect on its setting. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy C25 states that, in considering whether to grant planning permission 
within the curtilage of a listed building, the District Council will give priority to the effect on the 
character of the listed building and its curtilage. 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003) Policy EN41 
states that the District Council will refuse applications for development within the curtilage or setting 
of a listed building which: would dominate the listed building or its curtilage in scale, form, massing or 
appearance; damage the setting, well-being or attractiveness of a listed building; would harm the visual 
relationship between the building and its formal or natural landscape surroundings; or would damage 
archaeological remains of importance unless some exceptional, overriding need can be demonstrated. 
 
Adopted Local Plan 1993 Policy C4 and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003) Policy EN6 state that the District Council will require trees to be retained 
wherever possible in proposals for new built development. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Harston Parish Council’s comments were awaited at the time of compiling this report.  Any comments 
received will be reported verbally. 
 
The Conservation Manager recommends refusal and makes the following comments:  
 
“This proposal differs from the previous withdrawn scheme in that the new access point does not have 
the wall splayed back as before with pedestrian sight lines being addressed with the re-routing of the 
pedestrian footway into the grassed verge area.  The wall will thus be continued in a straight line with a 
5m wide gap formed between the two new entrance pillars.  No gates are detailed as being included on 
this scheme. 
 
Whilst the line of the wall is thus preserved, the wall will still be broken to form the new access. 
I consider there are still two objections to the proposals in Conservation terms: 
 
1.  The loss of a section of historic wall and the creation of a break in the wall. 

The wall forms an important part of the street scene in this part of the village and forms part of 
the setting to the Listed Buildings on both the Park House and Home Farm sites.   

Page 76



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 

The loss of the wall is not necessary to the residential developments on both of these sites which 
have been approved with all six units approved to date (possibly rising to 7 if the cartlodge 
scheme is approved) being served from the existing access point. 
The need for another access is not a highway safety requirement. 

 
2.  The division of the parkland setting to the front of Park House resulting from the 

formation of the driveway.  
The ‘parkland’ forms part of the special character to the setting of the Listed Building and is 
important to the context of the building and to the street scene of the village.  The current tree 
and wall boundary treatment effectively screens the house from the road with only the odd 
glimpses of the house through the trees.  The new opening will create a vista directly into the 
site.  The division of the parkland by the drive will break up the currently continuous 
landscaping/wall screen.  The division of this area into a number of separate ownerships, 
demarked by the driveway, is considered to lead to subsequent pressures to internally enclose 
the space, particularly as the two access points are not to have gates.  The enclosure of the 
driveway or any part of the front landscaped area will significantly harm the landscape character 
of this space.  The formation of the driveway is, therefore, seen as the first step in the 
fragmentation and erosion of the parkland setting to the original main house. 

 
Whilst the form of the access details differs from the scheme considered as part of the 2003 Appeal, in 
dismissing the appeal, the Inspector clearly objected to the principle of constructing a driveway through 
this part of the site and altering the front boundary wall.  It is not considered that the revised scheme 
materially alters the fundamental objections to these two issues. 
 
The provision of the access is to avoid vehicles accessing the new dwelling to the south of Park House 
driving close to the front of Park House to secure privacy to the future occupiers.  This could be 
secured by a re-routing of the current access drive within the site, which would retain the single access 
point and historic direction of reaching Park House as well as removing the need to remove any of the 
trees on the site.” 
 
The Local Highway Authority confirms that the access is acceptable from a highway point of view and 
states that the off-site works to the footpath should be completed prior to the use of the access 
commencing. 
 
The comments of the Trees & Landscape Officer are awaited and will be reported verbally.   
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
Members may remember visiting the site in September 2003 in relation to the applications to extend 
and convert the stables building to the north of Park House to a dwelling (S/1916/03/LB & 
S/1917/03/F). 
 
The front boundary wall runs for approximately 180 metres along the High Street.  It has a very 
distinctive form being constructed of gault buff bricks with open decorative panels giving visual 
patterning and an architectural rhythm to the street scene.  The wall is only interrupted in two places – 
the existing entrance which has planning permission (but not Listed Building consent) to be widened 
and a pedestrian access.  The new access would form a third opening.   
 
The new access is not required to service the existing development as the new dwelling to the south of 
Park House was granted consent utilising the existing access, as have the conversion and new build 
dwellings to the north of Park House.  Currently the existing access will service six dwellings on the 
site, with a seventh currently under consideration on the Home Farm site. 
 

Page 77



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
No safety issues were raised when any of these consents were considered.  The main section of drive 
passing in front of Park House will be shared by this house and the new dwelling to the south.  The 
concerns of the future occupiers of Park House as to safety and privacy could be met by this section of 
driveway being rerouted within the site which would not require any loss of trees or any formal 
Planning or Listed Building Consent. 
 
The concerns of the Conservation Manager focus on: (a) the loss of a section of the existing historic 
fabric of the wall which would have a significant impact on the street scene and (b) the impact on the 
parkland setting from the intrusion in this area by the additional hard surfaced driveway and 
consequential opening up of the area to the roadway.   
 
Whilst the applicant has sought to lessen the impact by minimising the length of wall to be removed 
when compared to the appeal scheme (which involved a bell-mouth and the loss of an 18m section of 
the wall), it is still considered that the harm this would have on the street scene of the village, the loss 
of historic fabric and the harm to the setting of the Listed Building outweigh the arguments for having 
this second vehicular access to the site.  In my opinion the concerns of the Inspector have not been 
overcome by this modification of the proposals.  The proposal is not necessary to support the 
developments on the site, which have been granted consent utilising the one existing vehicular access. 
 
The plans show ‘no-dig construction’ for the access/driveway.  The comments of the Trees & 
Landscape Officer on the scheme will be reported verbally but it would appear that only one tree would 
be removed as a result of the proposal and no specific objections were raised to the loss of this tree at 
the time of application S/0436/02/F and the subsequent appeal. 
 
The proposed realignment of the footpath along High Street to provide the necessary pedestrian 
visibility splays would be acceptable.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
S/2617/03/LB & S/2618/03/F – Refusal  
 
1. The physical alterations proposed to the front boundary would result in the loss of historic fabric 

and create an unfortunate visual break to the wall, which makes an important contribution to the 
character of this part of the village and the historic enclosure setting of both the Park House and 
Home Farm sites.  The formation of an opening in the wall would therefore adversely affect this 
part of the listed building.  There is no requirement for an additional access on highway safety 
grounds and the proposal is not considered to be necessary or desirable.  The proposals are 
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy P7/6 of the Approved Structure Plan 2003, Policies 
C24 and C25 of the Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 and Policy EN41 of South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003). 

 
2. The proposed construction of a new vehicular access and driveway across the parkland setting to 

the front of Park House would detract from the setting of the listed building by means of creating a 
severance of the visual relationship of the listed building to its surroundings.  The proposals are 
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy P7/6 of the Approved Structure Plan 2003, Policies 
C24 and C25 of the Adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 1993 and Policy EN41 of South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan No. 2 - as Proposed to be Adopted (December 2003). 

 

Page 78



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
23. S/1731/03/F - HISTON 

ERECTION OF DWELLING ON LAND ADJACENT TO 8 WINDERS LANE FOR 
MR AND MRS B MARTIN 

 
 
Members of committee will visit the site on Monday 2nd February 2004 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site, located on the corner of Winders Lane and Clay Street, is currently undeveloped and measures 
25 metres in width and 20 metres in depth.  Hedging surrounds the site. 
 
The full application, received on 11th August 2003, proposes the erection of a two storey, 4 bedroom 
dwelling that has an attached double garage with a bedroom located above and accessed from Winders 
Lane.  The dwelling is to be set back within the site and is to be located 6.5 metres away from this 
access.  This application has been the subject of lengthy negotiations and the scheme was amended on 
the 18th December 2003.  The amendment included the lowering of the eves of the roof and the 
insertion of dormer windows in the front and rear roof slope. 
 
The house will have a width of 12.1m, a depth of 9.6m and a ridge height of 8.5m; the attached double 
garage with bedroom above will be 18.3m. 
 
The density equates to 20 d.p.ha. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Outline consent was granted for a house in 2000 reference S/1652/00/O.  This application agreed the 
principle of development only and did not agree details of siting, design, means of access or 
landscaping of the house. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 states that a high standard of 
design and sustainability should be adopted for all new forms of development. 
 
Policy SE3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 – as Proposed to be Adopted (December 
2003) defines Histon as a Rural Growth Settlement in which residential development will be permitted 
on unallocated land providing the development meets with the criteria of this and other polices 
included within the Local Plan. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Histon Parish Council recommended approval of the plans initially submitted.  In respects of the 
amended plans it was stated that the Parish Council had seen the letter from 9 Clay Street dated 13th 
September 2003, which has been signed by several households.  The Parish Council trusts that the 
views raised will be considered when making a formal decision.  No recommendation was given. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer concluded that there are no significant impacts from the 
Environmental Health standpoint. 
 
 

Page 79



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
1 letter of objection, that has 6 counter signatures, has been received from No 9 Clay Street raising 
concerns over the proximity of the building line of the proposed dwelling, the potential for landscape 
planting and the resultant overlooking from the window of bedroom 3. 
 
An e-mail was received from Mr Newman, (No 9 Clay Street) on the 4th January 2004 stating that the 
amended plans have not addressed the points raised in his original letter.  Mr Newman stated that given 
the site’s location on the corner, the property must not be allowed to extend beyond the established 
building line in Clay Street.  Mr Newman requested an extension of time to 17th January 2004 to enable 
him to view the plans.  At the time of writing this report no additional comments had been received. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issues to consider in respects of this application are the impact of the proposed dwelling on 
the residential amenities of nearby properties and the impact of the development on the character and 
appearance of Clay Street and Winders Lane. 
 
The site is located on the corner of Winders Lane and Clay Street and consequently each elevation 
faces neighbouring dwellings.  The siting of the building and the location of windows has however 
been carefully considered to ensure the proposed dwelling does not raise concerns of overlooking or 
overshadowing.  An objection has been raised by local residents regarding the overlooking potential 
from bedroom 3.  This first floor window looks out over Clay Street and is located approximately 20 
metres from the properties located opposite.  This degree of overlooking is not considered unreasonable 
and it is therefore felt that the Council cannot sustain an objection to this opening. 
 
The proposed dwelling is to be built facing Winders Lane.   Given the combined length of the garage 
and dwelling, (18.3 metres) the proposed development will occupy the majority of the site.  
Consequently the flank elevation of the dwelling that measures 9.5 metres in width will be located in 
close proximity of the site boundary to Clay Street 1.7m (excluding chimney stack).  Given the span of 
this elevation and the resultant building line that will be created it is considered that the proposal will 
form a disproportionately large feature within Clay Street that is both overly dominating and fails to 
respect the character and appearance of the local built environment.   
 
The adjacent property, No 10 Clay Street is a modest sized property, set back from the road.  This form 
of development is typical to the area and has been mirrored in the redevelopment of the site located 
opposite, (land adjacent to 5 Winders Lane- S/0816/02/F).  It is felt that the creation of a 8.5 metre high 
and 9.5 metre wide gable end feature located within close proximity of the site boundary fails to respect 
the local character of the built environment and is therefore contrary to the criterion of Policy SE3. 
 
In an attempt to reduce the physical bulk of the flank elevation, the application was amended on the 
18th December 2003.  The amendment involved the lowering of the eaves of the dwelling and the 
insertion of front and rear dormer windows.  These alterations have resulted in a marginal reduction in 
the building mass of the dwelling at first floor level when viewed from within Clay Street.  The extent 
of the alterations is however considered insufficient and it is still considered that the introduction of 
gable feature of this size, located adjacent to roadside, would detrimentally affect the character and 
appearance of the area. 
 
The applicant was advised to reduce the span of the property and to design an L-shaped, or similar, 
dwelling which would respect both streets and, at the same time, physically “turn the corner”.  This 
advice has not been followed. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal, as amended by letter dated 30th September 2003 and drawing franked 18th December 2003. 
 
The proposed dwelling by reason of its size, scale and location would represent a disproportionately 
large, and overly dominating gable end feature when viewed from within Clay Street that fails to 

Page 80



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
respect the character and appearance of the local built environment.  Furthermore the proposed building 
line of the dwelling, set forward of the neighbouring properties, increases the prominence and the 
subsequent intrusive nature of this elevation. 
 
The proposed dwelling is therefore contrary to Policy P1/3 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Structure Plan 2003 and Policy SE3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 – as Proposed to be 
Adopted (December 2003). 
 
 
24. S/2486/03/F - HISTON 

DWELLING ADJ. 8 FARMSTEAD CLOSE FOR ALAN COLLINSON 
 

 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
No. 8 Farmstead Road is a semi-detached steep roofed chalet house with flat roofed white timber clad 
dormers to front and back, linked across the pair of houses.  It is towards the bottom end of the cul-de-
sac, at the end of a row of similar houses each with a flat roofed garage attached to the side.  No 8 has a 
wide, walled, side garden alongside which is a public footpath that passes in front of a pair of semi-
detached houses, Nos.9 and 10 Farmstead Road. The detached flat roofed single garage of No. 9 is set 
into the southern corner of this walled side garden, with driveway access off the hammerhead.  To the 
rear of the site there is another public footpath beyond which is a row of bungalows with shallow rear 
gardens.  
 
This full application, received 10th December, proposes the erection of a detached dwelling in the 
walled side garden of No. 8, of similar scale, form and materials as No.8, with shared driveway and 
paved parking area in front of and to the side of the dwelling.  
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Planning permission refused for a dwelling, ref S1996/03/F, for the following reason:- 
 
Whilst the proposed dwelling satisfies the general requirements of Policy HG15 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan Deposit 1999 (as proposed to be modified 2002 and 2003) in that the 
design and layout respects the character and context of the local townscape and landscape, it is 
unacceptable in that: 
 
1. No off-street parking is provided for the new property which would lead to increased parking at 

the adjacent turning head to the inconvenience of other residents and also to the probable erosion 
of the grassed front garden of the property through indiscriminate parking. 

 
2. The rear garden would be overlooked by the first floor windows of No 9 Farmstead Close adjacent, 

despite the suggested re-siting of the boundary wall and trellis, and, 
 
3. With a rear garden of only 7.6m depth, the first floor bedrooms (2 and 3) would overlook the 

garden of No 10 Greenleas which has a depth varying between 4.0m and 6.0m. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Policy SE3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No.2 - as Proposed to be Adopted  
(December 2003) - Development in Rural Growth Settlements. 
 
Policy HG15 requires a range and mix of house types, with design informed by the wider character and 
context of the local townscape. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 

Page 81



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Histon Parish Council recommends refusal “based on the fact the original design of the Greenleas 
Estate was an open plan estate and a single dwelling is not in keeping with the rest of the row.  The 
Council believe the parking now proposed is inadequate, making it difficult to enter and leave in 
forward gear.  This parking provision would cause difficulties with visibility for Nos 9 and 10”. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer recommends conditions to minimise noise disturbance during 
the period of construction. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The occupier of No 9 is concerned regarding the proximity of the house to his garage and loss of light 
and view from the front of his property. 
 
The occupiers of No 10 are concerned regarding traffic congestion, which would be exacerbated by the 
proposed additional dwelling without a garage, and also the bulk of the building at the front of their 
property leading to loss of light. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
This current proposal is essentially the same as that previously refused, except for some simple changes 
to address the previous reasons of refusal.  These are: 
 
1. The provision of hard surfaced parking area.  This shares the existing access point with No.8 and 

allows 2 off street parking places for the new house whilst retaining 2 for the existing, one in the 
garage and one in front.  On site turning would not be required in this location and I consider 
this solution to be visually acceptable within the street scene. 

 
2. Lack of privacy in the rear garden as a result of overlooking from first floor windows from No.9 

– this has been addressed by constructing a shed to the rear of No.9’s garage and building a 
pergola over the rear terrace, thereby affording privacy on the terrace. 

 
3. The rear dormer and windows have been modified so that rear-facing windows are to be pattern 

glazed to avoid overlooking of gardens at the back of the property, with clear roof lights in the 
sloping roof of the dormer. 

 
The dwelling is some 11 to 12 metres north of Nos.9 and 10 and, with its low eaves design, would not 
in my view cause loss of light or be unduly dominant in the outlook from those properties.  I believe 
the modifications to the current scheme address the objections to the previous submission and therefore 
recommend approval. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve. 
 
Standard Condition ‘A’ – Time Limitation  (RC A) 
 
The permanent space to be reserved on the site for parking shall be provided before the use commences 
and thereafter maintained.  (RC – To ensure adequate on-site parking and for reasons of highway 
safety.) 
 
 
 

Page 82



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
25. S/2058/03/F - LITTLE SHELFORD 

ALTERATION TO VEHICULAR ACCESS AT 65 HAUXTON ROAD FOR F T A 
SMART 
 

 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The application site is occupied by a bungalow located on the south-west side of Hauxton Road and 
immediately to the south-east of a railway level crossing.  Beyond the site to the south-east is a plot of 
land upon which planning permission has been granted for 2 detached dwellings which are currently 
under construction. 
 
The application, submitted on 30th September and amended on 10th November 2003, seeks to create a 
vehicular access to the property.  This would be positioned at the south-eastern edge of the site 
approximately 22 metres away from the level crossing.  The submitted block plan shows that on-site 
turning and parking would be provided.  There is currently no vehicular access to the property although 
there is a gravelled area directly adjacent to the dwelling that is used for parking. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
There are no relevant planning permissions relating to the application site.   
The 2 dwellings directly to the south-east of the site were allowed at appeal in July 2001 (Ref: 
S/0213/00/F) 
 
 
POLICY 
 
There are no planning policies of relevance to this application. 
 
The Railway Safety Procedures and Guidance on Level Crossings produced by HM Railway 
Inspectorate of the Health and Safety Executive states that, in respect of automatic half barrier 
crossings, the road layout, profile and conditions should be such that road vehicles are not likely to 
block back obstructing the railway. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Little Shelford Parish Council raises no objections to the application, stating: 
 
“Although already done, we approve.” 
 
Network Rail objects to the application on the basis that it creates an unacceptable risk of traffic 
blocking back onto the level crossing consequent upon an eastbound vehicle attempting to turn right 
into the access.  If approved, the proposal could well result in the crossing being unsuitable to continue 
as an automatic half barrier level crossing. 
 
The HM Railway Inspectorate objects to the proposal as the new access could compromise safety at the 
level crossing by causing traffic to block back onto the crossing due to vehicles turning into the property. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None 
 
 

Page 83



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
This application was presented at the Chairman’s Delegation meeting held on 11th December with an 
Officer recommendation of refusal.  Members resolved to approve the application.  However, given 
that this would conflict with advice given by statutory consultees, there is a need for the application to 
be considered by the Development and Conservation Control Committee. 
 
The only issue to consider in the determination of this application relates to the impact of the 
development upon safety at the adjacent automatic half barrier level crossing.  This line links 
Cambridge with Kings Cross. 
 
Both Network Rail and HM Railway Inspectorate have objected to the application on the basis that it 
could result in traffic waiting to turn right into the site when approaching the property from the west.  If 
there is a stream of traffic on the opposite side of the road travelling north-westwards, a vehicle waiting 
to turn right into the site could result in traffic backing up to the level crossing which lies just 22 metres 
away.  
 
The original application sought to construct the access directly adjacent to the dwelling in order to 
access the existing parking area.  Following the receipt of the above objections, the application was 
amended to relocate the access at the south-eastern edge of the site and as far away from the level 
crossing as possible.  However, both of the above consultees have confirmed that they would object to 
any vehicular access to this property. 
 
As referred to in the History section above, planning consent was granted at appeal for the erection of 2 
dwellings following the demolition of a bungalow on the site directly to the south-east of 65 Hauxton 
Road.  The proposal was refused by this Authority on the basis that an extra dwelling would increase 
the volume of traffic to the site and hence compromise safety at the level crossing.  This decision was 
in accordance with advice given by Network Rail and HM Railway Inspectorate.  However, the 
proposed access to the adjacent site was situated some 11 metres further away from the crossing than 
that presently proposed, resulting in a total distance of approximately 33 metres (or 5-6 vehicle lengths) 
between the site and crossing.  Based on a traffic appraisal commissioned by the applicants which set 
out peak traffic flows, the Inspector considered the access to be sited sufficiently far from the crossing 
to avoid traffic queuing back to the crossing and hence allowed the appeal.  The Inspector was aware of 
speed and volume of traffic on the railway line. 
 
Network Rail and HM Railway Inspectorate have been requested to reconsider their recommendations 
in light of the above decision but the advice of both consultees still remains one of refusal. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal, as amended by plans date stamped 10th November 2003: 
 
The proposed vehicular access located in close proximity to the railway line would create an 
unacceptable risk of traffic blocking back onto the crossing by virtue of a vehicle waiting to turn right 
into the site, thereby having an adverse impact upon the safety and free flow of traffic across the level 
crossing. 
 
 
 
  

Page 84



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
26. S/2247/03/F - HORNINGSEA 

REPLACEMENT DWELLING AND GARAGING, KINGS FARM, HIGH STREET FOR 
MR AND MRS N J GIBBS 

 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
0.23 hectare site to the east of High Street with access across the Village Green.  To the west is a large 
house, Kings Acre, a Listed Building fronting High Street.  To the north/north west are a range of brick 
and slate barns – see HISTORY below, and to the east is a recently planted tree belt and open arable 
farmland.  To the south is the new Village Hall and Millennium Green. 
 
The site is occupied by a 1960’s former County Council farmhouse, now redundant. 
 
The full application is for a replacement house designed around a courtyard comprising a two storey, 4-
bed house with a single storey projecting wing to the north containing a dining room, study and two 
more bedrooms.  A triple garage and store completes the courtyard.  At right-angles to the main house 
is another single storey building comprising a swimming pool, gym and plant room.   
The density equates to 4 dwellings per hectare.   
 
 
HISTORY 
 
Nothing relevant to the site itself. 
 
In respect of the land to the south of the site, at the April 1999 Committee (item 29), following a visit 
to the site by Members, consent was granted for change of use from agricultural land to village 
green/public open space, erection of pavilion/public hall, together with parking and access road. 
 
In respect of the barns to the north/north-west of the site, at the September 2002 Committee (item 17), 
following a visit to the site by Members, it was resolved to grant delegated powers of approval to the 
scheme to convert these barns into two dwellings plus annexe providing that an alternative access could 
be achieved across land to the north. 
 
This suggestion was put to the applicants, Cambridgeshire County Council, which also owned the land 
across which any road would run.  This was unsuccessful on the basis that it would involve the partial 
demolition of an historic barn, would have an adverse effect on the sale of the barn unit, the scheme 
had been fully negotiated with officers on the basis of the existing access driveway and lastly that the 
previous tenant’s rights of access over the driveway had been surrendered and compensation paid. 
 
At the October 2002 Committee, item 13, consent was granted to convert the barns into two dwellings 
and one annexe. 
 
 
POLICY 
 
Horningsea is an “infill only” village, with the site lying with the village framework and Conservation 
Area.  The Cambridge Green belt adjoins the site to the east. 
 
As such there are no objections in principle to the replacement of an existing dwelling. 
 
The Structure Plan 2003 Policy P5/3 seeks densities of 30 dph in new housing developments although 
this is where they are “appropriate to their area”. 
 
Policy P7/6 seeks to “protect and enhance the quality and distinctness of the historic built 
environment.” 
 

Page 85



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The South Cambridgeshire Local Plan No 2 – as proposed to be Adopted December 2003 
 
Policy SE8, infill villages, accepts the redevelopment of an existing residential curtilage provided that 
the development is sympathetic to the historic interests, character and amenities of the locality. 
 
Policy SE14 requires developments on the edge of a village to be sympathetically designed and 
landscaped to minimise the impact on the countryside. 
 
Policy EN44 requires developments within Conservation Areas to preserve and/or enhance their 
character. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Horningsea Parish Council has written three responses in respect of this proposal.  The first, 12th 
November 2003, outlines the (probable) recommendations of refusal to the scheme on the basis of 
inadequate and unsafe access.  The Parish Council has strived over the years to create a ‘safe haven’ for 
the children with the promotion of the Millennium Green and use of the access for such a large house, 
plus the two barn conversions, would be unacceptable. 
 
The Parish also query why an application for the demolition of the existing house has not yet been 
submitted. 
 
In the formal response dated 28th November 2003 the Parish Council stated that it was in talks with the 
applicant over allowing separate access from the north and that it felt the footprint was unnecessarily 
large, attracting more vehicles, which will be challenged by the County Council Highways “who 
begrudgingly allowed the present access to the village hall on a temporary basis.” 
 
In a third letter, 10th December 2003 the Parish Council advises me that the applicant has now sold the 
two barns at the rear so an alternative access to the north cannot be achieved as originally suggested.  
The applicant has suggested an alternative route, the plan of which would imply that it is not within his 
control! 
 
As such the Parish objects strongly to the application for two reasons, firstly that the dwelling is far too 
large and secondly the access is inadequate and an alternative should be sought. 
 
The Environment Agency has no objections in principle subject to agreement of foul drainage disposal. 
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer asks for a condition restricting the hours during which power 
operated machinery can be used on site during construction.  Information should also be submitted to 
determine whether or not there is any evidence of soil contamination on site.  There should be no 
burning on site and a Demolition Notice will be required to be served on the Building Control 
Department. 
 
The Conservation Manager 
 
“The general form of the layout appears to accord with our other discussions.  The suggestion was that 
the pool house should be very simple in form and have no openings onto the lane. 
 
Similarly, the main house should present simple elevations to the garden area. 
 
The elevations generally follow the form suggested in our previous discussions.  The objective is to 
reflect the simplicity of general building mass and detailing exhibited by the adjoining agricultural 
units (which are also to be converted into residential use.) 
 
I have some detailed concerns with regard to the chimneystack (which is inappropriate for this form of 
building and should be removed) and questions regarding the materials.  However, I am of the opinion 
that these issues can be resolved via conditions or by means of a delegated approval. 
 

Page 86



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Consequently, I have no objection but would suggest that a delegated approval is sought to finalise 
matters of detail.” 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The owner of Kings Acre is of the opinion that the traffic associated with a 3-garage property will be 
too much for the present access across the Green. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
With the site lying within the village framework and the proposal being a replacement dwelling, the 
issues are relatively straightforward although the concerns of the Parish Council are understood. 
 
An outline of the history of the site/area would be beneficial in order for Members to understand the 
concerns of the Parish. 
 
Basically all of the land for the Millennium Green, the Village Hall, the barn conversions to the 
north/north west, plus the current site, were all owned by Cambridgeshire County Council.  The current 
working farm to the north, Northgate Farm, together with its land to the east, is still owned by the 
County Council. 
 
Horningsea, with a declining population and allocated as “infill only”, was put forward under Policy 
SE10 of the Local Plan No 2 as suitable for a small group of dwellings if a site could be found.  At the 
same time, the County Council was looking at the future of Kings Farm, the buildings and some of the 
land being surplus to its requirements. 
 
As a result the first draft of Local Plan 2 allocated a site for housing, which included the present 
application site. 
 
During negotiations between the Parish Council and the County Council regarding the purchase of the 
land for the Millennium Green and Village Hall, all parties, including planning officers and those at 
County Highways, were concerned at the access implications of so much development served off a 
narrow, private roadway. 
 
This has all changed with the allocated site being deleted from the Local Plan.  The access to the 
current Hall, house and two barns (to be converted) will remain the same. 
 
Members will see from HISTORY above, that the suggestion of an alternative access across third party 
land to the north is not acceptable to the landowner (the County Council) and, now that the two barns 
have been sold, there is “no way through” from the current site.  The other option still crosses third 
party land which is not available. 
 
Whilst appreciating the concerns of the Parish Council, this house already has rights of access over the 
roadway so the issue before members is not that of finding another access, but is considering whether 
or not any additional traffic, which may or may not be generated by a larger house, will be sufficient to 
justify a refusal. 
 
Clearly such an argument could not be sustained. 
 
The second matter relates to the siting and design of the proposed house. 
 
There have been extensive discussions between officers and the architect whereby the courtyard 
scheme put forward has been agreed.  The two storey element of the dwelling will be similar in scale to 
the large barn adjacent and the scheme is purposely designed to carry though this barn theme.  Whilst 
the internal arrangement of the accommodation could be better planned, it is the external elevations 
which are important.   

Page 87



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
Glazing and joinery details will be important and the chimney, rather alien to the “barn”, needs to be 
re-designed.  Subject to the resolution of such matters, the proposal will preserve the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
For these reasons, delegated powers of approval are sought. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Delegated approval subject to minor changes to the elevations and safeguarding conditions relating to 
other matters of design, details, materials and landscaping. 
 
 
27. S/2460/03/F - THRIPLOW 

EXTENSIONS AND GARAGE/STORE AT 5 MIDDLE STREET FOR MR & MRS L 
HOLMES 

 
 
Members of Committee will visit the site on Monday 2nd February 2004 
 
 
CONSERVATION AREA 

 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The application site is occupied by a 2 storey (6.1 metres high) render and slate dwelling with a single 
storey brick and flint element on its north-western side and single storey additions to the rear.  The 
property is located along a bend in the road within a large open site that backs onto paddocks to the 
rear. 
 
The full application, submitted on 3rd December 2003, seeks to erect a 2 storey, 4 bedroomed extension 
to the rear of the existing dwelling.  The extension would be approximately 6.3 metres high and would 
be attached to the single storey element of the existing house by a single storey link building.  The total 
depth of the single storey and 2 storey elements amount to approximately 15.5 metres whilst, at its 
widest point, the extension measures 15.7 metres.  The extension would be constructed using a range of 
materials, namely render and timber boarding for the walls and slate and metal for the roofs.  The 
proposal also seeks to erect a detached timber and slate garage on the south side of the house 
 
A design report submitted with the application states that the house and side range are one of only two 
in Middle Street that sit directly on the edge of the verge.  This is unusual within the village as most 
properties are positioned further back within their site.  There are important views of the house from 
the south and north-west, the latter of which is compromised by the overgrown condition of the south 
west section of the garden and the rough construction of the gable itself.  The scheme exploits the 
300mm drop in the garden ground level which allows a greater storey height within the proposed 
extension whilst maintaining the overall section and eaves height of the existing house. 
 
An early photograph and extract from the 1886 OS map is enclosed with the application. A number of 
outbuildings were located to the rear of the house with a large barn to the west side adjoining the 
present single storey flint range.  The proposals return the density of development on the site to its 
previous historical context. 
 
The proposed extensions have been kept behind the existing dwelling leaving clear the open nature of 
the garden areas either side.  A diagram submitted as part of the application identifies 3 important 
views of the house.  These views would remain intact.  The new garage has been carefully designed 
with an open front bay and the views from School Lane back towards the house show that the mass and 
form of the dwelling will remain unchanged. 
 
 
HISTORY 

Page 88



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
S/1438/96/F – Application for single storey rear extension approved 
 
 
POLICY 
 
The site lies within the village Conservation Area. Policy P7/6 of the County Structure Plan 2003 
requires development to protect and enhance the quality and distinctiveness of the historic built 
environment, whilst Policies C33 of the 1993 Local Plan and EN44 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as 
proposed to be adopted February 2004) require new development in a Conservation Area to either 
preserve or enhance the character of the area.  
 
Policy P1/3 of the County Structure Plan 2003 stresses the need for a high standard of design and a 
sense of place which corresponds to the local character of the built environment. 
 
Policy HG17 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be adopted February 2004) states that 
planning permission for the extension of dwellings within village frameworks will not be permitted 
where (amongst other issues): 
 
• the design would be out of keeping with local characteristics; 
 
• there would be an unacceptable visual impact upon the street scene; 
 
• the proposal would seriously harm the amenities of neighbours through undue loss of light or 

privacy or by being unduly overbearing in terms of its mass. 
 
The land on the north-west side of the dwelling and within the site edged red has no specific policy 
designation.  However, within the 1999 Deposit Local Plan, this Authority proposed its designation as a 
Protected Village Amenity Area in order to maintain views across the site into open countryside.  
However, the Local Plan Inspector suggested that this designation be deleted from the Local Plan on 
the basis that the site does not have the character or appearance of a PVAA or serve any purpose 
meriting such a designation.  It is proposed, however, that the land directly to the rear of the site be 
included within the Green Belt. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Thriplow Parish Council raises “no objections in principle to an extension, however some councillors 
are concerned about the sheer size and bulk of these proposals, feel the hardwood cladding “jars” a bit 
and would prefer a design more sympathetic to the existing property. 
 
The Conservation Manager objects to the application stating: 
 
“The proposal would significantly extend the cottage to create a building almost 3 times the existing 
size of the cottage, with an additional barn-size garage also being introduced into the building group.  
The effect will be to develop an entire new suburban style house attached to the cottage, transforming 
the character of the site and blocking views across into the countryside.  The architectural and visual 
relationship between the two parts of the resultant building would be tenuous, with the cottage being 
dwarfed by its extensions and functionally becoming a rather odd annexe to the new house.  I can 
understand that the architects have tried to create the appearance of a building group, reflecting the 
agricultural origins of the site (by trying to keep the main new block as simple and uncluttered in terms 
of its roof form and silhouette behind the cottage) but I do not think they have succeeded. 
 
In my opinion, the scale and complexity of the new additions rather conflicts with the simplicity of the 
existing cottage.  The development does not seek to develop the positive characteristics of the site, it 
simply imposes itself upon the existing village scene and dominates the cottage.   

Page 89



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The result would be the development of a somewhat incoherent building mass at this important location 
within the Conservation Area.  This would neither preserve nor enhance the Conservation Area.  
Consequently this proposal should be resisted and the applicants advised to consider a more organic 
growth of the cottage, of a scale and proportion that retains the character of the cottage as the focus of 
the site, rather than as a reluctantly preserved and inconvenient residual component.  This will require a 
significant tempering of ambitions for the site.” 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters have been received from 4 local residents. Nos. 6 and 7 Middle Street raise no objections to the 
proposal whilst No. 9 Middle Street supports the application, stating that proposals are of an 
appropriate scale that will preserve the open character of the village and retain the original property 
along the street.  The occupiers of No. 4 Middle Street, whilst raising no objections in principle, do 
have a number of concerns, namely: 
 
• The view from Middle Street over the paddocks should be maintained; 
 
• The extension which is larger than the house will degrade the environment as the proposal 

represents a modest house being changed into an annexe of a large one under the guise of an 
extension. 

 
 
REPRESENTATION BY THE LOCAL MEMBER 
 
Councillor Quinlan supports the application stating: 
 
“I strongly support the applicant in this case and consider that the architects have produced a sensitive 
and distinguished design.  When considered in the site context and particularly in longer views from 
School Lane the architects have in my opinion produced a scheme which enhances the Conservation 
Area. I can see no reason whatsoever for a refusal of this scheme.” 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issue to consider in the determination of this application relates to the impact of the 
development upon the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
The site is occupied by a simple, traditional cottage which encloses a bend in the road and which has 
open spaces on either side providing views through to the open countryside to the rear.  The impending 
designation of the land to the rear as Green Belt indicates the importance of the openness of the site to 
the character of the village and Conservation Area and the need to retain views across the site.  The 
proposal involves the erection of a substantial 2 storey extension to the rear of the existing dwelling.  
The applicants have sought to demonstrate that the extension would not be prominent in important 
views across the site and that it would not dominate the existing cottage.  However, although the 
impact of the dwelling upon its surroundings may not be substantially altered when viewed from the 
south and across the fields from School Lane, the extended dwelling would have a significant impact 
when viewed from the west and north-west across the open land that lies adjacent to the cottage. 
 
This Council’s Conservation Manager has advised that the complexity of the design of the extension 
would be out of keeping with the simple form and character of the existing cottage.  In addition, its scale 
would result in the existing cottage being dwarfed by, and being seen as subservient to, its extensions.  
As a result of the siting, design and scale of the extension, it is considered that the character of the site 
would be harmed to the detriment of the character of the Conservation Area. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refusal 
 

Page 90



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The proposed extension, by virtue of its scale, design and siting would result in a form of development 
that would dominate and be out of keeping with the character of the existing cottage and be an unduly 
prominent feature in the street scene.  The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policies P7/6 of the 
2003 Structure Plan, C33 of the 1993 Local Plan and EN44 of the Deposit Local Plan which require 
new development in a Conservation Area to preserve or enhance the character of the area, and HG17 of 
the Deposit Local Plan which requires the design of extensions to be in keeping with local 
characteristics and to avoid any adverse visual impact upon the street scene.  
 
 
28. S/2302/02/O - WILLINGHAM 

2 DWELLINGS ON LAND ADJACENT TO AND REAR OF 35-37 CHURCH STREET 
FOR WILLINGHAM COMBINED CHARITY 

 
 
CONSERVATION AREA (PART OF SITE) 
 
 
This application was deferred at the February 2003 Committee meeting to enable officers to invite the 
applicant to submit the Flood Risk Assessment requested by the Environment Agency and further 
information to allow the effect of the proposal on the setting, character and appearance of the 
Willingham Conservation Area to be properly assessed. 
 
A copy of the report to the February 2003 Committee meeting is attached as an Appendix. 
 
 
AMENDED PROPOSAL/ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
An amended 1:200 block plan, date stamped 29th October 2003, shows a 4.8 metre wide access and a 
pedestrian visibility splay on the eastern side of the access.  Indicative plans showing a proposed siting 
and proposed elevations have also been received, but siting, design and landscaping remain reserved 
matters.  A site survey drawing has also been submitted.  The amended block plan indicates that the 
rear part of the site would be retained as grassland.  The dwellings would therefore now be restricted to 
a 26m x 17m approximately part of the site (equating to a density of 23 dwellings to the hectare) which 
would also include an access to the remaining grassland.    
 
 
CONSULTATIONS UPDATE (AMENDED PLANS) 
 
Willingham Parish Council recommends approval. 
 
The Conservation Manager states that he has no objection to the development of cottages in this 
location, but is of the opinion that their design, form and access should both respect the character of the 
frontage properties and enhance the character of the Conservation Area.  In his opinion, this proposal 
fails to achieve this objective and therefore should not be approved in this form. 
 
The Local Highway Authority recommends refusal due to the absence of a pedestrian visibility splay 
on the western side of the access. 
 
The Environment Agency has withdrawn its original objection following receipt of further 
correspondence from the agent and now recommends that a condition relating to surface water drainage 
is attached to any approval. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS UPDATE (AMENDED PLANS) 
 
Willingham Medical Practice supports the application. 
 
The occupier of 28 Fen End is still concerned about surface water run-off. 
 

Page 91



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The occupiers of 33 Church Street state that their previous objections are still relevant and raise the 
following additional concerns: the removal of the frontage wall would mean a gap in the boundary; 
concern as to where the street lamp would be re-sited; damage to drains under the access; the material 
used to make up the access increasing damp within the walls of Nos. 33 and 35; approval would allow 
for continued development on the remaining grassland; removal of mature tree; proposal would 
compromise the character of the Conservation Area; design may change if/when outline permission is 
granted; and the bungalows would be in close proximity to the Three Tuns Public House which has 
regular live music.  
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS UPDATE 
 
The amended plan and additional information submitted (which depict a pair of simple, unassuming 
one-bedroom properties located behind, and closely related to, the almshouses at Nos. 35 and 37 
Church Street) has satisfied me that a proposal could be designed that would not detract from the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area or the locality.  Furthermore, by ensuring that the 
dwellings would be well-related to existing frontage development along Church Street, and by retaining 
a large part of the rear of the site as grassland, my previous concerns that any residential development 
to the rear of properties in Church Street should from part of a comprehensive scheme would be 
overcome.  Siting, design and landscaping are reserved matters.  However, in my opinion, the general 
position and alignment of the dwellings as shown on the indicative plans would be acceptable although, 
having discussed the proposal further with the Conservation Manager, further consideration needs to be 
given to the detailed layout of the site and the design of the dwellings prior to the submission of a 
reserved matters application.  An informative to this effect would be appropriate. 
 
A 4.8 metre wide access is now proposed which is acceptable to the Local Highway Authority.  Whilst 
it still recommends that a pedestrian visibility splay should also be provided on the west side of the 
access, this cannot be achieved.  Given the increased width of the access (whereby vehicles exiting the 
site are now likely to be on the left hand/east side or perhaps the middle, but not on the right hand/west 
side) and the limited number of additional movements that are likely to be generated by 2no. one-
bedroom bungalows, I do not consider that the application could reasonably be refused on the basis that 
no pedestrian visibility splay was to be provided on the west side of the access. 
 
Very shallow (3 metres) rear gardens are indicated.  Whilst this is considerably shorter than I would 
normally expect, the site is towards the centre of the village and it is the Charity’s intention to make 
them available for elderly persons.  For these reasons, I consider that this would be generally 
acceptable in this particular instance, although, as stated above, further consideration will need to be 
given to the scheme prior to the submission of a reserved matters application and a modest increase in 
the depth of gardens may be achievable. 
 
Three parking spaces are indicated, which would be appropriate. 
 
The additional comments made by the occupiers of 28 Fen End and 33 Church Street have been 
carefully considered, but none are considered to be reason to refuse the application. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval (as amended by drawing no. WILL/312/3 ‘A’ date stamped 29.10.03 and certificate dated 
30.10.03) 
 
1. Standard outline condition 1 a, b & d – RC1 
 
2. Standard outline time condition B – RCB 
 
3. Standard condition 52 ‘Implementation of landscaping’ – RC52 
 
4. Standard condition 60 ‘Boundary treatments’ – RC60 
 

Page 92



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
5. Standard condition 5f ‘Materials to be used for hard surfaces areas’ – RC To ensure the 

satisfactory appearance of the development 
 
6. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the provision and implementation 

of surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The works/scheme shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the 
approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be specified in the approved scheme – RC 
To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage to prevent the increased risk of 
flooding. 

 
7. Highway condition B10 ‘Laying out and construction of the access’ – RC In the interests of 

highway safety  
 
8. Highway condition C1 a & b ‘Parking and turning’ – RC In the interests of highway safety  
 
9. Highway condition C3 a & b ‘Parking and turning’ – RC In the interests of highway safety 
 
10. Before either of the dwellings are first occupied, the visibility splay on the east side of the 

access shown upon drawing no. WILL/312/3 ‘A’ shall be provided and shall be maintained 
free from obstruction over a height of 600mm – RC In the interests of highway safety 

 
Informative: 
 
The layout of the site and the siting and design of the dwellings shown upon drawing nos. WILL/312/3 
‘A’, WILL/312/5 and WILL/312/6 is generally considered to be acceptable although further detailed 
consideration needs to be given to these matters to ensure that the proposal preserves or enhances the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The applicant is therefore strongly advised to 
contact the Local Planning Authority to discuss these details before submitting any reserved matters 
application. 
 
 
 
  

Page 93



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
29. S/2121/03/F - WEST WRATTING 

HOUSE AND GARAGE - LAND R/O 3 HIGH STREET FOR J & J ALDERTON LTD 
 
 
SITE AND PROPOSAL 
 
The application site (0.13 hectares, 0.32 acres) lies to the rear/west of, and forms part of the garden area 
to, No. 3 High Street, a 11/2 storey cream render and tile dwelling.  To the north of the site are a 2 
storey dwelling and 2 listed thatched properties (Nos. 5,7 and 9 High Street respectively) whilst beyond 
the site to the north-west are terraced bungalows sited within Hayter Close.  To the south is a Public 
House (The Chestnut Tree) together with a detached dwelling constructed to the rear/south-west of the 
pub (No. 1a Mill Road/Orchard House).  The site is well screened on all sides by a mix of hedges and 
trees. 
 
The full application, submitted on 10th October 2003 and amended on 31st October 2003 and 20th 
January 2004, seeks to erect a detached house and garage on the site.  The proposed dwelling would be 
a 4 bedroomed L-shaped property standing a total of 8.3 metres high (4.5 metres to eaves) and 
comprising rendered walls and a plain tiled roof.  A new access would be created on the south side of 
No. 3 High Street in order to serve the plot.  In order to provide access to the site, a 4 metre wide strip 
of land that currently lies within the curtilage of the public house, would be utilised.  The proposal also 
seeks to erect a double garage, measuring 6m x 6m and standing 5.6m high, in the south-eastern corner 
of the plot.  The density of the development equates to 8 dwellings/hectare. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
None 
 
 
POLICY 
 
West Wratting is identified as an Infill Only village.  Policies H21 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 1993 and SE8 of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be adopted February 2004) state 
that development in Infill villages will be restricted to no more than 2 dwellings providing the site does 
not form an essential part of village character and development is sympathetic to the historic interests, 
character and amenities of the locality. 
 
Policy HG16A of the Deposit Local Plan 1999 (as proposed to be adopted 2004) relates to backland 
development.  This states that development to the rear of existing properties will not be permitted 
where it would: 
 
(a) Result in overbearing, overlooking or overshadowing of existing residential properties; 
 
(b) Result in noise and disturbance to existing residential properties through the use of its access; 
 
(c) Result in highway dangers through the use of its access; 
 
(d) Be out of character with the pattern of development in the vicinity. 
 
Policy P1/3 of the County Structure Plan 2003 stresses the need for a high standard of design and a 
sense of place which corresponds to the local character of the built environment. 
 
 

Page 94



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
West Wratting Parish Council objects to the application, stating: 
 
“We consider this to be backland development and therefore we refuse the application and would also 
like the application to go to committee as it contradicts Policy SE8 and SE9 regarding infill only, SE9A 
regarding the frontage and SE9b regarding the character of the village.  We would also point out that 
the access is on top of a stream and the land has well known drainage problems of which you are aware 
having contributed to the cost of a land drain along the back.  It is creating a new access on a busy 
location with inadequate visibility.  It contravenes Policy EN9 as the proposed site is bounded by 
mature, mixed hedgerows which form part of the Zone of Nature Conservation Interest and if the land 
is developed may well mean the disruption or removal of parts or all of these hedgerows.” 
 
In addition to the above, the Parish Council requests that a fuller environmental survey be carried out 
on the plot double checking land drainage problems, hedgerows and wildlife. 
 
The Trees and Landscape Officer raises no objections subject to ‘no-dig’ construction of the driveway 
 
The Environment Agency comments that the application does not consider sufficiently issues of foul 
water drainage and therefore recommends that a condition be applied to any planning consent requiring 
a foul water drainage scheme to be agreed before the commencement of development.  In addition, a 
Flood Risk Assessment is requested. 
 
The Local Highways Authority objects to the application due to the restricted visibility to the south of 
the proposed access.  The comments of the Local Highways Authority in respect of the amended plan 
showing increased visibility splays will be reported verbally at the Committee meeting.  
 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer raises no objections subject to conditions restricting hours of 
use of power operated machinery and requiring details of driven pile foundations if proposed.  
 
The comments of the Ecology Officer in response to concerns raised by the Parish Council will be 
reported verbally at the Committee meeting. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters of objection have been received from 6 local residents – Orchard House, Rose Cottage, The Old 
Vicarage, 9 High St, Reed House and 54 High St.  The main points raised are: 
 
• Any development in the village must be infill only and within the envelope.  This is not infill 

development as the buildings will not face onto the High Street. 
 
• Backland development would be out of keeping with the linear character of the village; 
 
• Approving the application would set a dangerous precedent as there are many other potential 

opportunities within West Wratting for backland development; 
 
• The site flooded a few years ago and a new drain has since been laid.  It is difficult to establish 

if this measure has been sufficient and reducing the available space for the water to disperse 
may pose a risk to surrounding properties.  A full assessment of potential flooding from 
increased run-off should be carried out; 

 
• The access would be dangerous.  The junction of High Street, Mill Road and The Common is 

already hazardous and the proposed development would exacerbate this problem; 
 
• The use of the access would result in noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties; 
 
• The dwelling would overlook and be overbearing in the outlook from No. 9 High Street to the 

north and would also overlook Orchard House to the south-east; 
 

Page 95



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
• Controls should be introduced for the garage to prevent any windows being added to the 

roofspace; 
 
• The dwelling is too high and not in keeping with surrounding properties.  The hip-gable adds 1.2 

metres to the height and serves no purpose so should be removed; 
 
• The side window to bedroom 1 should be deleted and conditions preventing any further 

windows in this elevation added to any consent; 
 
• No boundary treatment or external lighting details are given 
 
 
REPRESENTATION BY THE APPLICANT 
 
In response to concerns expressed by consultees and local residents, the applicant states the following: 
 
• The applicant has spoken to the owners of the site regarding flooding.  Apparently flooding did 

occur 3 years ago but has been rectified by a relief ditch along the western boundary.  It is 
understood there have been no further problems since this trench was constructed; 

 
• Orchard House, No. 1a High Street is sited to the rear of the Chestnut Tree Public House and the 

creation of a backland plot would therefore not be out of keeping with the character of the area. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMENTS 
 
The main issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to the principle of the 
development, its impact upon the character of the area and upon the amenities of adjoining residents, 
highway safety and drainage/flooding issues. 
 
Principle of the development 
West Wratting is identified as an Infill Only village. Concerns have been raised by the Parish Council 
and local residents on the basis that the proposal represents backland rather than infill development and 
is therefore unacceptable.  Policy SE8 of the Deposit Local Plan states, however, that infill 
development can include the sub-division of an existing residential curtilage as well as a gap in an 
otherwise built up frontage.  Creating a backland plot does not therefore contravene policies relating to 
infill only villages. 
 
Impact upon the character of the area 
Policy HG16a of the Deposit Local Plan states that backland development may be acceptable providing 
it would not be out of character with the pattern of development in the vicinity of the site.  The Parish 
Council and a number of local residents have objected to the application as the scheme is considered to 
be alien to the linear character of the village.  However, to the south of the site is Orchard House (No. 
1a Mill Road), a backland plot sited to the rear of the Chestnut Tree Public House, for which planning 
permission was granted in 1993.  In addition, to the north-west of the site is a development of 
approximately 20 dwellings (Hayter Close) that extends further beyond the High Street than the 
application site.  Although West Wratting is predominantly a linear village, there is development in 
depth in the immediate vicinity of the site and I therefore consider that the creation of a backland plot 
would not be out of keeping with the character of the surrounding area. 
 
Residential Amenity 
Objections have been raised to the application on the basis that the amenities of adjoining residents 
would be compromised due to overlooking from upper floor windows and to the overbearing impact of 
the dwelling when viewed from neighbouring properties.  
 

Page 96



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
The proposed dwelling sits within a plot measuring approximately 36 metres in each direction and is 
set some 15 metres into the plot.  The distance between the frontage of the house and the rear elevation 
of the dwelling at No. 3 High Street is in excess of 30 metres. No. 9 High Street to the north of the site 
is sited 31 metres away from the north elevation of the proposed dwelling.  Although 2 windows are 
proposed at first floor level in the north side elevation, they both serve bathrooms and are shown as 
being obscure glazed.  As such, I am satisfied that the privacies of the occupiers of this dwelling would 
not be unduly affected by the development. I would recommend, however, that conditions be applied to 
any consent requiring the openings to be permanently maintained with obscure glass and preventing the 
insertion of further windows without planning consent.  
 
No. 1a Mill Road, the property to the south-east, has also expressed concerns about overlooking from 
the development.  The distance between the first floor bedroom window in the rear wing of the south 
side elevation of the dwelling and the nearest window in this neighbouring property is approximately 
35 metres.  Given this distance and the existing screening between the two sites, I am satisfied that the 
privacies of this neighbour would not be affected.  No first floor windows are shown in the south 
elevation of the main part of the dwelling and, again, a condition should be applied to any consent 
preventing the insertion of any windows here at a later date. 
 
In my opinion the dwelling is sited sufficiently far from any neighbouring property not to have an 
overbearing impact.  In addition, the proposed means of access would be situated 10 metres away from 
the side elevation of No. 3 High Street, and separated from it by No. 3’s garage and would therefore not 
result in undue noise and disturbance to the occupiers of this property. 
 
Highway Safety 
The application proposes to create a new point of vehicular access in close proximity to an awkward 
road junction.  The Local Highways Authority initially advised that the highway safety implications of 
creating an access at this point would render the application unacceptable.  As a result of these 
objections, the applicants put forward a proposal to remodel the junction.  However, this solution was 
opposed by the Parish Council and, after liasing with private traffic consultants and the Local 
Highways Authority, the applicants have submitted an amended plan showing the provision of 2.4m x 
33m visibility splay, thereby providing unobstructed visibility to the junction.  This would necessitate 
the removal of a front boundary hedge and replanting behind the splay.  
 
I understand that the Local Highways Authority would recommend approval of the application on this 
basis and any confirmation/comments received will be reported verbally at the Committee meeting. 
 
Drainage/Flooding Issues 
The Parish Council and local residents have raised concerns about previous flooding on the site.  The 
Environment Agency was notified of these objections and has requested the submission of a Flood Risk 
Assessment as well as recommending that a condition be applied to any planning consent requiring foul 
water drainage details. 
 
It is anticipated that a Flood Risk Assessment will be submitted by the applicants and considered prior 
to the Committee meeting.  The outcome of the assessment together with comments received will be 
reported verbally to Members at the Committee meeting.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Subject to the submission of a satisfactory Flood Risk Assessment and providing no objections or new 
issues are raised by the Ecology Officer, delegated powers are sought to approve the application as 
amended by plans date stamped 31st October 2003 and 20th January 2004, subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. Standard Condition A (Reason A); 
 
2. Sc5a – Details of materials – (Rc5aii); 
 
3. Sc22 – No further windows at first floor level in the north and south elevations of the dwelling 

and in the south elevation of the garage (Rc22); 

Page 97



Development and Conservation Control Committee  4th February 2004 
Report of the Development Services Director 
 
 
4. Sc23 – First floor windows in north elevation of dwelling to be obscure glazed (Rc23); 
 
5. Sc51 – Landscaping (Rc51); 
 
6. Sc52 – Implementation of landscaping (Rc52); 
 
7. Sc60 – Boundary treatment details (Rc60); 

 
8. No dig construction of driveway (Reason – To ensure the retention of the ash tree in the 

interests of preserving the character of the site); 
 
9. Provision of foul water drainage scheme (Reason – To prevent the increased risk of pollution 

to the water environment); 
 
10. Restrict hours of use of power operated machinery (Reason – To minimise noise disturbance 

to adjoining residents). 
 
+ Any conditions recommended by the Local Highways Authority, Environment Agency and Ecology Officer. 

Page 98



APPEALS AGAINST PLANNING DECISIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 
 

 
 
This item is intended to update Members on appeals against planning decisions and enforcement action.  
Information is provided on appeals lodged, proposed hearing and inquiry dates, appeal decisions and when 
appropriate, details of recent cases of interest. 
 
Statistics for the last quarter and the whole of last year are set out overleaf. 
 
164 appeals were received last year. This is a 31% increase on the previous year and an 88% increase on the 
2001/2002 total. It is also the highest total since 1990. The increase nationally over the previous year was about 
10%. 
 
A major reason for the number of appeals received is because 52 were received by, or on behalf of, travellers. 
There were 17 such appeals in the previous year. 
 
The total number of planning and listed building appeals dismissed was 75%. This compares with 69% the 
previous year. The latest available figures show the national average to be around 64%. Our performance is 
therefore well above the national average. 
 
Some 68% of all appeal decisions last year were dealt with by way of written representations. 27% were dealt 
with by hearings, which is above the national trend. The remaining 5% followed a public inquiry. 
 
1.  Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 
2.         Appeals received 
3.   Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled before the next meeting on  
  3rd March 2004  
4.         Appeals withdrawn or postponed 
5. Advance notification of future Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates (subject  
  to postponement or cancellation) 
 
1. Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 
   
Ref. No.                 Details                                                                                     Decision and Date 
 
S/0786/03/A Greene King Pub Company Dismissed 
 Blue Lion PH 2 Horningsea Road 08/12/2003 
 Fen Ditton 
 Signs 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/0744/03/F Mr & Mrs S R Flack Dismissed 
 48 Fishers Lane 10/12/2003 
 Orwell 
 Extension 
 (Delegated Refusal) 
  
S/0156/03/O Mrs L Jarman Dismissed 
 Adj & r/o 2 Cross Lane 15/12/2003 
 Melbourn 
 Bungalow & garage 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

Agenda Item 4bPage 99



S/0567/03/F Mr & Mrs Larkin Dismissed 
 R/o 91 High Street (off Meadow Walk) 09/01/2004 
 Great Abington 
 Bungalow 
 (Delegated Refusal) 
 
2.            Appeals received 
 
Ref. No.                Details                                                                                                Date 

S/1933/03/F Mr & Mrs Jeffery 12/12/2003 
 36 Manor Park 
 Histon 
 Conservatory 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/0780/03/F A Duke & Sons 12/12/2003 
 Off New Road 
 Melbourn 
 2 houses 
 (Officer Recommendation to Refuse) 

S/1097/03/O Messers BF, KJ & PA Willers 17/12/2003 
 Centenary Works, Button End 
 Harston 
 Residential Development 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/1717/03/F Mr R Thorpe 18/12/2003 
 45 Church Lane 
 Girton 
 Erection of 2 dwellings following demolition of existing dwelling 
 and outbuildings 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/1615/03/F Wheatley Homes Ltd 05/01/2004 
 Majestic Motors, Cambridge Road 
 Wimpole 
 Two houses & garages 
 (Non-Determination) 

S/1876/03/F Mr H Wiseman 22/12/2003 
 Adj 15 Back Lane 
 Haslingfield 
 House 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/1058/03/F Mr & Mrs Sherwood 24/12/2003 
 R/o 117 High Street 
 Melbourn 
 Erection of a dwelling & double garage 

Page 100



 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/0959/03/O Mr & Mrs M Pleasants 24/12/2003 
 Adj 40 Green End 
 Landbeach 
 Dwelling 
 (Officer Recommendation to Refuse) 

S/1785/03/PNT Orange PCS Ltd 24/12/2003 
 Manor Farm, Green End 
 Comberton 
 15 metre high monopole telecommunications mast & associated 
 development 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

E 501 Mr H Price 05/01/2004 
 Primrose Meadow, Cow Lane 
 Rampton 
 Enforcement against use of land as residential caravan site 

S/0177/03/F Mr J Biddall 05/01/2004 
 Kneesworth Road 
 Meldreth 
 Change of use of land to travelling show peoples quarters 
 (Officer Recommendation to Refuse) 

S/1996/03/F Mr S Parr 05/01/2004 
 101 High Street 
 Cottenham  
 Erection of garage with study/hobbies room above 
 (Officer Recommendation to Refuse) 
  

S/1966/03/F Mr & Mrs Swann 05/01/2004 
 5 Conder Close 
 Milton 
 Extension 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/2005/03/F Mr D J Baldwin 22/12/2003 
 Adj Westwind, Highfields Road, Highfields 
 Caldecote 
 House 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

Page 101



S/1934/03/F Mr J Crickmore      09/01/2004 
 The Barn, Chesterton Fen Road 
 Milton 
 Change of use to tropical plant nursery comprising erection of 3 
 glasshouses, general purpose shed, alteration and extensions to  
 existing barn/stable for display and sales, retention of mobile  
 home and provision of car parking. 
 (Non-Determination) 

S/0181/03/LDC Shelford Lodge Ltd  13/01/2004 
 144 Cambridge Road 
 Great Shelford 
 Certificate of lawfulness for siting & use of mobile home for  
 Residential accommodation 
 (Delegated Refusal) 

S/1423/03/F Mr & Mrs Nicol  14/01/2004 
 111 Cambridge Road 
 Waterbeach 
 Extension 
 (Officer Recommendation to Refuse) 

S/1579/03/F Mr & Mrs T J Graver  15/01/2004 
 67 Town Green Road 
 Orwell 
 Extensions 
 (Delegated Refusal) 
 
 
3.   Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled before the next meeting on  
  3rd March 2004 
 
Ref. No.                 Details                                                                                      Date/Time/Venue 
 
S/0407/03/O Cambridge Building Society 04/02/2004 
 R/o 37 High Street Committee 
 Sawston Room 2 
 4 flats 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 

9 Appeals Plots 7-12 & 14-16 Pineview 10/02/2004 
 Smithy Fen Committee 
 Cottenham Room 1 
 Siting of travellers’ mobile homes 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 

E461C Mr P O'Brien 10/02/2004 
 Land off Water Lane Committee 
 Smithy Fen,  Room 1 
 Cottenham Committee 
 Enforcement against change of use to residential caravan site Room 1 
 (Informal Hearing) 10.00am 

Page 102



S/2447/02/F Mr J Flynn 10/02/2004 
 6A Orchard Drive, Smithy Fen Committee 
 Cottenham Room 1 
 1 Mobile Home, 1 touring caravan and day room 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/2370/02/F J Culligan 10/02/2004 
 7 Orchard Drive, Smithy Fen Committee 
 Cottenham Room 1 
 Caravan & day room 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/0040/03/F Mrs Hedges 17/02/2004 
 Carefield, Button End Council 
 Harston Chamber 
 siting of 2 gypsy caravans and 1 mobile unit for 1 gypsy family 10.00am 
 (Local Inquiry) To sit for 3 days 
 
S/0204/03/F Dr L Berman 24/02/2004 
 34 West Green Committee 
 Barrington Room 2 
 Replacement dwelling 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1999/02/O Mr A Edgar 25/02/2004 
 Land North of The Beeches, 21 Green Lane Committee 
 Linton Room 2 
 4 Bungalows 10.00am 
 (Informal Hearing) 
 
 
4.            Appeals withdrawn or postponed 
  
Ref. No.                 Details                                                                                                Reason and Date 
 
S/1750/02/F Mrs S Garlick Withdrawn 
 Charlwood Farm. Camps End               By Appellant 
 Castle Camps                 14 January 2004 
 Erection of a dwelling 
 
 
5.  Advance notification of future Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates (subject  
  to postponement or cancellation) 
  
Ref. No.                 Details                                                                                                Date 
 

27 Appeals Plots 1-33 Sandy Park 09/03/2004 
 Fen Road, Chesterton Confirmed 
 Milton To sit for 
 Siting of gypsy caravans 3 days 
 (Local Inquiry) 

Page 103



S/0609/03/F Hogger Homes Ltd 23/03/2004 
 15-17 Mill Road, R/o 13-23 Mill Road, R/o 17-23 Highfield  Confirmed 
 Impington 
 Erection of 12 houses, 4 flats and garages following demolition  
 of existing dwelling (15-17 Mill Road) 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1684/03/F Hogger Homes Ltd 23/03/2004 
 R/o 17-23 Highfield Road & 15-17 Mill Road Confirmed 
 Impington 
 Erection of 12 houses, 4 flats and garages following demolition  
 of existing dwelling (15-17 Mill Road) 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/6200/03/RM MCA Developments Ltd 24/03/2004 
 Land East of Monk Drive,  Confirmed 
 Cambourne 
 Construction of a multi use games area 
 (Local Inquiry) 

S/1310/03/O Mr P Harris 06/04/2004 
 Adj Greenacre, Chapel Road, Weston Green Confirmed 
 Weston Colville 
 House & garage 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1935/02/F Mr & Mrs M A G Francis 20/04/2004 
 Adj The Old Police Station Confirmed 
 Fowlmere 
 House 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/0424/03/F Mr W Willett 11/05/2004 
 Appletree Mobile Home Park, Histon Road Confirmed 
 Cottenham 
 Reorganization & extension to mobile home park and land  
 adjoining Histon Road, Cottenham. 
 (Informal Hearing) 
 
S/1472/02/F Trustees of the Henry Settlement 12/05/2004 
 Mines Farm, Weston Green Confirmed 
 Weston Coville 
 Erection of a country house, staff cottage & stables together  
 with parkland, landscaping and excavation of lakes 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1819/02/F Mr G North 08/06/2004 
 The Bogs, The Cinques Confirmed 
 Gamlingay 
 Removal of mobile home personal occupancy condition. 
 (Local Inquiry) 

Page 104



S/0455/03/F Excelcare 15/06/2004 
 Etheldred House, Clay Street Confirmed 
 Histon 
 Erection of nursing home (95 bed), District nurses centre, and  
 alterations to access following demolition of existing 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/0208/03/RM Persimmon Homes (East Midlands) Ltd 22/06/2004 
 Land West Of Confirmed 
 Longstanton 
 Erection of 97 dwellings and ancillary works 
 (Local Inquiry) 

S/1594/03/F Keith Collier Engineering Ltd 29/06/2004 
 Unit 6, Riverview Farm, Overcote Road, Confirmed 
 Over 
 Extension to workshop 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1202/03/LB Mr & Mrs Bryce-Smith 30/06/2004 
 Home Farm, 10 High Street Confirmed 
 Shepreth 
 Extension 
 (Informal Hearing) 

S/1203/03/F Mr & Mrs Bryce-Smith 30/06/2004 
 Home Farm, 10 High Street Confirmed 
 Shepreth 
 Extension 
 (Informal Hearing) 
 
S/0780/03/F A Duke & Sons 13/07/2004 
 Off New Road Offered/Accepted 
 Melbourn 
 2 houses 
 (Informal Hearing) 
 

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATIONS OVER 13 WEEKS AWAITING DECISIONS (inclusive of Week 42) 
 
 
 AREA 1 
 

 
S/0327/00/F 

 
Egg Production Unit, Land off Newton Road, 
Whittlesford 

 
Awaiting 
Submission of 
Environmental 
Impact Assessment 

 
S/0328/00/F 

 
Mobile Home, Land off Newton Road, Whittlesford 

 
See S/0327/00/F 
above 
Court Judgement 

 
S/1229/00/F 

 
Hotel with Associated Car Parking and Landscaping, 
Whitefields/Uplands, Hinton Way, Great Shelford 

 
S106 Agreement 
associated with 
adjoining golf 
course application 
S/2257/01/F 

 
S/0750/01/F 

 
Warehouse with Ancillary Offices, Spicers Ltd, 
Spicers Ltd, Sawston 

 
S106 Agreement 
between County 
and Developers 

 
S/1219/01/F 

 
Residential Development Including Access Road, 
Landmatch Ltd, Land North of A505, Heathfield, 
Thriplow 

 
Awaiting Local 
Plan adoption 

 
S/2257/01/F 

 
Golf Course with Associated Club House, Car 
Parking, Landscaping including Lakes and 
Maintenance Facilities, St John’s College/RHL – 
Cambridge Ltd, Land North of Granhams Road and 
Between Granhams Road and Hinton Way, Great 
Shelford 

 
Environmental 
Statement.  S106 
Agreement 

 
S/2409/01/HSC 

 
Storage of Hazardous Substances, Vantico Ltd, 
Ickleton Road, Duxford 

 
Awaiting response 
from H & S 
Executive 

 
S/0731/02/F 

 
Extension to Garage to Form Annexe, P Turner, 
Barhams, Bakers Lane, Linton 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1092/02/F 

 
Partial Reconstruction and Conversion of Former 
Malting Building into Dwelling with Garaging, Mrs R 
Wellings, The Old Maltings, R/O 96/98 High Street, 
Linton 

 
S.106 Agreement 

 
S/1310/02/F 

 
Air Conditioning Units, Vocalis Ltd, Chaston House, 
Mill Court, Great Shelford 

 
Negotiations with 
Environmental 
Health.  Awaiting 
more information 
 

 
S/1869/02/F 

 
Change of Use from Shop (Class A1) and Residential 
to Professional Services (Class A2) and Residential, 
Thomas Webb & Corfield, 43 High Street, Sawston 

 
S.106 Agreement 

Agenda Item 4cPage 107



 
S/2068/02/O 

 
Residential Development including Vehicular Access, 
T Ginty, Land adjacent & r/o 168 High Street, 
Harston 

 
S.106 Agreement 
 
 

 
S/2392/02/O 

 
Medical Centre and Associated Parking, Sawston 
Medical Practice, Allotment Site, London Road, 
Sawston 

 
S.106 Agreement 

 
S/0623/03/F 

 
Grain Storage and Drying Facilities Buildings and 
Associated Offices, West Wratting 

 
Awaiting details 
required by 
Highways Agency 

 
S/0689/03/F 

 
10 Houses, Circle 33 Housing Trust Ltd, Land R/O 
15-24 Magna Close, Great Abington 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/0701/03/O 

 
Renewal of Planning Permission S/0945/99/O for 
Redevelopment of Site for B1 Purposes as Varied by 
Planning Permission S/1764/00/F, Part Dales Manor 
Business Park, Babraham Road, Sawston 

 
Variation to S106 
Agreement 

 
S/0827/03/F 

 
12 Dwellings, Hunts Road, Duxford 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1254/03/F 

 
Change of Use and Extensions to Officers Mess to 
Form Hotel, Officers Mess, Imperial War Museum, 
Duxford in the Parish of Whittlesford 

 
Consultation on 
amended scheme 

 
S/1366/03/F 

 
Extension, Harston Manor, Church Street, Harston 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/1388/03/F 

 
Conversion of Outbuilding into Annexe, Park Farm, 
Haverhill Road, Castle Camps 

 
Awaiting S106 

 
S/1409/03/O 

 
Residential Development (Affordable Housing) Land 
off Lacey’s Way, Duxford 

 
February 
Committee 

 
S/1410/03/O 

 
Erection of 4 Dwellings and Garages Following 
Demolition of Commercial Buildings, Land off 
Moorfield Road, Duxford 

 
February 
Committee 

 
S/1614/03/F 

 
Erection of 13 dwellings and Garages Following 
Demolition of Existing Buildings, Tunwells Close, 
Tunwells Lane, Great Shelford 
 

 
Awaiting Amended 
Plans 

 
S/1655/03/F 

 
Excavation of Conservation Lake, Bartlow Hall, 
Bartlow Park, Bartlow 

 
Awaiting 
Archaeological 
Survey 

 
S/1711/03/RM 

 
Erection of Buildings for Business Use [Classes 
B1(a), (b) & (c)], Part of Dales Manor Business Park, 
Babraham Road, Sawston 

 
Amended Plans 
being considered 

 
S/1745/03/F 

 
2 Dwellings and Garage, Land Adj. 2 Granta Road, 
Sawston 

 
Amended Plans 
being considered 

 
S/1823/03/F 

 
Erection of 6 Flats Following Demolition of Existing 
Dwelling, 218 Cambridge Road, Great Shelford 

 
Amended Plans 
being considered 

Page 108



 
S/1819/03/F 

 
Extensions, Keepers Cottage, Haverhill Road, 
Stapleford 

 
Awaiting 
amendments or 
withdrawal of 
application 

 
S/1883/03/F 

 
Workshop Extension, Cambridge Farm Machinery, 
Church Road, Hauxton 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1917/03/F 

 
Conversion & Extension of cart Lodge into Dwelling, 
Home Farm, High Street, Harston 

 
Amended plans 
being considered 

 
S/1923/03/F 

 
3 Houses, 3-5 High Street, Balsham 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1924/03/F 

 
Extension to Coach House, The Lawn, 33 Church 
Street, Great Shelford 

 
Awaiting further 
information from 
applicant 

 
S/1937/03/F 

 
House, Land Adj. The Old School House, 
Whittlesford 

 
Amended plans 
being considered 

 
S/2014/03/F 

 
Erection of 3 Houses and Change of Use of 
Agricultural Land to off-Street Parking, Land Adj. 
Meadow Cottage, High Street, Castle Camps  

 
Awaiting response 
to amended plans 

 
S/2058/03/F 

 
Alteration to Vehicular Access, 65 Hauxton Road, 
Little Shelford 

 
February 
Committee 

 
S/2065/03/F 

 
Extension, 15 Tower View, Linton 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/2081/03/F 

 
Replacement Dwelling and Double Garage with 
Gym/Office over, 87 High Street, Balsham 

 
Amended plans 
being considered 

 
S/2103/03/F 

 
Agricultural Dwelling and Wind Turbine, 
Meadowbrook Farm, Cambridge Road, Great 
Abington 

 
Additional info 
being considered by 
County Farms 
Manager 

 
S/2121/03/F 

 
House and Garage, Land R/O 3 High Street, West 
Wratting 

 
February 
Committee 

 
(39 Applications compared with 32 in November) 
 

AREA 2 
 
      
 
S/0917/93/F 
 

 
Change of Use of Land to Rowing Lake and  
Country Park; Construction of New and  
Changed Roads, a Canal, Bridges, Embankments and 
Boathouse including Wardens Accommodation at 
Milton/Waterbeach 

 
Section 106 
Agreement.  Awaiting 
new Environmental 
Impact Assessment 

Page 109



 
S/2379/01/O 

 
Development Comprising Residential, Employment, 
Retail, Leisure, Social/Community Uses, Open Space, 
Educational Facilities and Associated Transport 
Infrastructure, Gallagher Estates Ltd and Lands 
Improvement Holdings Plc, Land at Arbury Camp, 
Kings Hedges Road, Cambridge, In the Parish of 
Impington 

 
Environmental 
Statement.  M/C May 
Awaiting resolution of 
S.106 

 
S/1154/02/O 

 
Residential Development (16 Dwellings) to Include 
Affordable Housing, Ely Diocesan Board of Finance, 
Land at Main Street, Stow cum Quy 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1155/02/O 

 
 Residential Development to Include Affordable 
Housing, Ely Diocesan Board of Finance, Land at 
Main Street, Stow cum Quy 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1956/02/F 
 

 
Highway Infrastructure, Gallagher Estates Ltd and 
L.I.H Plc, Arbury Camp, Kings Hedges Road, 
Cambridge/Impington 

 
Submitted in tandem 
With S/2379/01/O. 
M/C May 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1992/02//F 

 
Excavation of Balancing Pond to Service Adjacent 
Office Development, Girton Road Investment, 
Partnership, Land R/O Wellbrook Way, Girton 

 
Awaiting S.106 
Agreement 

 
S/0157/03/O 

 
Primary School, Arbury Camp, Impington 

 
To be determined 

 
S/0158/03/O 

 
Historical Resource and Cultural Centre and Ancillary 
Development, Land at Arbury Camp, North of Kings 
Hedges Road, Cambridge in the Parish of Impington 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/0256/03/F 

 
Change of Use of 4 Poultry Buildings to Storage and 
Distribution (Class B8) and Removal of Agricultural 
Occupancy Conditions (Condition 3 of Planning 
Permission C/73/1150/O and Condition 2 of Planning 
Permission C/73/1515/D) on existing Farm 
Bungalow, Mereway Farm, Milton Road, Impington 

 
S106  
Agreement 

 
S/0352/03/F 

 
Highway Infrastructure, Land at Kings Hedges Road, 
Cambridge/Impington 

 
To be determined 

 
S/0596/03/F 

 
Eight 8 Metre Lighting Columns (Retrospective 
Application) Felix Hotel, Whitehouse Lane, 
Huntingdon Road, Girton 

 
Negotiations 

 
S/0691/03/RM 

 
Erection of 150 Dwellings (Including 53 Affordable 
Dwellings), Land off Wellbrook Way, R/O Thornton 
Road and Thornton Way, Girton 

 
Revisions following 
November Committee 

 
S/0815/03/F 

 
Extension to Provide 100 Bedroom Hotel, 
Health/Fitness Centre and Additional Conference 
Facilities after Demolition of Existing Health and 
Squash Club Buildings, Forum Unit 24 Cambridge 
Science Park, Milton 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/829/03/F 

 
Erection of House and Garage and Store/Office 
Following Part Demolition of Existing Premises, 6 
Greenside, Waterbeach 

 
To be amended 

Page 110



 
S/1215/03/F 

 
Erection of 7 Houses (Including 2 Affordable 
Dwellings), Rectory Farm Site, Rectory Farm Road 
Little Wilbraham 

 
To be determined 

 
S/1559/03/F 

 
Erection of 57 Dwellings (Including 17 Affordable 
Dwellings, Land off Chivers Way (Accessed off Kay 
Hitch Way) Histon 

 
To be determined 

 
S/1616/03/F 

 
Change of Use of Land and Building to B1, B2 or B8 
Use, Duffields Site, Ely Road, Landbeach 

 
Awaiting traffic flow 
figures from applicants 

 
S/1627/03/F 

 
Erection of 3 Buildings to Form 6 Office Units [Class 
B1(s)] and Conversion of Existing Building into 3 
Office Units (Class B1(a), Chivers Way, Histon 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/1731/03/F 

 
Dwelling, Land Adj. 8 Winders Lane, Histon 

 
M/C 4/2/04 

 
S/1962/03/O 

 
Offices and Light Industrial Workshops (Renewal of 
Time Limited Permission S/2034/98/O), Wellbrook 
Way, Girton 

 
Negotiations on access 

 
S/2006/03/F 

 
Stable Block, Land R/O, Limes Farm House, 75 High 
Street, Landbeach 

Negotiating Re-siting 

 
S/2013/03/O 

 
House and Garage, Adj. 18 King Street, Rampton 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/2089/03/F 

 
9 Houses, 12 Pieces Lane, Waterbeach 

 
Awaiting revised plans 

 
 

(23 Applications compared with 27 in November) 
 

 
AREA 3 
 
 
S/0810/02/F 

 
2 Houses and Garages, D Doggett, Adjacent 28 
Cambridge Road, Oakington 

 
Awaiting Flood 
Risk Assessment 

 
S/1268/02/F 

 
Variation of Conditions 2 and 3 of Planning 
Permission S/0682/95/O in Relation to the Time Scale 
for the Submission of Reserved Matters and 
Commencement of Development, Persimmon Homes 
and P L Stroude, Land West of Longstanton 

 
Awaiting 
applicant’s response 
to legal opinion and 
Court of Appeal 
Judgement 

 
S/1400/02/F 
 

 
9 Affordable Dwellings, Hundred Housing Society, 
Rockery Farm, Bourn 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1430/02/F 
 

 
Residential Development, Mr Adams, Land R/O 16 
Willingham Road Over 

 
S.106 Agreement 

 
S/1431/02/F 
 

 
Residential Development, Mr Clifford, Land R/O 18 
Willingham Road Over 

 
S.106 Agreement 

 
S/1569/02/F 

 
Wind Turbine, Mrs W Ward, Rockery Farm, 
Broadway, Bourn 

 
Awaiting further 
information 

 
S/2040/02/O 

 
Residential Development, G Brasnett, 64 Water Lane, 
Oakington 

 
S106 Agreement 

Page 111



 
S/2302/02/O 

 
2 Bungalows, Willingham Combined Charity, Land 
adjacent & r/o 35-37 Church Street, Willingham 

 
February 
Committee 

 
S/2364/02/F 

 
Removal of Condition 3 of Planning Permission 
S/1745/02/F which restricts Number of Employees on 
site at any one time to no more than 10, Fembrae 
Estates and Overseas Ltd, Site Level Crossing, Station 
Road, Oakington 

 
Awaiting 
clarification of 
ownership 

 
S/0211/03/F 

 
7 Dwellings, Garaging and Bus Shelter, Hogger 
Homes Ltd, 1A Cambridge Road, Oakington 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/0787/03/F 

 
Conversion of Barns into Offices, Rebuilding of a 
Barn for Office and Erection of Childrens Day 
Nursery, Nationwise Ltd, Mill Farm, Swavesey 

 
Continuing 
discussions 

 
S/0934/03/F 

 
Six Dwellings, Wilson Connolly Anglia, Land Off 
Samian Close/West of East Drive, Highfields 
Caldecote 

 
Awaiting further 
info from applicant 

 
S/1098/03/F 

 
Dormer Extensions, Ms R Hashim, 27 Cambridge 
Road, Hardwick 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/1478/03/F 

 
Change of Use to Horse Livery and Erection of 
Stables, Menage, Car Park and Excavation of Pond, 
Land Rear of Mill Farm, Middlewatch, Swavesey 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1550/03/F 

 
Storage Building, Whitfield Group, The Grange, 
20Market Street, Swavesey 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/1598/03/RM 

 
Erection of 135 Dwellings (Phases 1 &2), South Park, 
Ermine Street South, Papworth Everard 

 
Awaiting further 
discussions 

 
S/1599/03/RM 

 
Erection of 55 Dwellings (Phases 1 & 2), South Park, 
Ermine Street South, Papworth Everard 

 
Consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1600/03/RM 

 
Landscaping of Proposed Residential Development, 
South Park, Ermine Street South, Papworth Everard 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1601/03/F 

 
Foul and Surface Water Sewers and Storm Water 
Attenuation Cells to Serve Proposed Residential 
Development at South Park, Land East of Ermine 
Street South, Papworth Everard 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans for 
consideration 

 
S/1603/03/F 

 
Cycleway Linking Papworth Business Park to North 
Lodge Road via Proposed Residential Development at 
South Park and Papworth Hospital, Land East of 
Ermine Street South, Papworth Everard 

 
Awaiting further 
information 

 
S/1653/03/F 

 
Provision of Lighting to Existing Car Park, Church 
Lane, Papworth Everard 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1686/03/F 

 
Extension Including Annexe, Coton Court, Coton 

 
Section 106 legal 
agreement 

Page 112



 
S/1895/03/O 

 
Erection of 7 Houses & 4 Flats, Land off Milner 
Road, Comberton 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans, signing of a 
Section 106 legal 
agreement and 
investigation of 
cycleway 

 
S/1960/03/RM 

 
Landscaping of Proposed Residential Development, 
Land West of Longstanton (Phase 1 – Home Farm), 
Longstanton 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1961/03/RM 

 
Landscaping of Proposed Residential Development 
(Duplicate Application), Land West of Longstanton 
(Phase 1 – Home Farm), Longstanton 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/1976/03/F 

 
Portable Coldstore (Retrospective Application), Unit 
6, Norman Way Industrial Estate, Norman Way, Over 

 
Discussions on 
acoustic report 

 
S/2084/03/RM 

 
Erection of 97 Dwellings, Ancillary Works, 
Landscaping and Landscaping of New Village Green, 
Land West of Longstanton (Phase 1 – Home Farm), 
Longstanton 

 
Held in abeyance 

 
S/2085/03/RM 

 
Landscaping of New Village Green, Land West of 
Longstanton (Phase 1 – Home Farm), Longstanton 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

 
S/2086/03/RM 

 
Landscaping of New Village Green (Duplicate 
Application), Land West of Longstanton (Phase 1 – 
Home Farm), Longstanton 

 
Awaiting 
consultations on 
amended plans 

S/2136/03/RM Structural Landscaping, Land West of Longstanton 
(Phase 1 – Home Farm), Longstanton 

Awaiting 
consultation 
responses 

(30 Applications compared with 25 in November) 
 
 
AREA 4 
 
 
S/2035/00/F 

 
16 Houses and Garages, PHA Project Management 
Ltd, Land off Long Lane, Rectory Lane, Fowlmere 

 
S.106 Agreement 

 
S/0141/01/F 

 
2 Houses, S Cross, Land R/O 32 Mill Street, (Off 
School Close) Gamlingay 

 
M/C February 

 
S/2193/01/F 

 
Agricultural Mobile Home and Access, I Quince, 
Land at Station Road, Gamlingay 

 
  Awaiting  
  consultation/ 
  consideration of 
  Environmental  

 
S/2194/01/F 

 
Erection of Egg Production Unit and Storage Building 
Together with Access, I Quince, Land at Station 
Road, Gamlingay 

  Impact  
  Assessment   
 

 
S/0828/02/LDC 

 
Use of Building for Joinery Workshop, J E A Rolfe, 
41 Station Road, Steeple Morden 

 
To be determined 

Page 113



 
S/1368/02LDC 

 
Use for Storage of Builders Materials and Electrical 
Goods, Dossett Bros, Former Telephone Exchange, 
Ermine Way, Arrington 

 
To be determined 
 

 
S/1543/02/F 

 
Erection of 20 Houses (Including 6 Affordable 
Dwellings) C Holland and Sons Ltd and Mr T Dash, 
Land off Whitecroft Road, (North of Chiswick End) 
Meldreth 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/1824/02/F 

 
Erection of 3 Dwellings Following Demolition of 
Existing Dwelling and Outbuildings, Mr and Mrs R 
Walker, 20 High Street, Shepreth 

 
Consideration of 
amendment 

 
S/1925/02/F 

 
Extension, R J Thorn & L J Thorn, 25 Everton Road, 
The Heath, Gamlingay 

 
Awaiting resolution 
of public footpath 

 
S/2397/02/F 

 
3 Dwellings and Garages, M Giles, Land r/o The 
Coach House, Church Street, Gamlingay 

 
To be withdrawn 
following 
determination of 
S/1638/03/F 

 
S/2465/02/F 

 
Boundary Fence, Mr & Mrs P Thwaites, Barton 
House, Barton 

 
Awaiting revised 
plans following 
consideration at 
May committee 

 
S/0020/03/F 

 
Change of Use of First Floor to Class B1 and Ground 
Floor to Class B8, C Onslow, Building at Grange 
Farm, Flint Cross, Melbourn 

 
Negotiations on 
highway issues 

 
S/0021/03/F 

 
Change of Use of First Floor and Part Ground Floor to 
Class B1(A), C Onslow, First Floor of Building at 
Grange Farm, Flint Cross, Melbourn 

 
Negotiations on 
highway issues 

 
S/0022/03/F 

 
Change of Use to Mixed B1 and B8 Use, C Onslow, 
Building at Grange Farm, Flint Cross. Melbourn 

 
Negotiations on 
highway issues 

 
S/0235/03/F 

 
Extension, Mr Abdullah, Whitehouse Care Home, 66 
Hay Street, Steeple Morden  

 
Awaiting further 
information form 
applicant 

 
S/0236/03/F 

 
Metal Fence Mr Abdullah, Whitehouse Care Home, 
66 Hay Street, Steeple Morden  

 
Awaiting further 
information form 
applicant 

 
S/0531/03/A 

 
Fascia Sign, A F Blakemore & Son Ltd, 41-43 High 
Street, Bassingbourn-cum-Kneesworth Bassingbourn 

 
Consultation on 
revised plans 

 
S/0553/03/A 

 
Retention of Non-Illuminated Sign, Mrs A R Cronk, 
Riparian House, 14 Harlton Road, Little Eversden  

 
Awaiting resolution 
of highway 
boundary 

 
S/0761/03/F 

 
Erection of 10 Houses and 1 Bungalow, Bedfordshire 
Pilgrims Housing Association, Jubilee Way, Steeple 
Morden 

 
Awaiting revised 
plans 

 
S/0811/03/F 

 
Change of Use of Land for Burial Ground, Croydon 
Parish Council, Land at Church Lane, Croydon 

 
Awaiting 
Environment 
Agency comments 

Page 114



 
S/0832/03/F 

 
Extension to Dwelling and Change of Use of Amenity 
Land to Garden Land Together with Pedestrian 
Access, Mrs S Plowman, Victoria House, 2 Waresley 
Road and Land Adjoining Gamlingay 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/0992/03/A 

 
Signs (Retrospective Application), Country Homes & 
Gardens, Royston Grden Centre, Dunsbridge 
Turnpike, Shepreth 

 
Negotiations with 
applicant 

 
S/1111/03/F 

 
Change of Use of Land to Public Open Space, 
Frogmore Properties Ltd, Land off Dolphin Lane, 
Melbourn 

 
Negotiation/Section 
106 Agreement 

 
S/1123/03/O 

 
5 Dwellings, Frogmore Properties Ltd, Land off 
Dolphin Lane, Melbourn 

 
Negotiation/ 
Section 106 
Agreement  

 
S/1176/03/F 

 
Agricultural Building, M Radford, Land off 
Comberton Road, Barton 

 
Awaiting further 
info.  
From applicant 

 
S/1192/03/F 

 
2 dwellings (renewal of Time Limited Permission 
S/0723/00/O), Mr & Mrs N Cathcart, Land between 
63 & 71 Spring Lane, Bassingbourn-cum-Kneesworth 

 
Awaiting resolution 
of affordable 
housing matters 

 
S/1199/03/LDC 

 
Continuation of Existing Use of dwelling Without 
Compliance with Agricultural Occupancy Condition 
and Use of Land for Garden and Paddock, T Belso, 
Gamlingay Vineyard, 18 Drove Road, Gamlingay 

 
To be determined 

 
S/1209/03/F 

 
Erection of Free Range Egg Production Building, 
(retrospective Application) Mrs L Titmus, Woodview 
Farm, Mill Hill, Potton Road, Gamlingay 

 
Awaiting further 
information from 
applicant 

 
S/1210/03/F 

 
Erection of Free Range Egg Production Building, Mrs 
L Titmus, Woodview Farm, Mill Hill, Potton Road, 
Gamlingay 

 
Awaiting further 
information from 
applicant 

 
S/1287/03/F 

 
Extension and Conversion of Barns into Dwellings, 
Steeple Morden 

 
To be determined 

 
S/1341/03/F 

 
Erection of 6 Dwellings, Extension and Conversion of 
School House into 3 Dwellings and Extension and 
Conversion of Sextons Cottage into 2 Affordable 
Dwellings Following Demolition of Existing 
Industrial Buildings, Parklans Homes Ltd, Oblic 
Engineering Site, Church Street, Litlington 

 
Amended plans 
subject of 
consultation 

 
S/1391/03/F 

 
Insertion of 3 Rooflights and Replacement of Shop 
Windows, M Kwok, 33 Church Street, Gamlingay 

 
To be determined 

 
S/1638/03/F 

 
Erection of 4 dwellings with Garaging Following 
Demolition of Existing Garage/Barn, Site R/O The 
Coach House, Church Street, Gamlingay 
 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/1676/03/O 

 
Retention of Existing House and Erection of 3 
Dwellings Following Demolition of Outbuildings, 
Lynch Villa, High Street, Fowlmere  

 
To be determined 

Page 115



 
S/1793/03/F 

 
Change of Use of Store Rooms and Part Garage to 
Self Contained Annexe, 43 High Street, Bassingbourn 

 
Awaiting revised 
plan 

 
S/1926/03/O 

 
8 Houses (Including 3 Affordable Dwellings), Land 
Adj. 13 Trap Road, Guilden Morden 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans 

 
S/1959/03/F 

 
Conversion of Barn into Dwelling and Erection of 
New Dwelling and Fence, Land off Chiswick End, 
Meldreth 

 
Awaiting 
consultation on 
amended plans 
 

 
S/1982/03/F 

 
Alteration and Conversion of Existing Barn into 
Annexe, Lacies Farm, 34 Coton Road, Grantchester 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/2056/03/F 

 
Extension and Conversion of Garage into Annexe, 
183 North End, Bassingbourn-cum-Kneesworth 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/2072/03/F 

 
Change of Use of Land to Garden Land and 
Conversion of Stables into Additional Bedroom 
Accommodation, Land Adj. Cornwall House, Stone 
Lane, Meldreth 

 
Section 106 
Agreement 

 
S/2111/03/F 

 
Boundary Wall, Railings and Gates, Charnock House, 
30 Church Street, Gamlingay 

 
To be determined  

S/2128/03/F Siting of 2 Portable Buildings for Playgroup and Pre-
School Together with Pedestrian Access, Land at 
Melbourn Primary School (Off Orchard Road), 
Melbourn 

Awaiting 
consultation on  
Amended plans 

(43 Applications compared with 38 in May) 
 
 
Cambourne 
 
 
S/6177/02/F 

 
Sports area, sports building and ancillary works, and 
parking, McA Developments Ltd, Land East of Monk 
Drive, Cambourne, In the Parish of Bourn  

 
March Committee 

 
S/6184/03/F 

 
23 Dwellings, “Hodginson’s Land” in the Parish of 
Bourn 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/6209/03/F 

 
12 Dwellings CRO4, Great Cambourne in the Parish 
of Bourn 

 
S106 Agreement 

 
S/6212/03/F 

 
Building W2, High Street, Cambourne in the Parish of 
Bourn 

 
February 
Committee 

 
(4 Applications compared with 9 in November)  
 
 
Conservation 
 
 
 
S/1267/03/CAC 

 
Total Demolition of Existing dwelling and Garage, 
Mr & Mrs A P Gardiner, 10 High Ditch Road, Fen 
Ditton 

 
Awaiting 
determination of 
planning 
application 
S/1268/03 

Page 116



 
S/1363/03/LB 

 
Internal and External Alterations, extensions and 
Conversion of Former Officers mess (Building 45) to 
Hotel Complex.  Total Demolition, resiting and 
reconstruction of Squash Court (Building 46), 
Pederson (Duxford) Ltd, Officers Mess Imperial War 
Museum Duxford in the Parish of Whittlesford 

 
Awaiting 
determination of 
planning 
application 
S/1268/03 

 
S/1466/03/LB 

 
Alterations – Extension for Conservatory/Breakfast 
Room, The Thatches, Rectory Lane, Kingston 

 
Refused at 
Chairman’s 
Delegation 
14/08/03 but 
decision notice not 
issued due to 
administrative error 

 
S/2024/03/LB 

 
Internal and External Alterations – Removal of 
Section of Walls to Create WC Between Bedrooms 1 
& 2.  Conversion of First Floor Study to Bedroom 5 
and New Ensuite Shower Room with 2 New 
Rooflights, Church Farm, Church Street, Great 
Eversden 

 
Awaiting amended 
plans from agent 

 
(4 Applications compared with 4 in November) 
The total number of applications on the list has increased from 135 (November) to 143 

 

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



                     SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL PLANNING APPEAL STATISTICS

From 1st October 2003 to 31st December 2003

Total number of appeals received 36

Written Representations 24
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 8

Local Inquiries 3
Written Representations 1

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 0
Local Inquiries 0

Total number of decisions received 25

Written Representations 13
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 7

Local Inquiries 1
Written Representations 0

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 3
Local Inquiries 1

Percentage of decisions received dismissed 80%

Written Representations 92%
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 71%

Local Inquiries 0%
Written Representations -

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 100%
Local Inquiries 0%

Percentage of decisions received allowed 20%

Written Representations 8%
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 29%

Local Inquiries 100%
Written Representations -

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 0%
Local Inquiries 100%

Total number of appeals withdrawn 1

Agenda Item 4dPage 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



                     SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL PLANNING APPEAL STATISTICS

From 1st January 2003 to 31st December 2003

Total number of appeals received 164

Written Representations 72
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 44

Local Inquiries 35
Written Representations 4

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 7
Local Inquiries 2

Total number of decisions received 114

Written Representations 69
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 27

Local Inquiries 3
Written Representations 9

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 4
Local Inquiries 2

Percentage of decisions received dismissed 75%

Written Representations 78%
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 74%

Local Inquiries 0%
Written Representations 78%

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 100%
Local Inquiries 0%

Percentage of decisions received allowed 25%

Written Representations 22%
Appeals against planning decisions and non-determination Informal Hearings 26%

Local Inquiries 100%
Written Representations 22%

Appeals against Enforcement Notices Informal Hearings 0%
Local Inquiries 100%

Total number of appeals withdrawn 23

Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



PERFORMANCE CRITERIA 
 
QUARTERLY STATISTICS 
 
In the third quarter of 2003 the number of applications received by South Cambridgeshire 
increased by 6% over the corresponding period in 2002.  In England there was a 5% increase.   
 
The percentage of all decisions taken within the eight week period in the District was 69% 
compared with 73% in England.  The equivalent figure for householder development was 84% 
compared with the national figure of 82%. 
 
The percentage of decisions delegated to officers in this quarter was 90%.  There is no 
equivalent national figure but in Cambridgeshire the average figure  
was 91%.  The Government has set a target of 90%.  

 
The new Government targets are included in the Statistical Release.  On the “excluding major 
and minor applications” where the Government target is 80% in eight weeks the Council 
achieved 77% whilst on the “minor” category where we are urged to decide 65% in eight 
weeks the Council achieved 48%.  The more difficult target is the Government’s 60% in 
thirteen weeks for major applications i.e. things like the Wellcome Trust or the Northern 
Fringe!  Here the Council achieved 21%.   

 
The graphs, which accompany this report, illustrate the picture in Cambridgeshire for each of 
these development types during the year ending 30th September 2003 and the quarter July to 
September 2003. 
 
RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS 
 
In response to a recommendation from Scrutiny Committee (17th April 2003), the number of 
retrospective applications are to be recorded. 
 
Thus in the third quarter of 2003, the number of retrospective applications submitted was 21.  
This represented 3.3% of all applications submitted during that quarter, a very similar 
proportion to the number submitted during the period 2000-2002 inclusive (3%). Of the 20 
retrospective applications which have been determined, 80% have been approved and 20% 
refused.  During the quarter 85% of all applications were approved. 
  
ENFORCEMENT STATISTICS (Quarter ending September 2003) 
 
Statistics for the previous quarter are in brackets. 
 
Enforcement Notices 1 (2)                       

Stop Notices 1 (0)                         

Planning Contravention Notices 0 (2)                    

Breach of Condition Notices 0 (0)                  

Amenity Notices 0 (1) 

Number of Complaints 111 (108) 

Prosecutions 2 (1) 

  

Agenda Item 4ePage 123



LANDSCAPING STATISTICS (Quarter ending September 2003) 
  
Statistics for the previous quarter are in brackets. 
  
Applications for work on Statutorily protected trees  
  
(Tree Preservation Orders and Conservation Areas) 
Number of applications   170  (103) 
  
Landscaping 
 
Number of landscaping conditions received from D.C.  81 (64) 
 
Number of weekly actions  669 (867) 
  
Number of schemes submitted  68 (93) 
    
Number of schemes finalised and approved  28 (31) 
 
Number of landscaping conditions currently active  958  (996) 
(excluding Cambourne work) 

 
Number of breach of condition notices served 0 (0) 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1986 
 
Background papers in respect of this report for the purposes of the above Act are available for 
inspections in accordance with the provision of that Act: 
 
 a) Any planning application, including plans and any accompanying letter or 

document from the applicant. 
 b) Any letter or representation received in connection with a matter reported. 
 c) Any Structure Plan, Local Plan or Policy Document referred to in a report. 
 d) Any agenda, report or minutes of a meeting of the Council referred to in a report. 
 e) Any other publication, document or report referred to in the report. 
 
Files on individual items on the agenda are available as required from the following 
individuals: 

 
Mr J Belcham (01223) 443252 
Mr A Moffat (01223) 443169 
Mr K Miles (01223) 443181 
Mr R Morgan (01223) 443165 
Mr D Rush (01223) 443153 
Mr P Sexton (01223) 443255 

 
   D B HUSSELL 

Development Services Director 

Page 124



M
aj

or
 D

ec
is

io
ns

, y
ea

r e
nd

in
g 

30
th

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
00

3
(G

ov
t t

ar
ge

t 6
0%

 w
ith

in
 1

3 
w

ee
ks

)

2
97

8

5
6

2
5

2
1

5
7

5
2

4
4

4
0

5
8

3
0

4
4

01020304050607080
Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 1

3 
w

ee
k

s
D

et
er

m
in

ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

Page 125



M
aj

or
 D

ec
is

io
ns

 fo
r Q

ua
rt

er
, J

ul
y 

-S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
3

(In
 E

ng
la

nd
 5

2%
 w

er
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 1
3 

w
ee

ks
)

2
12

9

8
3

6
0

0

5
7

1
4

0
0

2
1

1
4

0102030405060708090
Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 1

3 
w

ee
k

s
D

et
er

m
in

ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

No Figure Available

No Figure Available

Page 126



M
in

or
 D

ec
is

io
ns

, y
ea

r e
nd

in
g 

30
th

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
00

3
(G

ov
t t

ar
ge

t 6
5%

 w
ith

in
 8

 w
ee

ks
)

4
82

8
1

5
9

3
7

3

5
27

5
9

6
1

5
8

2

6
8

3
8

4

4
7

5
7

6

0

10
0

20
0

30
0

40
0

50
0

60
0

70
0

80
0

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 8

 w
ee

k
s

D
et

er
m

in
ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

Page 127



M
in

or
 D

ec
is

io
ns

 fo
r Q

ua
rt

er
, J

ul
y 

-S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
3

(In
 E

ng
la

nd
 6

2%
 w

er
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

)

4
79

1

6
1

9
6

5
62

1
2

6
5

1
5

1

6
3

9
7

4
8

1
4

1

05010
0

15
0

20
0

25
0

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 8

 w
ee

k
s

D
et

er
m

in
ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

Page 128



O
th

er
 D

ec
is

io
ns

, y
ea

r e
nd

in
g 

30
th

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
00

3
(G

ov
t t

ar
ge

t 8
0%

 w
ith

in
 8

 w
ee

ks
)

7
29

5
0

8
37

5
7

7
2

6
2

7

8
61

6
9

7

8
61

0
7

7

7
61

8
0

0

0

20
0

40
0

60
0

80
0

10
00

12
00

14
00

16
00

18
00

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 8

 w
ee

k
s

D
et

er
m

in
ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

Page 129



O
th

er
 D

ec
is

io
ns

 fo
r Q

ua
rt

er
, J

ul
y 

-S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
3

(In
 E

ng
la

nd
 7

8%
 w

er
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

)

6
93

1
4

8
8

2
1

3

6
91

6
1

8
9

4
8

7

7
8

3
0

1

7
7

4
7

4

05010
0

15
0

20
0

25
0

30
0

35
0

40
0

45
0

50
0

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

u
th

or
it

y

%
 w

it
h

in
 8

 w
ee

k
s

D
et

er
m

in
ed

Pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 b

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
yp

e 
an

d 
sp

ee
d 

of
 e

va
lu

at
io

n.

Page 130



Pl
an

ni
ng

 D
ec

is
io

ns
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

in
g 

30
th

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
00

3
En

gl
an

d 
–

67
%

 w
ith

in
 8

 w
ee

ks

13
09

11
55

14
43

23
23

15
19

24
20

0

50
0

10
00

15
00

20
00

25
00

Total Decisions

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

ri
ty

63

87

74

88

59

83
79

85
79

86

68

84

0102030405060708090

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

ri
ty

%
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

%
 g

ra
nt

ed

Page 131



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



478
514

618

614

459

571

605

598

504

585

647

599

515

530

746

629

0 200 400 600 800

Total Decisions

Dec-99

Mar-00

Jun-00

Sep-00

Dec-00

Mar-01

Jun-01

Sep-01

Dec-01

Mar-02

Jun-02

Sep-02

Dec-02

Mar-03

Jun-03

Sep-03

Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 P

er
io

d 
En

di
ng

:

73
76

70

78

75

72

78

71

79

71

79

72

65

66

72

69

0 20 40 60 80

Percentage %

Dec-99

Mar-00

Jun-00

Sep-00

Dec-00

Mar-01

Jun-01

Sep-01

Dec-01

Mar-02

Jun-02

Sep-02

Dec-02

Mar-03

Jun-03

Sep-03

Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 P

er
io

d 
En

di
ng

:

Total Decisions
issued Quarterly
by South Cambs

% of all
Applications
Determined
Within 8 Weeks

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



Pl
an

ni
ng

 D
ec

is
io

ns
 fo

r Q
ua

rt
er

 J
ul

y 
-S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

3

43
4

31
5

38
9

65
2

40
7

62
9

0

10
0

20
0

30
0

40
0

50
0

60
0

70
0

Total Decisions

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

Lo
ca

l A
ut

ho
ri

ty

60

87

79

88

59

81
82

86

72

89

69

85

0
0

72

84

73

84

0102030405060708090

Percentage %

Cambridge

East Cambs

Fenland

Huntingdon

Peterborough

South Cambs

Eastern Region

England

L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

ri
ty

%
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

%
 g

ra
nt

ed

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
  
REPORT TO Development Control and Conservation 

Committee 
4th February 2004

AUTHOR/S: Director of Development Services 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

CAMBOURNE SECTION 106 AGREEMENT:  
FACILITIES AND TIMING OF PROVISION 

 
Purpose 
 

1. The last meeting of this Committee received a reports on the lack of provision of 
certain facilities required to be provided at Cambourne as a result of the Section 106 
Agreement dated 20th April 1994.  It agreed that the Council’s stance should be that 
no further planning permissions for market housing should be granted at Cambourne 
until the Community Centre, Multi-Use games Area (MUGA) and Burial ground have 
been provided.  A monthly update on progress was required.  This report therefore 
updates Members on the progress of the provision of these facilities, as well as 
updating Members on the progress of other facilities that should have been provided 
by now but are not part of the Council’s stance. 
 
Background 
 

2. There are now 1168 houses occupied at Cambourne.  To recap, the “missing” 
facilities that should have been provided by the trigger point of 1,000 houses occupied 
are: 

 
a) Community Centre (required by S106 at 1000 houses) 
b) Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) comprising part Astroturf and part hard 

surface playing courts (required by S106 at 1000 houses) 
c) Burial Ground (required by S106 at 1000 houses) 
d) Parish Council funding (required by S106 at 1000 houses) 
e) Playing fields (required by the S106 to be provided in phases throughout the 

development). 
f) Skateboard area and other teenage play equipment to include basketball net 

(required by Cambourne Play Strategy at 1000 houses) 
g) Cricket Pavilion (required by the S106 to be phased in accordance with the 

Masterplan and by planning permission for Lower Cambourne Village Green 
at 450 homes in Lower Cambourne respectively)  

h) Allotments (required by the S106 to be provided by phased provision 
throughout the development) 

i) Lower Cambourne Village Green cricket pitch, recycling area (required by 
planning permission for Lower Cambourne Village Green at 31/3/02 and 100 
homes in Lower Cambourne respectively) 

j) Trailer park (required by S106 at 300 houses) 
 
3. The progress (as at 20th January 2003) with each of the facilities has not changed 

significantly on the ground since the last meeting, although none was expected at this 

Agenda Item 5aPage 137



stage.  Any update or comment from the developers will be reported verbally.  Some 
of the facilities are awaiting the submission of information under planning conditions 
before they can commence, and these are briefly described below: 

 
a) Community Centre.  The developers hope to start on site in February, with an 

anticipated completion date of October 2004.  Conditions outstanding prior to 
commencement are condition 1 – landscaping scheme;  condition 2 – 
materials;  condition 3 – signage, seating, hard surfacing;  condition 8 – 
ecological enhancement;  condition 13 – cycle store and bin store. 

b) Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA).  An application was received on 12th 
December, and a report is contained elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting.  
The developers hope to commence work in February with a completion date of 
Easter. 

c) Burial Ground.  Planning permission was granted on 2nd December. The 
developers hope to commence on site in February, with completion May/June 
2004.  Conditions outstanding prior to commencement are condition 1 – 
amended landscaping scheme; and condition 7 – drainage scheme. 

d) Parish Council.  It has been agreed between the Council and the Developers 
that the creation of the Parish depends on the progress of the draft Order by 
the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, after which a Parish council will be 
elected.  This is being progressed towards the elections on 10th June 2004.   

e) Playing fields.  Planning permission was granted on 10th December.  The 
developers hope to make the playing fields ready for use by May/June 2004.   

f) Skateboard and play area.  A separate application was submitted on 4th 
December, and meetings have already taken place between the developers and 
final users about the design of the actual equipment.  This is likely to result in 
amended plans being submitted.  The developers hope to start on site in 
February 2004, for completion by July (school summer holidays).  

g) Cricket Pavilion.  An application has now been received complete and has 
been registered.  It is currently out to consultation.  The developers hope to 
start on site in April/May 2004. 

h) Allotments.  The developers hoped to start on site in January, for completion 
in October.  One condition requires a submission prior to commencement, 
namely outline condition 19 – noise protection scheme within 100m of 
occupied properties 

i) Cricket pitch and recycling area at Lower Cambourne Village Green.  The 
cricket pitch has been provided but has not been built to the Council’s 
satisfaction and remedial works are being discussed between SCDC and the 
developers.  The recycling area is the subject of discussion in terms of 
providing the bottle banks, etc.   

j) Trailer park.  Planning permission was granted for it in June 2003.  The access 
is via an adjacent housing site which is awaiting planning permission (Section 
106 agreement still awaited at the time of writing). The planning permission 
will be subject to a condition that the houses shall not be occupied until the 
trailer park is provided, ensuring an incentive for the developers to provide it.  
However, there is an existing access which is allowed to be used temporarily 
and officers are pursuing a commitment to a date for the trailer park’s 
provision on the basis of the temporary use of that access.  Meanwhile, several 
conditions are still outstanding prior to commencement: condition 2 – detailed 
layout;  condition 3 – lighting;  condition 4 – boundary treatment;  condition 5 

Page 138



– water/electricity/drainage;  condition 7 – management regime;  condition 10 
– access timing.  

 
Considerations 
 

4. The Council’s stance against granting any more market housing permissions until the 
Community Centre, MUGA and Burial Ground have been provided should remain in 
force, for the time being.  Insufficient progress has been made to demonstrate a 
speedy resolution to the outstanding facilities. 

 
5. Financial Implications 

 
Not granting planning permission for market housing until these facilities have been 
provided will be very likely to result in developers appealing against non-
determination once the eight weeks for determining each application expires.  
Nevertheless, at present there are no such applications apart from High Street 
Building W2, reported elsewhere on this meeting’s agenda, and in that case it is 
considered more appropriate to make an exception in favour of getting the shops in 
that building provided, as they are a community “facility” in themselves.  
Additionally, that building will take an unusually long time to building due to the 
inclusion of basement parking, so that the facilities will have been provided by the 
time the flats are ready to occupy.  In other cases, the developers may apply for costs 
at appeal, which they would win if the Inspector considers that the Council has been 
unreasonable in withholding permission, which is a risk the Council takes.    

 
6.  Legal Implications 

 
In the unlikely event of developers not progressing positively with the works, there 
are, as always, both financial and legal implications of taking the developers to court. 

 
7. Staffing Implications 

 
Officers will continue to negotiate future housing schemes on the basis that, once the 
facilities have been provided, planning permissions can be issued when ready, thereby 
continuing to spread the workload over time. 

 
8. Sustainability Implications 

 
Provision of these facilities is important for community sustainability. 
 

9. Conclusions/Summary 
 
At the time of this Committee meeting, it is unlikely that any work will be seen on the 
ground to reinforce the developers’ promises and intentions.  It is considered 
premature to revoke that stance without evidence that the outstanding matters have 
been resolved.  It would be more appropriate to continue to report back to future 
monthly meetings with information as to any more progress on site, thereby upholding 
the sense of urgency required of the developers.   
 

10. Recommendations 

Page 139



 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
Members agree the Council’s stance for time being, and receive an update on progress 
at the next meeting. 
 
 

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report: 
 
Cambourne Section 106 Agreement dated 20th April 1994 
Cambourne Play Strategy December 2000, approved under conditions of the outline planning 
permission dated 20th April 1994, reference S/1371/92/O 

 
Contact Officer: Kate Wood, New Village / Special Projects Officer, Telephone: (01223) 
443264. 
 

Page 140



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
  
REPORT TO Development Control and Conservation 

Committee 
4th February 2004

AUTHOR/S: Director of Development Services 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

CAMBOURNE DEVELOPMENT: REVIEW OF THE DESIGN AND 
ENVIRONMENT GROUP (DEG)   

 
Purpose 
 

1. This report reviews the current effectiveness of the Cambourne Design and 
Environment Group, and recommends appropriate changes to the way pre-application 
discussions take place. 
 
Background 
 

2. The Design and Environment Group (DEG) was established following a meeting of 
the Planning Committee on 24th April 1996 to consider the Cambourne Masterplan 
and Design Guide. The DEG resulted from the amalgamation of a Design Steering 
Group and an Environment Committee that had been proposed through the 
Masterplan and Design Guide.  The purpose of the DEG was, and is, to oversee the 
implementation of the Masterplan and Design Guide.  In practice this means that the 
group receives draft proposals and compares them with the documents that set the 
standards including Masterplan, design guide, highway design guide, play strategy, 
area briefs; to identify any desirable changes to the proposals or the standards and 
make recommendations.  It is not a decision making group, but aims to speed up the 
planning process by bringing together a range of interested parties to iron out any 
problems, such that the planning application submitted as a result of the meeting 
should have smoother progress through the system and give greater certainty to the 
developer.  As well as development proposals, the group also considers and 
informally agrees the standards documents, in particular briefing plans for each phase 
of development, and updates to the Masterplan.  The interested parties that usually 
attend are the Council’s architectural consultant, landscape consultant, landscape 
officer and planners; the County highways officer; the developers’ project director, 
landscape, master planning and engineering consultants; and a representative of the 
Cambourne MLC (forerunner to a Parish Council).  The meeting is minuted by an 
officer of the Democratic Services Team.  

 
3. As the development of Cambourne has progressed, it has become apparent to SCDC 

Officers that the DEG has served its purpose, but now no longer works effectively.  It 
has become a barrier to the planning process by being too large, too formal and too 
bureaucratic.  Its members and users have lost sight of the remit and applicants have 
become confused into thinking that the DEG is part of the formal planning process 
and have assumed that the majority views taken at the DEG would be the outcome of 
the planning application.   Many of the members and regular applicants have stated 
anecdotally that the meeting wastes time in terms of what it actually achieves.  The 
Council has been criticised for agreeing standards documents at the DEG (especially 

Agenda Item 5bPage 141



briefing plans where density issues are included), without wider consultation. 
Additionally, as we have now got to the stage of having approved half the housing 
and significant proportions of business and infrastructure proposals, relationships 
between parties have been developed to the extent where the DEG can satisfactorily 
be replaced by other means. 

 
4. The good points about the DEG are that changes can be made to draft layouts and any 

knock-on effects dealt with immediately.  For example, if it is stated at the meeting 
that an additional turning head is required in a road, requiring a house to be moved 
closer to a boundary, the impact on landscaping can be addressed at the same time.  
However, too much reliance is placed on the meeting to obtain specialist advice, 
rather than address such issues earlier in the pre-application process.  Some schemes 
are also rushed in order to meet the deadline for the meeting, rather than being 
discussed when ready.  It is considered that a change in the pre-application process 
could keep the good aspects of communication whilst removing the delays and time 
wasted. 

 
Considerations 

 
5. A new pre-application protocol is suggested below, which will give all parties a more 

efficient and effective input at the right time and give clear guidance to applicants as 
to what they should expect to do before making a planning application.  It ensures that 
specialist advice is sought early, and that the MLC planning sub-committee, which is 
consulted as a Parish Council anyway, is helped with understanding the planning 
considerations when necessary.  It also formalises the approval process for the 
standards documents, by ensuring better consultation and the formal approval of the 
Development and Conservation Control Committee. 

 
6. Instead of the DEG, officers will: 
 

- Strongly encourage all applicants and developers to partake in pre-
application discussions and discussions on master planning / 
standards issues; 

- Ensure early participation of the landscape, ecology, housing and 
County highways officers in pre-application discussions; 

- Ensure that committee reports of planning applications include a 
paragraph on compliance or otherwise with the Cambourne 
Masterplan and Design Guide as part of the planning considerations; 

- Consult the MLC, statutory consultees and interested parties on 
briefing plans, strategies, amendments to the Masterplan, etc. as 
submitted for approval by the consortium, and report to the 
Development Control and Conservation Committee for formal 
approval; 

- Attend MLC planning sub-committees when necessary to assist in 
the interpretation of plans, planning considerations, etc. 

 
7. The DEG considered this report at its meeting on 23rd January 2004 and any 

comments, recommendations or representations arising therefrom will be reported 
verbally. 

 

Page 142



 Financial and Staffing Implications 
 
8. There would be no need for pre-application discussions to be formally minuted, 

thereby freeing the time of the democratic services officer.  Planning and landscape 
officers’ time would be better used. 

 
 Legal Implications 

 
9. None 
 

Sustainability Implications 
 

10. None. 
 
Conclusions/Summary 
 

11. The DEG has been a useful tool in progressing the development of Cambourne in its 
early days.  Now that the processes and relationships have been established, it has 
outgrown its useful life and has become more of a negative influence.  It should 
therefore be replaced with a different procedure to ensure the continued efficiency and 
effectiveness of the progress of development. 

 
Recommendations 
 

12. Disband the Cambourne DEG in favour of standard pre-application discussions, 
including the protocol set out in paragraph 6 above. 
 

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  none. 

 
Contact Officer: Kate Wood, New Village / Special Projects Officer, Telephone: (01223) 
443264. 
 

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
  
REPORT TO: Development and Conservation Control 

Committee  
4TH February 2004 

AUTHOR/S: Finance and Resources Director 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS – PROPOSED 
CONFIRMATIONS IN GIRTON, BASSINGBOURN AND 

WILLINGHAM 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To remind Members about the following Tree Preservation Orders and determine 

whether or not they should be confirmed.  Plans are attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Effect on Corporate Objectives and Annual Priorities 
 
2. The aim of Tree Preservation Orders is to ensure a sustainable future for South 

Cambridgeshire, and to help implement the Council’s commitment to the climate 
change agenda. 

 
Background 

 
3. Once made, Tree Preservation Orders remain in force for a provisional period of six 

months, but can be confirmed at any time.  Details of the three Orders in Girton, 
Bassingbourn and Willingham are set out below. 

 
• 40/03/SC – 5 Cambridge Road, Girton 

 
Tree Preservation Order 40/03/SC was made on 20th August 2003.  

 
The Council made the Order at the request of the owners  because the lime tree is 
considered important as a road frontage tree, skyline tree and as part of the local street 
scene.  The contribution of this tree is also seen as significant in terms of its wider 
impact as part of the general treed character of the village and Parish of Girton 
 
The statutory period for the registering of objections to the Order ended on 26th 
September 2003.    
 
• 41/03/SC – 131 The Causeway, Bassingbourn 

 
Tree Preservation Order 41/03/SC was made on 20th August 2003. 

 
The Council made the Order because the cedar tree is visually important to the street 
scene and skyline for this part of the village.  The area is being considered for 
development so there may be future pressure to remove the tree, which the Council 
considers would be undesirable. 
 

Agenda Item 6Page 145



 

The statutory period for the registering of objections to the Order ended on 26th 
September 2003.    
 
• 42/03/SC – 1 Priest Lane, Willingham 

 
Tree Preservation Order 42/03/SC was made on 22nd September 2003.  

 
The Council made the Tree Preservation Order because the Willow tree is considered 
important as a road frontage tree and as part of the local street scene, and makes an 
important contribution this part of the village. 
 
The statutory period for the registering of objections to the Order ended on 20th 
October 2003.    

 
Considerations 

 
4. There were no objections that would otherwise need to be considered prior to 

determining whether or not to confirm the Orders. 
 

Options 
 
5. Under the legislation, the Council can confirm a Tree Preservation Order,  confirm it 

subject to modification, or decide not to confirm it.   
 

Financial Implications 
 
6. There are no specific financial implications. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
7. There are no specific legal implications.  
 

Staffing Implications 
 
8. There are no specific staffing implications. 
 

Consultations 
 
9. A copy of this report has been sent to the local Members for Girton (Councillors EW 

Bullman and Mrs JM Healey), Bassingbourn (Councillors NN Cathcart and CJ 
Gravatt) and Willingham (Councillor LCA Manning).  Councillor Mrs Healey 
strongly supports the Tree Preservation Order in Girton.  Councillor Manning has no 
objections to the confirmation of the Order in Willingham. 

 
Conclusions/Summary 

 
10. TPO numbers 40/03/SC and 41/03/SC remain provisionally in force until 19th 

February 2004.  TPO 42/03/SC remains provisionally in force until 21st March 2004.  
By confirming them now, the Council will ensure that the Tree Preservation Orders 
remain in force beyond that date. 

Page 146



 

 
Recommendations 

 
11. It is recommended that Tree Preservation Orders 40/03/SC in Girton, 41/03/SC in 

Bassingbourn and 42/03/SC in Willingham be confirmed without modification. 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report: Tree Preservation Orders 40/03/SC, 41/03/SC and 42/03/SC,  and the relevant files 
maintained by the Trees and Landscape Department  
 
Contact Officer:  Ian Senior – Democratic Services Officer: Telephone: (01223) 443028 

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank


